

Sede amministrativa: Università degli Studi di Padova

Dipartimento di Matematica

SCUOLA DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN SCIENZE MATEMATICHE

INDIRIZZO MATEMATICA

CICLO XXVII

Shape sensitivity analysis of the eigenvalues of polyharmonic operators and elliptic systems

Direttore della Scuola: Ch.mo Prof. Pierpaolo Soravia Coordinatore d'indirizzo: Ch.mo Prof. Franco Cardin Supervisore: Ch.mo Prof. Pier Domenico Lamberti

Dottorando: Davide Buoso

A mia nonna Elide

Riassunto

In questa tesi, studiamo la dipendenza degli autovalori di operatori differenziali ellittici da perturbazioni del dominio nello spazio N-dimensionale. In particolare, proviamo risultati di analiticità degli autovalori di operatori poliarmonici e sistemi ellittici di equazioni alle derivate parziali del secondo ordine, e li applichiamo a problemi di ottimizzazione di forma; d'altro canto, otteniamo anche stime di stabilità spettrale per sistemi ellittici generali di equazioni alle derivate parziali di ordine superiore. Per dimostrare l'analiticità usiamo una tecnica generale sviluppata da Lamberti e Lanza de Cristoforis, e otteniamo delle formule alla Hadamard che ci permettono di fornire una caratterizzazione dei domini critici sotto il vincolo di volume. Per quanto riguarda le stime di stabilità degli autovalori, dimostriamo risultati di lipschitzianità rispetto alla distanza d'atlante, alla distanza di Hausdorff e alla misura di Lebesgue, adattando gli argomenti utilizzati da Burenkov e Lamberti per operatori ellittici al caso di sistemi ellittici generali di equazioni alle derivate parziali.

La tesi è organizzata come segue. Il Capitolo 1 è dedicato ad alcuni preliminari. Nel Capitolo 2 consideriamo l'operatore biarmonico con diverse condizioni al contorno, ovvero di Dirichlet, di Neumann, intermedie e di Steklov. Per tutti questi casi mostriamo la dipendenza analitica degli autovalori dal dominio e calcoliamo formule alla Hadamard, che vengono usate per formire una caratterizzazione dei domini critici per le funzioni elementari simmetriche degli autovalori sotto il vincolo di volume; a seguire proviamo che le palle sono domini critici per tali funzioni degli autovalori di tutti questi problemi sotto il vincolo di volume. Riguardo al problema di Steklov, mostriamo anche che la palla è un massimizzatore del tono fondamentale tra tutti gli aperti limitati di misura fissata. Nel Capitolo 3 consideriamo il problema agli autovalori con condizioni di Dirichlet per gli operatori poliarmonici. Come nel Capitolo 2, dimostriamo l'analiticità delle funzioni elementari simmetriche degli autovalori fornendo formule alla Hadamard, e diamo una caratterizzazione dei domini critici sotto il vincolo di volume; a seguire mostriamo che per tutti gli operatori poliarmonici la palla è un dominio critico. Il Capitolo 4 è dedicato alle stime di stabilità degli autovalori dei sistemi ellittici di equazioni alle derivate parziali con condizioni al bordo di Dirichlet e di Neumann. Adattando gli argomenti usati da Burenkov e Lamberti per operatori ellittici siamo in grado di provare stime con la distanza d'atlante, con la deviazione inferiore di Hausdorff-Pompeiu e con la misura di Lebesgue. Nel Capitolo 5 dimostriamo analiticità, formule alla Hadamard e condizioni di criticità per sistemi ellittici del secondo ordine con condizioni al bordo di Dirichlet e di Neumann. Mostriamo anche che, se il sistema è invariante per rotazioni, allora le palle sono domini critici sotto il vincolo di volume. Infine, nel Capitolo 6 consideriamo il problema di Reissner-Mindlin per la vibrazione di una piastra incastrata. Prima dimostriamo stime simili a quelle del Capitolo 4, che non dipendono dallo spessore della piastra; poi dimostriamo l'analiticità e formule alla Hadamard per le funzioni elementari simmetriche degli autovalori, che vengono usate per fornire una caratterizzazione di criticità; a seguire, dopo aver provato che il sistema di Reissner-Mindlin è invariante per rotazioni, mostriamo che le palle sono domini critici sotto il vincolo di volume.

Abstract

In this thesis, we study the dependence of the eigenvalues of elliptic partial differential operators upon domain perturbations in the N-dimensional space. Namely, we prove analyticity results for the eigenvalues of polyharmonic operators and elliptic systems of second order partial differential equations, and we apply them to certain shape optimization problems. On the other hand, we also prove spectral stability estimates for general elliptic systems of partial differential equations of higher order. In order to prove analyticity, we use a general technique developed by Lamberti and Lanza de Cristoforis, and we obtain Hadamard-type formulas which are used to provide a characterization of critical domains under volume constraint. As for stability estimates of the eigenvalues, we prove indeed Lipschitz continuity results with respect to the atlas distance, the Hausdorff distance and the Lebesgue measure. We adapt the arguments used by Burenkov and Lamberti for elliptic operators to the case of general elliptic systems of partial differential equations.

The thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 1 is dedicated to some preliminaries. In Chapter 2 we consider the biharmonic operator under different boundary conditions, namely Dirichlet, Neumann, intermediate and Steklov. For all these cases we show analytic dependence of the eigenvalues upon the domain and compute Hadamard-type formulas, which will be used to provide a characterization of critical domains for the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues under volume constraint. Then we prove that balls are critical domains for such functions of the eigenvalues of all these problems under volume constraint. Regarding the Steklov problem, we also prove that the ball is a maximizer of the fundamental tone among all bounded open sets of given measure. In Chapter 3 we consider the Dirichlet eigenvalue problem for general polyharmonic operators. As in Chapter 2, we prove analyticity of the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues providing Hadamard-type formulas, and we give a characterization of critical domains under volume constraint. Then we show that for all the polyharmonic operators the ball is a critical domain. Chapter 4 is devoted to the stability estimates of the eigenvalues of elliptic systems of partial differential equations with Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. Adapting the arguments used by Burenkov and Lamberti for elliptic operators, we can prove estimates via the atlas distance, the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation and the Lebesgue measure. In Chapter 5 we prove analyticity, Hadamard-type formulas and criticality conditions for second order elliptic systems under Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. We also show that, if the system is rotation invariant, then balls are critical domains under volume constraint. Finally, in Chapter 6 we consider the Reissner-Mindlin problem for the vibration of a clamped plate. We first prove estimates similar to those of Chapter 4, which are independent of the thickness of the plate. Then we prove analyticity and Hadamard-type formulas for the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues, which are used to provide a characterization of criticality. Then, after proving that the Reissner-Mindlin system is rotation invariant, we show that balls are critical domains under volume constraint.

Introduction

The study of polyharmonic operators started long ago. It was already known at the beginning of the nineteenth century that the study of the bending of a clamped plate leads to the following problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = f, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ represents the midplane of the plate, and f represents the applied load (see e.g., [74, §223] for historical information). Problem (1) clearly resembles the well known Poisson problem for the Laplace operator

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = f, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

which is instead related to the study of the deformation of a fixed membrane of shape $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. The similarity between these two problems naturally leads to the study of more general equations involving the polyharmonic operators $(-\Delta)^n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ under different types of boundary conditions. After the innovative papers of Almansi [10, 11] and the book of Nicolesco [71], the interest for polyharmonic operators has developed, so that several papers and books on the subject appeared. Among the most relevant works of the last decades on polyharmonic operators, we mention the partial solution of the celebrated Rayleigh's conjecture for the clamped plate [12, 70], and a book [51] devoted to an extensive study of boundary value problems for such operators.

In this thesis we are mainly interested in eigenvalue problems, which in the case of the biharmonic operator subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2)

We also consider the eigenvalue problem for the biharmonic operator with other boundary conditions, such as Neumann boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} = \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial \nu} + \operatorname{div}_{\partial \Omega}(\nu \cdot D^2 u) = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3)

and intermediate boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(4)

We remark that problems (2), (3), and (4) are related to the study of the vibrations of an elastic plate which is clamped, free, and hinged, respectively.

As for higher order operators, we consider the following eigenvalue problem

$$\begin{cases} (-\Delta)^n u = \lambda (-\Delta)^m u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = \dots = \frac{\partial^{n-1} u}{\partial \nu^{n-1}} = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5)

for any n, m non-negative integers with n > m. We observe that, for n = 1, m = 0, problem (5) gives the Helmholtz problem, i.e., the eigenvalue problem for the Dirichlet Laplacian, while for n = 2, m = 0 it gives problem (1). Moreover, for n = 2, m = 1, problem (5) gives the well known buckling problem for the plate.

We note that, in the case of a clamped plate, problem (2) arises within the so-called Kirchhoff-Love model. If we consider instead the Reissner-Mindlin model, we get the following system of partial differential equations

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\mu_1}{12}\Delta\beta - \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12}\nabla \operatorname{div}\beta - \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}(\nabla w - \beta) = \frac{\lambda t^2}{12}\beta, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ -\frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}(\Delta w - \operatorname{div}\beta) = \lambda w, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \beta = 0, \quad w = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(6)

where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ represents the midplane of the plate, and t is the thickness. Here w is the transverse displacement of the midplane, $\beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2)$ the fiber rotation, λt^2 the vibration frequency, μ_1 and μ_2 are the Lamé constants and k > 0 is a correction factor. This problem has been studied as an alternative to problem (2) because it is of the second order, and therefore easier to treat numerically using finite element methods (see e.g., [20]). However, as pointed out for instance in [21], when the parameter t is very small the finite element method leads to poor results, and this is known as shear locking phenomenon.

We also remark that problems (2) and (6) are strictly related. In fact, as is proved in [47], we have that the eigenvalues $\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega]$ of (6) converge to

the eigenvalues $\lambda_{n,0}[\Omega]$ of problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{2\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \Delta^2 w = \lambda w, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ w = \nabla w = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(7)

as $t \to 0$.

Problem (6) motivates our interest to even more general eigenvalue problems for systems of partial differential equations of the type

$$\sum_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le l} \sum_{i=1}^m (-1)^{|\beta|} D^{\beta}(A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} D^{\alpha} u_i) = \lambda u_j, \ j = 1, \dots, m,$$

subject to Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions.

In this thesis, we study the dependence of the eigenvalues of elliptic partial differential operators upon domain perturbations in the N-dimensional space, with special attention to the above mentioned eigenvalue problems. The study of domain perturbation problems for partial differential operators represents a vast area of investigation which provides a large variety of results. One of the fundamental problems concerns the study of the qualitative behavior of the eigenvalues when the domain is perturbed and the corresponding results give information such as continuity, differentiability and even analyticity. This problem is also closely related to shape optimization problems where typically one has to identify the shape of the domain which minimizes or maximizes certain functionals of the eigenvalues when the domain is subject to suitable constraints, such as volume or perimeter constraint. Another important problem concerns the quantitative analysis of the variation of the eigenvalues, aiming at estimates for the deviation of the eigenvalues expressed in terms of certain measures of vicinity of sets, such as the Hausdorff distance. We refer to the extensive monographs [13, 23, 55, 56, 59, 75, 76] and to the survey papers [40, 54] for an introduction to this subject. We also refer to the recent works [2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 42, 43, 63, 64, 68] for qualitative results on domain perturbation problems, and to [7, 14, 15, 16, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 41, 65, 66] for quantitative estimates.

In this thesis, we face both problems. Namely, we prove analyticity results for the dependence of the eigenvalues of polyharmonic operators and elliptic systems of second order partial differential equations, and we apply them to certain shape optimization problems. On the other hand, we also prove spectral stability estimates for general elliptic systems of partial differential equations of higher order.

In order to prove analyticity, we use the general technique developed by Lamberti and Lanza de Cristoforis in [64] for compact selfadjoint operators in Hilbert space. We remark that in general one cannot expect to prove analytic dependence of the eigenvalues themselves upon the domain, when the eigenvalues are not simple. This is due to well known bifurcation phenomena of eigenvalues splitting from a multiple eigenvalue. Note that this is not in contrast with either the continuity results of e.g., [38], or the celebrated Rellich-Nagy Theorem [75, Theorem 1] which deals with families of operators parametrized by one real variable. Hence, in order to avoid such a situation, in the case of multiple eigenvalues we consider the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues. The use of these functions has the effect of bypassing the splitting phenomenon, in fact we can prove that they are real analytic. Then we compute the shape derivatives, getting Hadamard-type formulas for the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues. Note that such formulas were already obtained by Lamberti and Lanza de Cristoforis for the Dirichlet Laplacian in [64], and for the Neumann Laplacian in [68].

Then we address the problem of isovolumetric perturbation. This is related to the problem of shape optimization for the eigenvalues under volume constraint, in the spirit of Rayleigh's conjecture. We recall that Lord Rayleigh in [74] formulated the conjecture that, among all open sets of finite fixed area, the ball is the minimizer of the fundamental tones of the fixed membrane and of the clamped plate, i.e.,

$$\lambda_1(B) \le \lambda_1(\Omega),\tag{8}$$

where B is a ball having the same measure of Ω and λ_1 is the lowest positive eigenvalue of the Laplace operator and of the biharmonic operator respectively, with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Inequality (8) for the Dirichlet Laplacian in \mathbb{R}^N with $N \geq 2$ has been proved by Faber [48] and Krahn [60] via Schwartz rearrangement techniques in the twenties of the last century, while the analogue for problem (2) has shown to be a much more difficult task. In fact, it has been proved only twenty years ago by Nadirashvili [70] and Ashbaugh and Benguria [12], and only up to three dimensions, the general case remaining an open problem (see also [78]).

Regarding the Laplace operator, there is a number of results available in the literature showing that the ball is an extremizer, i.e., either a minimizer (for Dirichlet and Robin boundary conditions) or a maximizer (for Neumann and Steklov boundary conditions) of the first positive eigenvalue (we refer to [55] for an extensive discussion of the subject). In particular, those results show that the ball is a critical domain under volume constraint for the fundamental tone. Using Lagrange Multipliers Theorem and our Hadamard-type formulas, we provide a characterization of critical domains, which is valid for any elementary symmetric function of the eigenvalues. Then we show that, for polyharmonic operators and other rotation invariant operators, the ball is a critical domain for all the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues under volume constraint. Note that our criticality result does not say whether the ball is an extremizer or not, since criticality is a more general property. However, if we consider the following Steklov-type problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \\ \tau \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} - \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial \nu} - \operatorname{div}_{\partial \Omega} (\nu \cdot D^2 u)_{\partial \Omega} = \lambda u, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(9)

we can actually prove that the ball is a maximizer of the first positive eigenvalue among all bounded open sets of given volume, for any constant $\tau > 0$. We do it by following the approach of [79] (see also [22]). Note that problem (9) arises in the study of the vibrations of a free plate whose mass is concentrated at the boundary, and therefore is a natural generalization to the biharmonic operator of the classical Steklov problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = \lambda u, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

which is related to the study of the vibrations of a free membrane whose mass is concentrated at the boundary (see [77] for the physical derivation of the problem). The results concerning problem (9) have been obtained in collaboration with Luigi Provenzano (see also [31, 32, 73]). Note that problem (9) should not be confused with another important Steklov-type problem already discussed in the literature, namely

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ \Delta u = \lambda \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(10)

which has a rather different nature. In fact, for the first postitive eigenvalue of problem (10) the minimization is the interesting problem (rather than maximization), and explicit examples show that, surprisingly, the ball is not a minimizer (see e.g., [24, 25] and the references therein).

As for stability estimates of the eigenvalues, we prove indeed Lipschitz continuity results with respect to the atlas distance, the Hausdorff distance and the Lebesgue measure. We adapt the arguments used by Burenkov and Lamberti for elliptic operators (see [38, 39]) to the case of general elliptic systems of partial differential equations. Then we consider the special case of the Reissner-Mindlin eigenvalue system (6). Note that, as the parameter t goes to zero, the coefficients of the problem diverge, possibly spoiling stability estimates for small values of t. This can be explained with the above mentioned shear locking phenomenon. However, we know that the eigenvalues of problem (6) converge to those of problem (7) as $t \to 0$, for which we already have stability estimates. Nevertheless, using a particular pull-back operator we can prove stability estimates for the eigenvalues of problem (6) which are indepentent of t.

The thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 1 is dedicated to some preliminaries. In Chapter 2 we consider the biharmonic operator under different boundary conditions, namely Dirichlet, Neumann, intermediate and Steklov. For all these cases we show analyticity results in the spirit of [64] and compute Hadamard-type formulas, which will be used to provide a characterization of critical domains for the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues under volume constraint. Then we prove that balls are critical domains for such functions of the eigenvalues of all these problems under volume constraint. Regarding the Steklov problem (9), we also prove that the ball is a maximizer of the fundamental tone among all bounded open sets of given measure. In Chapter 3 we consider the Dirichlet eigenvalue problem for general polyharmonic operators. As in Chapter 2, we prove analyticity of the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues providing Hadamard-type formulas, and we give a characterization of critical domains under volume constraint. Then we show that for all the polyharmonic operators the ball is a critical domain. Chapter 4 is devoted to the stability estimates of the eigenvalues of elliptic systems of partial differential equations with Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. Adapting the arguments used in [38, 39] we can prove estimates via the atlas distance, the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation and the Lebesgue measure. In Chapter 5 we prove analyticity, Hadamard-type formulas and criticality conditions for second order elliptic systems under Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. We also show that, if the system is rotation invariant, then balls are critical domains under volume constraint. Finally, in Chapter 6 we consider the Reissner-Mindlin problem for the vibration of a clamped plate. We first prove estimates similar to those of Chapter 4, which are independent of the thickness of the plate. Then we prove analyticity and Hadamard-type formulas for the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues, which are used to provide a characterization of criticality. Then, after proving that the Reissner-Mindlin system is rotation invariant, we show that balls are critical domains under volume constraint.

Part of the results in this thesis have been published or accepted for publication. The discussion for the hinged plate problem in Chapter 2 has been partially published in [28]. The discussion in Chapter 3 has been published in [27]. The discussion in Chapter 6 has been published in [29]. A survey paper on Hadamard-type formulas and critical domains for the problems considered in this thesis has been accepted for publication in [30]. Moreover, the discussion in Chapter 5 has been submitted as the paper [26]. The discussion on the Neumann problem and on the Steklov problem contained in Chapter 2 is part of the submitted papers [31, 32].

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, prof. Pier Domenico Lamberti, who has followed my mathematical formation with dedication since five years ago when he accepted me as a Master's thesis student. He has always been available anytime I had questions to ask, promptly clarifying all my doubts, proving himself to be an excellent mentor. Also, his many advices have helped me a lot during these years, and will surely help me in the future.

I also wish to thank my dear friend Luigi, whom I have come to know during my bachelor's program, and with whom I have had the greatest joy of doing mathematics together. Several results in this thesis have been obtained together with him, and I really hope that there will be many others to come.

Particular thanks go to my family: Renzo, Francesca, Elena, Bruno, Maurizia, Alessandro, for always supporting my decisions and helping me to pursue my aims, and to my beloved girlfriend Alessandra, who has always been beside me, especially during hard times.

Many thanks also to my fellow Ph.D. students Daria, Laura, Luisa, Marta, Valentina, Carlo, Davide, Federico, Francesco, Gabriele, and Michele, and to my former fellow bachelor's students Gianluigi, Giovanni, and Michele, with whom I have spent many unforgettable moments during all these years.

Sincere thanks go to prof. Mark S. Ashbaugh, who has been my supervisor during my visiting period in Missouri, and who has helped me many times with both mathematical and bureaucratic problems, always in the kindest manner. Special thanks also to prof. Massimo Lanza de Cristoforis, dr. Matteo Dalla Riva, and dr. Paolo Musolino, whose help came to me several times in different ways, and I have always appreciated that very much.

Last but not least, I want to thank my dear friend Alberto, whom I have known for fourteen years now, and who has been my housemate since my first arrival in Padova nine years ago, always showing himself as a true friend.

xvi

Contents

RiassuntovAbstractviiIntroductionix									
						1	\mathbf{Prel}	minaries	1
							1.1	The atlas class and the atlas distance	1
	1.2	Sobolev spaces and elliptic operators	5						
	1.3	Domain perturbations and pull-back of operators	9						
2	Biha	rmonic operator and plate problems	11						
	2.1	Dirichlet boundary conditions (clamped plates)	12						
		2.1.1 Analyticity results	14						
		2.1.2 Isovolumetric perturbations	30						
	2.2	Neumann boundary conditions (free plates)	33						
		2.2.1 Analyticity results	35						
		2.2.2 Isovolumetric perturbations	37						
	2.3	Intermediate boundary conditions (hinged plates)	38						
		2.3.1 Analyticity results	39						
		2.3.2 Isovolumetric perturbations	45						
	2.4	Steklov boundary conditions	47						
		2.4.1 Analyticity results	50						
		2.4.2 Isovolumetric perturbations	52						
		2.4.3 An isoperimetric inequality for the fundamental tone .	53						
3	The	Dirichlet problem for the polyharmonic operators	61						
	3.1	Analyticity results	63						
	3.2	sovolumetric perturbations	66						

Contents

	3.3	A formula for the Frechét differential of the 'poly-Laplace-		
		Beltrami' operator		
4	Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equa			
	tion	ns 71		
	4.1	Estimates via diffeomorphisms		
	4.2	Estimates for Dirichlet eigenvalues via the atlas distance 75		
	4.3	Estimates for Neumann eigenvalues via the atlas distance 77		
	4.4	Estimates via the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation 82		
	4.5	Estimates via the Lebesgue measure		
5	Elli	ptic systems of partial differential equations 89		
	5.1	Dirichlet boundary conditions		
		5.1.1 Analyticity results		
		5.1.2 Isovolumetric perturbations		
	5.2	Neumann boundary conditions		
		5.2.1 Analyticity results		
		5.2.2 Isovolumetric perturbations 100		
6	The	e Reissner-Mindlin model for the vibrations of a clamped		
	plat	5e 101		
	6.1	The Reissner-Mindlin eigenvalue problem		
	6.2	Quantitative estimates		
		6.2.1 Estimates via diffeomorphisms		
		6.2.2 Estimates via atlas and Hausdorff distance 110		
	6.3	Analyticity results		
	6.4	Isovolumetric perturbations		
Bibliography 121				
Ringraziamenti 129				

xviii

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter we introduce some basic results which will be used in the sequel, and we set the notation.

1.1 The atlas class and the atlas distance

We denote by \mathbb{N} the set of all positive integers, and by \mathbb{N}_0 the set $\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. In the sequel, we shall always assume $N \geq 2$. For any set V in \mathbb{R}^N and $\delta > 0$ we denote by V_{δ} the set $\{x \in V : d(x, \partial V) > \delta\}$. We shall also denote by V^{δ} the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : d(x, V) < \delta\}$. Here d(x, A) denotes the Euclidean distance from x to a set A. We recall the following definition from [38], where by cuboid we mean a set which is the isometric image of a set of the form $\prod_{i=1}^N [a_i, b_i]$.

Definition 1.1. Let $\rho > 0$, $s, s' \in \mathbb{N}$, $s' \leq s$ and $\{V_j\}_{j=1}^s$ be a family of bounded open cuboids and $\{r_j\}_{j=1}^s$ be a family of isometries in \mathbb{R}^N . We say that that $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_j\}_{j=1}^s, \{r_j\}_{j=1}^s)$ is an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N with the parameters $\rho, s, s', \{V_j\}_{j=1}^s, \{r_j\}_{j=1}^s$, briefly an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N .

We denote by $C(\mathcal{A})$ the family of all open sets Ω in \mathbb{R}^N satisfying the following properties:

(i)
$$\Omega \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\circ} (V_j)_{\rho}$$
 and $(V_j)_{\rho} \cap \Omega \neq \emptyset$;
(ii) $V_j \cap \partial \Omega \neq \emptyset$ for $j = 1, \dots, s'$, $V_j \cap \partial \Omega = \emptyset$ for $s' < j \le s$;
(iii) for $j = 1, \dots, s$

$$r_j(V_j) = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^N : a_{ij} < x_i < b_{ij}, i = 1, ..., N \},\$$

and

$$r_j(\Omega \cap V_j) = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^N : a_{Nj} < x_N < g_j(\bar{x}), \ \bar{x} \in W_j \},$$

where $\bar{x} = (x_1, ..., x_{N-1}), W_j = \{\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} : a_{ij} < x_i < b_{ij}, i = 1, ..., N-1\}$ and g_j is a continuous function defined on \overline{W}_j (it is meant that if $s' < j \le s$ then $g_j(\bar{x}) = b_{Nj}$ for all $\bar{x} \in \overline{W}_j$); moreover for j = 1, ..., s'

$$a_{Nj} + \rho \le g_j(\bar{x}) \le b_{Nj} - \rho$$

for all $\bar{x} \in \overline{W}_j$.

We say that an open set Ω in \mathbb{R}^N is an open set with a continuous boundary if Ω is of class $C(\mathcal{A})$ for some atlas \mathcal{A} .

Let $\omega : [0, \infty[\to [0, \infty[$ be a modulus of continuity, i.e., a continuous non-decreasing function such that $\omega(0) = 0$ and, for some k > 0, $\omega(t) \ge kt$ for all $0 \le t \le 1$. Let M > 0. We denote by $C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ the family of all open sets Ω in \mathbb{R}^N belonging to $C(\mathcal{A})$ and such that all the functions g_j in (iii) satisfy the condition

$$|g_j(\bar{x}) - g_j(\bar{y})| \le M\omega(|x - \bar{y}|),$$

for all $\bar{x}, y \in \overline{W}_j$. We also say that an open set is of class $C^{\omega(\cdot)}$ if there exists an atlas \mathcal{A} and M > 0 such that $\Omega \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$.

Let $l \in \mathbb{N}, M > 0$. We say that an open set Ω is of class $C_M^l(\mathcal{A}), C_M^{l,1}(\mathcal{A})$ if Ω is of class $C(\mathcal{A})$ and all the functions g_j in (iii) are of class $C^l(\overline{W}_j)$ with

$$\begin{aligned} |g_j|_{c^l(\overline{W}_j)} &= \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| \le l} \|D^{\alpha}g_j\|_{L^{\infty}(\overline{W}_j)} \le M, \\ g_j|_{c^{l,1}(\overline{W}_j)} &= |g_j|_{c^l(\overline{W}_j)} + \sum_{\substack{|\alpha| = l \ \bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \overline{W}_j \\ x \ne y}} \sup_{\substack{|D^{\alpha}g_j(\bar{x}) - D^{\alpha}g_j(\bar{y})| \\ |\bar{x} - \bar{y}|} \le M \end{aligned}$$

 $respectively^1$.

We say that an open set Ω in \mathbb{R}^N is an open set of class C^l , $C^{l,1}$ if Ω is of class $C^l_M(\mathcal{A})$, $C^{l,1}_M(\mathcal{A})$ respectively, for some atlas \mathcal{A} and some M > 0.

The family of open sets of class $C(\mathcal{A})$ can be thought as a metric space endowed with the so-called Atlas Distance. We recall the definition introduced in [38].

¹Note that as customary $||g_j||_{C^l(\overline{W}_j)} = ||g_j||_{L^{\infty}(W_j)} + |g_j|_{c^l(\overline{W}_j)}$ and $||g_j||_{C^{l,1}(\overline{W}_j)} = ||g_j||_{L^{\infty}(W_j)} + |g_j|_{c^{l,1}(\overline{W}_j)}$.

Definition 1.2. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_j\}_{j=1}^s, \{r_j\}_{j=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . For all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ we define the atlas distance $d_{\mathcal{A}}$ by

$$d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) = \max_{j=1, \dots, s} \sup_{(\bar{x}, x_N) \in r_j(V_j)} |g_{1j}(\bar{x}) - g_{2j}(\bar{x})|, \qquad (1.1)$$

where g_{1j} , g_{2j} are the functions describing the boundaries of Ω_1, Ω_2 respectively, as in Definition 1.1 (iii).

Moreover, if $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ we set

$$d_j(x,\partial\Omega) = |g_j(\overline{(r_j(x))}) - (r_j(x))_N|, \qquad (1.2)$$

for all j = 1, ..., s and $x \in V_j$, where g_j is as in Definition 1.1.

Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_j\}_{j=1}^s, \{r_j\}_{j=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . For all $x \in V' = \bigcup_{j=1}^{s'} V_j$ we set $J'(x) = \{j \in \{1, \ldots, s'\} : x \in V_j\}$. Let $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$. Then we set

$$d_{\mathcal{A}}(x,\partial\Omega) = \max_{j\in J'(x)} d_j(x,\partial\Omega),$$

for all $x \in V'$, where $d_j(x, \partial \Omega)$ is defined in (1.2). Observe that if $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ then $\partial \Omega \subset V'$. Therefore if $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ then

$$d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) = \sup_{x \in \partial \Omega_1} d_{\mathcal{A}}(x, \partial \Omega_2) = \sup_{x \in \partial \Omega_2} d_{\mathcal{A}}(x, \partial \Omega_1).$$

For all $\epsilon > 0$ we set

$$\Omega_{\epsilon,\mathcal{A}} = \Omega \setminus \{ x \in V' : \ d_{\mathcal{A}}(x,\partial\Omega) \le \epsilon \},$$
$$\Omega^{\epsilon,\mathcal{A}} = \Omega \cup \{ x \in V' : \ d_{\mathcal{A}}(x,\partial\Omega) < \epsilon \}.$$

We recall the following lemma from [38].

Lemma 1.3. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N and $\epsilon > 0$. If Ω_1 and Ω_2 are two open sets in $C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying the inclusion

$$(\Omega_1)_{\epsilon,\mathcal{A}} \subset \Omega_2 \subset (\Omega_1)^{\epsilon,\mathcal{A}},\tag{1.3}$$

or

$$(\Omega_2)_{\epsilon,\mathcal{A}} \subset \Omega_1 \subset (\Omega_2)^{\epsilon,\mathcal{A}},\tag{1.4}$$

then

$$d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) \le \epsilon. \tag{1.5}$$

The atlas distance depends on the chosen atlas but has the advantage of being easily computable. Moreover, we observe that it can be controlled via the Hausdorf distance. Indeed, we have the following theorem where, for the sake of completeness, we collect also other relevant properties of the atlas distance proved in [38].

Given two sets A, B in \mathbb{R}^N the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation of A from B is defined in [38] by

$$d_{\mathcal{HP}}(A,B) = \min\left\{\sup_{x\in A} d(x,B), \sup_{x\in B} d(x,A)\right\}.$$

Note that the standard Hausdorff-Pompeiu distance of A and B is

$$d^{\mathcal{HP}}(A,B) = \max\left\{\sup_{x\in A} d(x,B), \sup_{x\in B} d(x,A)\right\}.$$

Theorem 1.4. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_j\}_{j=1}^s, \{r_j\}_{j=1}^s)$ be an atlas, ω a modulus of continuity as in Definition 1.1 and M > 0. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = (\rho/2, s, s', \{(V_j)_{\rho/2}\}_{j=1}^s, \{r_j\}_{j=1}^s)$. Then the following statements hold:

- (i) $(C(\mathcal{A}), d_{\mathcal{A}})$ is a complete metric space;
- (ii) $C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ is a compact subset of $C(\mathcal{A})$;
- (iii) There exists c > 0 depending only on $N, \mathcal{A}, \omega, M$ such that

$$d^{\mathcal{HP}}(\partial\Omega_1, \partial\Omega_2) \le d_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) \le c\,\omega(d_{\mathcal{HP}}(\partial\Omega_1, \partial\Omega_2)), \tag{1.6}$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A}).$

We also recall the following lemma from [38].

Lemma 1.5. If Ω_1 and Ω_2 are two open sets satisfying the inclusions

$$(\Omega_1)_{\epsilon} \subset \Omega_2 \subset (\Omega_1)^{\epsilon} \tag{1.7}$$

or

$$(\Omega_2)_{\epsilon} \subset \Omega_1 \subset (\Omega_2)^{\epsilon}, \tag{1.8}$$

then

$$d_{\mathcal{HP}}(\partial\Omega_2, \partial\Omega_1) \le \epsilon. \tag{1.9}$$

Observe that if Ω_1 and Ω_2 are two open sets satisfying inclusion (1.7) then it may happen that they do not satisfy inclusion (1.8), and

$$\sup_{x \in \partial \Omega_1} d(x, \partial \Omega_2) > \epsilon.$$

We refer to [38, Appendix] for some counterexamples.

1.2 Sobolev spaces and elliptic operators

Let $N, l \in \mathbb{N}, 1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N . We denote by $W^{l,p}(\Omega)$ the Sobolev space of real-valued functions in $L^p(\Omega)$, which have all distributional derivatives up to order l in $L^p(\Omega)$, endowed with the norm

$$||u||_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)} = \sum_{|\alpha| \le l} ||D^{\alpha}u||_{L^{p}(\Omega)}.$$
(1.10)

We denote by $W_0^{l,p}(\Omega)$ the closure in $W^{l,p}(\Omega)$ of the space of the C^{∞} functions with compact support in Ω . We shall also use the notation $H^l(\Omega)$, $H_0^l(\Omega)$ for the spaces $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$, $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$ respectively.

Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. We endow the product space $W^{l,p}(\Omega)^m$ with the norm

$$\|u\|_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)^m} = \sum_{j=1}^m \|u_j\|_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)},$$
(1.11)

where by u_j we mean the *j*-th component of the vector-valued function u.

We have the following result.

Lemma 1.6. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N , $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $V(\Omega)$ be a subspace of $W^{l,p}(\Omega)$ such that the embedding $V(\Omega) \subset W^{l-1,p}(\Omega)$ is compact. Then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|u\|_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)} \le c \bigg(\|u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} + \sum_{|\alpha|=l} \|D^{\alpha}u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} \bigg), \qquad (1.12)$$

for all $u \in V(\Omega)$.

Proof. The case p = 2 can be found in [38, Lemma 2.2]. The general case can be treated in the same way.

We have the following Gagliardo-Nirenberg-type inequality for intermediate derivatives of vector-valued functions (see also [18, 33]).

Theorem 1.7. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let $1 \leq p_1, p_2 \leq \infty$, $l, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $0 \leq r < l$ and let $\frac{r}{l} \leq \theta \leq 1$. Suppose that if $1 < p_2 < \infty$ and $\theta = 1$, then $l - r - \frac{N}{p_2}$ is not a non-negative integer. Let $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ be such that

$$\frac{N}{p} - r = (1 - \theta)\frac{N}{p_1} + \theta\left(\frac{N}{p_2} - l\right).$$

Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, for any $u \in L^{p_1}(\Omega)^m \cup W^{l,p_2}(\Omega)^m$, there exists $C = C(N, p_1, p_2, l, r, \theta)$ such that

$$\sum_{|\alpha|=r} ||D^{\alpha}u||_{L^{p}(\Omega)^{m}} \leq Cm^{2}||u||_{L^{p_{1}}(\Omega)^{m}}^{1-\theta}||u||_{W^{l,p_{2}}(\Omega)^{m}}^{\theta}.$$

Proof. For the case m = 1 we refer to [50, 72]. As for the general case, we have

$$\sum_{|\alpha|=r} ||D^{\alpha}u_{j}||_{L^{p}(\Omega)} \leq C||u_{j}||_{L^{p_{1}}(\Omega)}^{1-\theta}||u_{j}||_{W^{l,p_{2}}(\Omega)}^{\theta},$$

for all j = 1, ..., m, where C > 0 is independent of $u = (u_1, ..., u_m)$. Using the fact that, if $a_1, ..., a_m \ge 0$ and t > 0, then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_j^t \le m \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_j\right)^t,$$

summing on j we get

$$\sum_{|\alpha|=r} ||D^{\alpha}u||_{L^{p}(\Omega)^{m}} \leq C \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(||u_{j}||_{L^{p_{1}}(\Omega)}^{1-\theta} ||u_{j}||_{W^{l,p_{2}}(\Omega)}^{\theta} \right)$$
$$\leq C \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} ||u_{j}||_{L^{p_{1}}(\Omega)}^{1-\theta} \right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} ||u_{j}||_{W^{l,p_{2}}(\Omega)}^{\theta} \right)$$
$$\leq Cm^{2} ||u||_{L^{p_{1}}(\Omega)^{m}}^{1-\theta} ||u||_{W^{l,p_{2}}(\Omega)^{m}}^{\theta}.$$

Let $V(\Omega)$ be a closed subspace of $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$ containing $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$, and $m \in \mathbb{N}$. We consider the following eigenvalue problem

$$\int_{\Omega} \sum_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le l} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} D^{\alpha} u_i D^{\beta} v_j dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u \cdot v dx, \qquad (1.13)$$

for all functions $v \in V(\Omega)^m$, in the unknowns $u \in V(\Omega)^m$ (the eigenfunctions) and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ (the eigenvalues), where for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, the coefficients $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ are bounded measurable real-valued functions defined on Ω . Here and in the sequel we shall denote by $u \cdot \phi$ the standard scalar product in \mathbb{R}^m . We set

$$Q_{\Omega}(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} \sum_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le l} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} D^{\alpha} u_i D^{\beta} v_j dx,$$

and $Q_{\Omega}(u) = Q_{\Omega}(u, u)$, for all $u, v \in W^{l,2}(\Omega)^m$.

We make the following assumptions on the coefficients.

• Symmetry: for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \le l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \le m$,

$$A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} = A^{ji}_{\beta\alpha}. \tag{1.14}$$

• Positivity: for any $u \in W^{l,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)^m$,

$$\sum_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le l} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} D^{\alpha} u_i D^{\beta} u_j \ge 0, \text{ a.e. in } \Omega.$$
(1.15)

• Coercivity: there exist two constants a, b > 0 such that, for all $u \in W^{l,2}(\Omega)^m$,

$$a||u||_{W^{l,2}(\Omega)}^2 \le Q_{\Omega}(u) + b||u||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$
(1.16)

Remark 1.8. We note that conditions (1.14)-(1.16) are not very restrictive. For instance, the biharmonic operator considered in Chapter 2 and the polyharmonic operators \mathcal{P}_{n0} considered in Chapter 3 satisfy conditions (1.14)-(1.16). Also the Lamé system $-\Delta - k\nabla \text{div}$ (under Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions) for any $k \geq 1 - \frac{2}{N}$ and the Reissner-Mindlin problem (6.1) are in this class of operators.

If the embedding $V(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, then the eigenvalues of equation (1.13) coincide with the eigenvalues of a suitable operator $H_{V(\Omega)}$ canonically associated with the restriction of the quadratic form Q_{Ω} to $V(\Omega)$. In fact, we have the following theorem.

Theorem 1.9. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, a, b > 0 and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ be bounded measurable real-valued functions defined on Ω , satisfying conditions (1.14)-(1.16).

Let $V(\Omega)$ be a closed subspace of $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$ containing $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$ and such that the embedding $V(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact.

Then there exists a non-negative selfadjoint linear operator $H_{V(\Omega)}$ on $L^2(\Omega)^m$ with compact resolvent, such that $\text{Dom}(H_{V(\Omega)}^{1/2}) = V(\Omega)^m$ and

$$< H^{1/2}_{V(\Omega)} u, H^{1/2}_{V(\Omega)} v >_{L^2(\Omega)^m} = Q_{\Omega}(u, v),$$

for all $u, v \in V(\Omega)^m$. Moreover, the eigenvalues of equation (1.13) coincide with the eigenvalues $\lambda_n[H_{V(\Omega)}]$ of $H_{V(\Omega)}$ and

$$\lambda_n[H_{V(\Omega)}] = \inf_{\substack{\mathcal{L} \le V(\Omega)^m \\ \dim \mathcal{L}=n}} \sup_{\substack{u \in \mathcal{L} \\ u \neq 0}} \frac{Q_\Omega(u)}{\|u\|_{L^2(\Omega)^m}^2}.$$
(1.17)

Proof. The proof is similar to that of [38, Theorem 2.8], and is based on the variational characterization of the spectrum (see e.g., [44, Chapter 4]). \Box

Definition 1.10. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, a, b > 0 and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ be bounded measurable real-valued functions defined on Ω , satisfying conditions (1.14)-(1.16).

If the embedding $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, we set

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega] = \lambda_n[H_{W^{l,2}_{\Omega}(\Omega)}].$$

If the embedding $W^{l,2}(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, we set

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega] = \lambda_n[H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega)}].$$

The numbers $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega]$, $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega]$ are called the Dirichlet eigenvalues, Neumann eigenvalues respectively, of operator (3.1).

When we refer to both Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions we write just $\lambda_n[\Omega]$ instead of $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega]$ and $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega]$.

We note that, for an open set Ω of class $C(\mathcal{A})$ (see Definition 1.1), inequality (1.12) holds for all $u \in W^{l,2}(\Omega)$ with a constant c depending only on \mathcal{A} . More precisely, we denote by \mathcal{D}_{Ω} the best constant for which inequality (1.12) is satisfied for $V(\Omega) = W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$. We denote by \mathcal{N}_{Ω} the best constant for which inequality (1.12) is satisfied for $V(\Omega) = W^{l,2}(\Omega)$. Then we have the following (for a proof we refer to [33, Theorem 6, p. 160]).

Lemma 1.11. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N , $m \in \mathbb{N}$. There exists c > 0 depending only on N, \mathcal{A} and m such that

$$1 \leq \mathcal{D}_{\Omega} \leq \mathcal{N}_{\Omega} \leq c,$$

for all open sets $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$.

Lemma 1.12. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, L, a, b > 0 and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in L^{\infty}(\cup_{h=1}^s V_h)$ satisfy $||A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}||_{L^{\infty}(\cup_{h=1}^s V_h)} \leq L$ and conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$.

Then for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $\Lambda_n > 0$ depending only on n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m and L such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega] \le \Lambda_n,$$

for all open sets $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. The proof is similar to that of [38, Lemma 3.4].

1.3 Domain perturbations and pull-back of operators

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problems of the type of (1.13) in a family of open sets parameterized by suitable diffeomorphisms ϕ defined on Ω . Namely, we set

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^{l} = \bigg\{ \phi \in C_{b}^{l}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N}) : \inf_{\substack{x_{1}, x_{2} \in \Omega \\ x_{1} \neq x_{2}}} \frac{|\phi(x_{1}) - \phi(x_{2})|}{|x_{1} - x_{2}|} > 0 \bigg\},$$

where $C_b^l(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ denotes the space of all functions from Ω to \mathbb{R}^N of class C^l , with bounded derivatives up to order l. Note that if $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^l$ then ϕ is injective, Lipschitz continuous and $\inf_{\Omega} |\det \nabla \phi| > 0$. Moreover, $\phi(\Omega)$ is a bounded open set and the inverse map $\phi^{(-1)}$ belongs to $\mathcal{A}_{\phi(\Omega)}^l$.

Let $V(\Omega)$ be a closed subspace of $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$ containing $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$. We observe that, if the embedding $\mathcal{E}_{\Omega} : V(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, then also the embedding $\mathcal{E}_{\phi(\Omega)} : V(\phi(\Omega)) \subset L^2(\phi(\Omega))$ is compact, for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^l$. Here and in the sequel, we denote by $V(\phi(\Omega))$ the space of all functions u such that $u \circ \phi \in V(\Omega)$. In fact, the map i_{ϕ} from $W^{l,2}(\phi(\Omega))$ to $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$ which takes $u \in W^{l,2}(\phi(\Omega))$ to $u \circ \phi$ is a linear homeomorphism, and $i_{\phi}^{-1} = i_{\phi^{-1}}$. Therefore

$$\mathcal{E}_{\phi(\Omega)} = i_{\phi} \circ \mathcal{E}_{\Omega} \circ i_{\phi^{-1}},$$

hence $\mathcal{E}_{\phi(\Omega)}$ is compact.

Thanks to these observations, it is natural to consider problem (1.13) on $\phi(\Omega)$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_n[\phi(\Omega)]$ on $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^l$. We shall endow the space $C_b^l(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ with its usual norm $\|f\|_{C_b^l(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)} = \sup_{|\alpha| \leq l, x \in \Omega} |D^{\alpha}f(x)|$. Note that \mathcal{A}_{Ω}^l is an open set in $C_b^l(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, see [64, Lemma 3.11]. Thus, it

makes sense to study differentiability and analyticity properties of the maps $\phi \mapsto \lambda_n[\phi(\Omega)]$ defined for $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^l$. For simplicity, we write $\lambda_n[\phi]$ instead of $\lambda_n[\phi(\Omega)]$. To do so, we shall consider problem (1.13) on $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω .

Let $V(\Omega)$ be a closed subspace of $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$ containing $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Let T be an operator from $V(\phi(\Omega))^m$ to its dual, for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^l$. We recall that the pull-back of T is defined by

$$T_{\phi}[u^{(1)}][u^{(2)}] = T[u^{(1)} \circ \phi^{-1}][u^{(2)} \circ \phi^{-1}], \ \forall u^{(1)}, u^{(2)} \in V(\Omega)^m.$$
(1.18)

Using the pull-back of operators as defined by (1.18), we will be able to study differentiability and analyticity properties of the eigenvalues.

Since bifurcation phenomena may occur when dealing with multiple eigenvalues, we shall consider the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of (1.13) (or other operators). To do so, as in [64], we fix a finite set of indexes $F \subset \mathbb{N}$ and we consider those maps $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^l_{\Omega}$ for which the eigenvalues with index in F do not coincide with eigenvalues with index not in F; namely, we set

$$\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega} = \left\{ \phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^{l} : \ \lambda_{n}[\phi] \neq \lambda_{k}[\phi], \ \forall \ n \in F, \ k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus F \right\}.$$

It is also convenient to consider those maps $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ such that all the eigenvalues with index in F coincide and set

$$\Theta_{F,\Omega} = \{ \phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega} : \lambda_{n_1}[\phi] = \lambda_{n_2}[\phi], \forall n_1, n_2 \in F \}.$$

For $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$, the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues with index in F are defined by

$$\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] = \sum_{\substack{n_1, \dots, n_s \in F \\ n_1 < \dots < n_s}} \lambda_{n_1}[\phi] \cdots \lambda_{n_s}[\phi], \quad s = 1, \dots, |F|.$$

When the meaning will be clear from the context, we shall use the notation $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$, $\Theta_{F,\Omega}$, $\Lambda_{F,h}$ for all the problems we consider in the sequel without any additional specification.

Chapter 2

Biharmonic operator and plate problems

In this chapter we discuss the eigenvalue problem for the biharmonic operator Δ^2 subject to different types of boundary conditions. This operator is related to the study of the bending of a plate via the Kirchhoff-Love model; we refer to [51, 74] for the physical derivation of the problem (see also [42]). In particular, the problem of a vibrating plate leads to the equation

$$\Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = \lambda u, \tag{2.1}$$

on a bounded open set Ω in \mathbb{R}^2 . Here τ is a non-negative constant related to the lateral tension of the plate.

Since the dimension does not play any relevant role in our discussion, we consider from the beginning bounded open sets in \mathbb{R}^N . The weak formulation of problem (2.1) is

$$\int_{\Omega} (1-\alpha)D^2 u : D^2 \varphi + \alpha \Delta u \Delta \varphi + \tau \nabla u \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u \varphi dx, \qquad (2.2)$$

for any $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, where α is a parameter depending on the material, typically $0 \leq \alpha < 1$. However, for some particular material, the parameter α happens to be negative (cf. [51, §1.1.2]). We note that, thanks to the inequality

$$|D^2u|^2 \ge \frac{1}{N} (\Delta u)^2, \ \forall u \in H^2(\Omega),$$

the quadratic form associated with problem (2.2) turns out to be positive for $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$.

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

As we have said, we shall consider equation (2.1) subject to different boundary conditions. These conditions obviously depend on the choice of the energy space $V(\Omega)$ in which we study the problem (2.2). If we choose $V(\Omega) = H_0^2(\Omega)$ as the energy space, we have Dirichlet boundary conditions

$$u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega$$

which are related to a clamped plate. Note that in this case the problem does not depend on the parameter α . The choice of $V(\Omega) = H^2(\Omega)$ as the energy space leads to Neumann boundary conditions

$$(1-\alpha)\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial\nu^2} + \alpha\Delta u = \tau\frac{\partial u}{\partial\nu} - \frac{\partial\Delta u}{\partial\nu} - (1-\alpha)\operatorname{div}_{\partial\Omega}(\nu \cdot D^2 u)_{\partial\Omega} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega,$$

which are related to a free plate. Here $\operatorname{div}_{\partial\Omega}$ is the tangential divergence operator and, for any vector field f, $f_{\partial\Omega} = f - (f \cdot \nu)\nu$ is the tangential component of f.

Since the problem is of the fourth order, we also have the possibility of choosing the energy space $V(\Omega) = H^2(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)$, which gives the so-called intermediate boundary conditions

$$u = (1 - \alpha) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} + \alpha \Delta u = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega,$$

which are related to a hinged plate.

We remark that the operator P defined by the left-hand side of (2.2) (cf. (2.6)) satisfies conditions (1.14)-(1.16), and therefore Theorem 1.9 applies to all these problems.

We shall also consider the so-called Steklov boundary value problem for the biharmonic operator, namely

$$\int_{\Omega} (1-\alpha) D^2 u : D^2 \varphi + \alpha \Delta u \Delta \varphi + \tau \nabla u \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = \lambda \int_{\partial \Omega} u \varphi d\sigma, \qquad (2.3)$$

with $u, \varphi \in H^2(\Omega)$, which is related to the vibration of a plate whose mass is concentrated at the boundary. This problem is a generalization of the classical Steklov problem (see [77]), and we refer to [31, 73] for the physical derivation of the problem.

2.1 Dirichlet boundary conditions (clamped plates)

Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1, \tau \ge 0$. The Dirichlet problem for the biharmonic operator reads

2.1. Dirichlet boundary conditions (clamped plates)

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and ν is the outer unit normal. We observe that the eigenvalues of problem (2.4) are strictly positive.

We consider on $H_0^2(\Omega)$ the bilinear form

$$\langle u, v \rangle = \int_{\Omega} (1-\alpha) D^2 u : D^2 v + \alpha \Delta u \Delta v + \tau \nabla u \cdot \nabla v dx,$$
 (2.5)

for any $u, v \in H_0^2(\Omega)$. One can prove that the bilinear form (2.5) defines on $H_0^2(\Omega)$ a scalar product whose induced norm is equivalent to the standard one defined by (1.10). In this section we shall consider the space $H_0^2(\Omega)$ endowed with the scalar product (2.5).

We consider the operator P from $H_0^2(\Omega)$ to its dual defined by

$$P[u][v] = \int_{\Omega} (1-\alpha)D^2u : D^2v + \alpha\Delta u\Delta v + \tau\nabla u \cdot \nabla v dx, \qquad (2.6)$$

for any $u, v \in H_0^2(\Omega)$. The operator P is easily seen to be a linear homeomorphism of $H_0^2(\Omega)$ onto its dual. We also denote by \mathcal{J} the continuous embedding of $H_0^2(\Omega)$ into its dual, defined by

$$\mathcal{J}[u][v] := \int_{\Omega} uv dx, \ \forall u, v \in H^2_0(\Omega).$$

Note that problem (2.4) can be written in the following weak formulation

$$P[u][v] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[u][v], \ \forall v \in H_0^2(\Omega).$$

$$(2.7)$$

We define the operator $T := P^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}$ from $H^2_0(\Omega)$ to itself. We have the following

Lemma 2.1. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T is a non-negative compact selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space $H_0^2(\Omega)$. Its spectrum is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $Tu = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in H_0^2(\Omega)$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (2.2) is satisfied with $0 \neq \lambda = \mu^{-1}$ for any $\varphi \in H_0^2(\Omega)$.

Proof. For the selfadjointness, it suffices to observe that

$$\langle Tu, v \rangle = \langle P^{-1} \circ \mathcal{J}u, v \rangle = P[P^{-1} \circ \mathcal{J}u][v] = \mathcal{J}[u][v],$$

for any $u, v \in H_0^2(\Omega)$. For the compactness, just observe that the operator \mathcal{J} is compact. The remaining statements can be deduced by Theorem 1.9. \Box

2.1.1 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problem (2.4) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_j[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ .

The main result of this section is the following analogue for the biharmonic operator of [64, Theorem 3.38] concerning the Dirichlet Laplacian.

Theorem 2.2. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in \mathcal{A}^2_{Ω} and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^4 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] = -\lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial\nu^2}\right)^2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \qquad (2.8)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H_0^2(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (2.5)) of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

In order to prove Theorem 2.2 we consider equation (2.7) in $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . We note that

$$P = (1 - \alpha)H^2 + \alpha\Delta^2 - \tau\Delta,$$

where the operators H^2, Δ^2, Δ are defined by

$$H^{2}[u][v] = \int_{\Omega} D^{2}u : D^{2}v dx,$$
$$\Delta^{2}[u][v] = \int_{\Omega} \Delta u \Delta v dx,$$

and

$$\Delta[u][v] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v dx,$$

for all $u, v \in H^2(\Omega)$. We consider the equation

$$P[v][\psi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[v][\psi], \quad \forall \ \psi \in H_0^2(\phi(\Omega)), \tag{2.9}$$

in the unknowns $v \in H^2_0(\phi(\Omega)), \lambda \in]0, \infty[$. Recall that the pull-back to Ω of the operator H^2 on $\phi(\Omega)$ is defined by

$$H^2_{\phi}[u][\varphi] = \int_{\Omega} \left(D^2(u \circ \phi^{(-1)}) : D^2(\varphi \circ \phi^{(-1)}) \right) \circ \phi |\mathrm{det} \nabla \phi| dx,$$

for all $u, \varphi \in H^2(\Omega)$, and similarly for $\Delta^2_{\phi}, \Delta_{\phi}$. We have

$$P_{\phi} = (1 - \alpha)H_{\phi}^2 + \alpha\Delta_{\phi}^2 - \tau\Delta_{\phi}.$$

We will denote by $H^2_{0,\phi}(\Omega)$ the space $H^2_0(\Omega)$ endowed with the form

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\phi} = P_{\phi}[u][v], \ \forall u, v \in H^2_0(\Omega).$$

We also recall that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][w] = \int_{\Omega} uw |\text{det} \nabla \phi| dx, \ \forall u, w \in H^2(\Omega).$$

Note that the map from $H^2(\Omega)$ to $H^2(\phi(\Omega))$ which maps u to $u \circ \phi^{(-1)}$ for all $u \in H^2(\Omega)$ is a linear homeomorphism. Hence, equation (2.7) is equivalent to

$$P_{\phi}[u][\varphi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \ \varphi \in H^2_{0,\phi}(\Omega),$$

where $u = v \circ \phi$. It turns out that the operator T defined in Lemma 2.1 with Ω replaced by $\phi(\Omega)$ is unitarily equivalent to the operator T_{ϕ} defined on $H^2_{0,\phi}(\Omega)$ by

$$T_{\phi} := P_{\phi}^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}_{\phi}. \tag{2.10}$$

Thus we can prove the following lemma where $\mathcal{L}(H_0^2(\Omega))$ denotes the space of linear bounded operators from $H_0^2(\Omega)$ to itself and and $\mathcal{B}_s(H_0^2(\Omega))$ denotes the space of bilinear forms on $H_0^2(\Omega)$ (both spaces are equipped with their usual norms).

Lemma 2.3. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1, \tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T_{ϕ} defined in (2.10) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $H^2_{0,\phi}(\Omega)$. The equation (2.9) is satisfied for some $v \in H^2_0(\phi(\Omega))$ if and only if the equation $T_{\phi}u = \mu u$ is satisfied with u = $v \circ \phi$ and $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}^2_{Ω} to $\mathcal{L}(H^2_0(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{B}_s(H^2_0(\Omega))$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ to $(T_{\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{\phi})$ is real-analytic.

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

Proof. Since the operator T_{ϕ} is unitarily equivalent to the operator T, the first part of the lemma immediately follows by Lemma 2.1. In order to prove the real-analytic dependence of T_{ϕ} upon ϕ , we note that by standard calculus

$$(H_{\phi}u)_{ij} = (\sigma^t \cdot D^2 u \cdot \sigma)_{ij} + \left(\sum_{r,s=1}^N \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_r} \frac{\partial \sigma_{ri}}{\partial x_s} \sigma_{sj}\right)_{ij}, \qquad (2.11)$$

for all $u \in H^2(\Omega)$, where $H_{\phi}u$ is the classical pull-back of the Hessian matrix D^2u , and $\sigma = (\nabla \phi)^{-1}$ (cf. [28, p. 240]). Moreover

$$\Delta_{\phi} u = \sum_{r,s,i=1}^{N} \left(\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_r \partial x_s} \sigma_{ri} \sigma_{si} + \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_r} \frac{\partial \sigma_{ri}}{\partial x_s} \sigma_{si} \right),$$

for all $u \in H^2(\Omega)$, where Δ_{ϕ} is the classical pull-back of the Laplace operator Δ (see also [64, Proposition 3.1]), and

$$\nabla_{\phi} u = \nabla u \cdot \sigma_{g}$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, where ∇_{ϕ} is the classical pull-back of the gradient ∇ .

By formula (2.11), it follows that the map from $\mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^2 \times H^2(\Omega)$ to $L^2(\Omega)^{N^2}$ which takes $(\phi, u) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^2$ to $H_{\phi}u$ is real-analytic, and similarly for $\Delta_{\phi}u$, $\nabla_{\phi}u$. Thus also the map from $\mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^2 \times H^2(\Omega)$ to $L^2(\Omega)$ which takes $(\phi, u) \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^2$ to $P_{\phi}u$ is real-analytic since it is composition of real-analytic maps. This implies the real-analytic dependence of T_{ϕ} and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\phi}$ upon ϕ .

Proof of Theorem 2.2. We denote by $\mu_j[\phi], j \in \mathbb{N}$, the eigenvalues of T_{ϕ} . By Lemma 2.3, $\mu_j[\phi] = \lambda_j^{-1}[\phi]$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, hence the set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ coincides with the set $\{\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^2 : \mu_j[\phi] \neq \mu_l[\phi], \forall j \in F, l \in \mathbb{N} \setminus F\}$. By Lemma 2.3, T_{ϕ} is selfadjoint with respect to the scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\phi}$ and both T_{ϕ} and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\phi}$ depend real-analytically on ϕ . Thus, by applying [64, Thm. 2.30], it follows that $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is an open set in $C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the functions which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to

$$M_{F,s}[\phi] = \sum_{\substack{j_1, \dots, j_s \in F \\ j_1 < \dots < j_s}} \mu_{j_1}[\phi] \cdots \mu_{j_s}[\phi]$$

are real-analytic for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Since

$$\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] = \frac{M_{F,|F|-h}[\phi]}{M_{F,|F|}[\phi]},$$

for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$, where $M_{F,0}[\phi] = 1$, it follows that $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ depends real-analytically on $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ (see also [64, Theorem 3.21]).

It remains to prove formula (2.8). Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$, $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ and $\{v_l\}_{l\in F}$ be as in the statement. We set $u_l = v_l \circ \tilde{\phi}$ for all $l \in F$ and we note that $\{u_l\}_{l\in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H^2_{0,\tilde{\phi}}(\Omega)$ for the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]$ of the operator $T_{\tilde{\phi}}$. By [64, Thm. 2.30], it follows that

$$\mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Gamma_{F,s}[\psi] = \lambda_F^{1-s}[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l\in F} \langle \mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u_l], u_l >_{\tilde{\phi}}$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$. Note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [51, Thm. 2.20]) $v_l \in H^4(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ for all $l \in F$.

We have

$$< \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u_l], u_l >_{\tilde{\phi}} = d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \mathcal{J}_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][u_l] - \lambda_F^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} P_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][u_l].$$

Moreover, by standard calculus,

$$\left[\left(\mathrm{d}_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} \left(\mathrm{det}\nabla\phi \right) \left[\psi\right] \right) \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)} \right] \mathrm{det}\nabla\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)} = \mathrm{div} \left(\psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)} \right), \qquad (2.12)$$

and therefore

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\mathcal{J}_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][u_l] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_l^2 \operatorname{div}\zeta dy.$$
(2.13)

Using Lemmas 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6 below, and the fact that $v_l = |\nabla v_l| = 0$ on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} P_{\phi}[\psi][u_{l}][u_{l}] \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left((1-\alpha) |D^{2}v_{l}|^{2} + \alpha (\Delta v_{l})^{2} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla (v_{l}^{2}) \cdot \mu dy \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{l}}{\partial \nu^{2}} \right)^{2} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla (v_{l}^{2}) \cdot \mu dy. \end{aligned}$$

To conclude, just observe that

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla(v_l^2) \cdot \zeta dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_l^2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_l^2 \operatorname{div} \zeta dy.$$
(2.14)

Lemma 2.4. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , and let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 . Let $u_1, u_2 \in H^2(\Omega)$ be such that $v_1 = u_1 \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}, v_2 = u_2 \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1} \in H^4(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$. Then

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (D^{2}v_{1}:D^{2}v_{2})\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$

$$+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nu \cdot D^{2}v_{1})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{2} + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nu \cdot D^{2}v_{2})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma$$

$$+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^{2}v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta^{2}v_{2}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma$$

$$- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial\nu}d\sigma$$

$$- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma, \quad (2.15)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}$.

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} D^{2}(u_{1} \circ \phi^{-1}) \circ \phi)[\psi] : (D^{2}(u_{2} \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}) \circ \tilde{\phi})|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} (D^{2}(u_{1} \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}) \circ \tilde{\phi}) : (d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} D^{2}(u_{2} \circ \phi^{-1}) \circ \phi)[\psi]|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} (D^{2}(u_{1} \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}) \circ \tilde{\phi}) : (D^{2}(u_{2} \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}) \circ \tilde{\phi})d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}|\det D\phi|[\psi]dx, \quad (2.16) \end{aligned}$$

and we note that, by (2.12), the last summand in (2.16) equals

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \right) \operatorname{div} \zeta dy.$$

By standard calculus we have (see [28, formula (2.15)])

$$D^{2}(u \circ \phi^{-1}) \circ \phi = (\nabla \phi)^{-t} D^{2} u (\nabla \phi)^{-1} + \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial \sigma_{k,i}}{\partial x_{l}} \sigma_{l,j} \right)_{i,j}$$

where $\sigma = (\nabla \phi)^{-1}$. This yields the following formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(D^2(u\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi]\circ\phi^{-1} = -D^2v\nabla\zeta - \nabla\zeta^t D^2v - \sum_{r=1}^N \frac{\partial v}{\partial y_r} D^2\zeta_r, \quad (2.17)$$
where $\zeta = \psi \circ \phi^{-1}$ and $v = u \circ \phi^{-1}$. By rewriting formula (2.17) componentwise we get

$$\begin{split} \left(d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(D^2(u\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi]\circ\phi^{-1}\right)_{i,j} \\ &=-\sum_{r=1}^N\left(\frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial y_i\partial y_r}\frac{\partial\zeta_r}{\partial y_j}+\frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial y_j\partial y_r}\frac{\partial\zeta_r}{\partial y_i}+\frac{\partial^2\zeta_r}{\partial y_i\partial y_j}\frac{\partial v}{\partial y_r}\right). \end{split}$$

Now we use Einstein notation, dropping all the summation symbols. The first summand of the right-hand side of (2.16) equals

$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} + \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial^2 \zeta_r}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \right) \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy.$$
(2.18)

In order to compute (2.18), integrating by parts, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} \nu_r \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \operatorname{div}\zeta}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} dy \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} \nu_r \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \operatorname{div}\zeta \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_j d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \operatorname{div}\zeta dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \operatorname{div}\zeta \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 dy, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 \zeta_r}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_r \partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} dy \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \nu_j \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \nu_r \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial div\zeta}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} dy \end{split}$$

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

$$= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \nu_j \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} dy$$
$$- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \nu_r \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} dy$$
$$+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \operatorname{div}\zeta \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \operatorname{div}\zeta dy$$
$$- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 \operatorname{div}\zeta dy.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} H^2_{\phi}[\psi][u_1][u_2] &= -\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} \nu_r d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} dy \\ &+ \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \right) \nu_j \mathrm{div} \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \mathrm{div} \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \right) \nu_j \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} dy \quad (2.19) \end{aligned}$$

We now recall that, since $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^4 , we have

$$\operatorname{div} \zeta = \operatorname{div}_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \zeta + \frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),$$

and

$$\Delta f = \Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} f + K \frac{\partial f}{\partial \nu} + \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \nu^2} \text{ on } \quad \partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),$$

for any function f smooth enough in a neighborhood of $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ (see also [46, §8.5]). Moreover, since $\nu = \nabla b$, where b is the distance from the boundary defined in an appropriate tubular neighborhood of the boundary, then $\nabla \nu = (\nabla \nu)^t$ and $\frac{\partial \nu}{\partial \nu} = 0$, from which it follows that

$$\nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu = (\nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu)^t \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega).$$
(2.20)

We will use these identities throughout all the following computations.

We get that the sixth summand in the right-hand side of (2.19) equals

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_1)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \right) \cdot \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \zeta_r d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial \nu} d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \right) (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \right) \\ &+ \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \right) (\nu \cdot D^2 v_1)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \right) \zeta_r d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_1)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_2 + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial \nu} d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_1)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_2 + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_1)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_2 + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial \nu} d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial \nu} d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial \nu} d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma. \quad (2.21) \end{split}$$

The seventh summand in the right-hand side of (2.19) equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2 + \Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i} \right) \zeta_r dy \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2 + \Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy \end{split}$$

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

$$+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \operatorname{div} \zeta dy. \quad (2.22)$$

The second summand in the right-hand side of (2.19) equals

$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla(\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla v_{2}) \nabla(\zeta_{r}) \nu_{r} d\sigma$$
$$= -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla v_{2}) \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\zeta_{r}) \nu_{r} d\sigma$$
$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} (\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla v_{2}) \frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial\nu} \nu_{r} d\sigma. \quad (2.23)$$

The third summand in the right-hand side of (2.19) equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \nu_j \zeta_r d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \nu_j \zeta_r d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \text{div} \zeta dy. \quad (2.24) \end{split}$$

From (2.19)-(2.24), it follows that

$$\begin{split} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] &= -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\zeta_{r})\nu_{r}d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial\nu}\nu_{r}d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\mathrm{div}\zeta d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\mathrm{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nu\cdot D^{2}v_{1})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{2} + \mathrm{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nu\cdot D^{2}v_{2})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}}\right)\nu_{j}\zeta_{r}d\sigma \end{split}$$

2.1. Dirichlet boundary conditions (clamped plates)

$$\begin{split} + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \nu_j \zeta_r d\sigma \\ - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2 + \Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu^2} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial \nu} d\sigma \\ - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial \nu^2} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma, \end{split}$$

and therefore

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla v_{2}) \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\zeta_{r})\nu_{r} d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} (\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla v_{2}) \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \zeta d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^{2}v_{1})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_{2} + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^{2}v_{2})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_{1} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_{1} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{r}} (\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla v_{2}) \right) \zeta_{r} d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^{2}v_{1} : D^{2}v_{2}\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla\Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2} \cdot \nabla\Delta v_{1})\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^{2}v_{1} \nabla v_{2} + \Delta^{2}v_{2} \nabla v_{1} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{2}} \nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}} \nabla v_{1} \right) \cdot \frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial\nu} d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_{1} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma.$$
(2.25)

The first summand on the right-hand side of (2.25) equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \cdot (\nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu_r) \zeta_r d\sigma, \end{split}$$

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

while the fifth one equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial\nu^2} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_r} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \right) \right)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \zeta_r d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial\nu^2} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \cdot (\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu_r) \zeta_r d\sigma, \end{split}$$

where in the last term we have used equality (2.20). Using the fact that

$$\int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \operatorname{div}_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \cdot \zeta \right) d\sigma = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} K \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma,$$

where K denotes the mean curvature of $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ (see [46, §8.5]), we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} K\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^{2}v_{1}: D^{2}v_{2}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{1})\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nu\cdot D^{2}v_{1})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{2} + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(nu\cdot D^{2}v_{2})_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^{2}v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta^{2}v_{2}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2})\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^{2}v_{1}: D^{2}v_{2}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{1})\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \end{split}$$

$$+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_1)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_2 + \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2)_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial\Delta v_1}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial\Delta v_2}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2 + \Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial\nu^2} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial\nu^2} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial\nu} d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial\nu^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial\nu^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma.$$

Using the equality

$$\Delta(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2) = \nabla \Delta v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2 + \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + 2D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2$$

we finally get formula (2.15).

Lemma 2.5. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , and let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 . Let $u_1, u_2 \in H^2(\Omega)$ be such that $v_1 = u_1 \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}, v_2 = u_2 \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1} \in H^4(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$. Then

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{2}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_{1}\Delta v_{2}\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$

+
$$\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^{2}v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta^{2}v_{2}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma$$

-
$$\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta v_{2}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial\nu}d\sigma$$

-
$$\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_{1}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta v_{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma, \quad (2.26)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}$.

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{2}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta(u_{1}\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi](\Delta(u_{2}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} (\Delta(u_{1}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})(d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta(u_{2}\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi]|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} (\Delta(u_{1}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})(\Delta(u_{2}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}|\det D\phi|[\psi]dx, \quad (2.27) \end{aligned}$$

and we note that, by (2.12), the last summand in (2.27) equals

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_1 \Delta v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy.$$

We have

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_r \partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_s} \Delta v_2 dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_s} \nu_r \Delta v_2 d\sigma
- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \operatorname{div}\zeta}{\partial y_s} \Delta v_2 dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_r} dy
= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_s} \nu_r \Delta v_2 d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_r} dy
- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 \operatorname{div}\zeta d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_1 \Delta v_2 \operatorname{div}\zeta dy
+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 \operatorname{div}\zeta dy, \quad (2.28)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \Delta \zeta_s \Delta v_2 dy &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \Delta v_2 dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} dy \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \nu_s \Delta v_2 d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \Delta v_2 dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_s} dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_s} dy - \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \nu_s \Delta v_2 d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \zeta_s}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_s} dy + \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 div\zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_1 \Delta v_2 div\zeta dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 div\zeta dy. \quad (2.29) \end{split}$$

2.1. Dirichlet boundary conditions (clamped plates)

Using (2.27)-(2.29) we get

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} \Delta_{\phi}^{2}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] &= -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{s}} \Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{s}} \Delta v_{1}\right) \frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial y_{s}} \nu_{r} d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{s}} \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial y_{r}} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{s}} \frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial y_{r}}\right) \frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial y_{s}} dy \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_{1}\right) \operatorname{div}\zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_{1} \Delta v_{2} \operatorname{div}\zeta dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla \Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2} \cdot \nabla \Delta v_{1}\right) \operatorname{div}\zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{s}} \Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{s}} \Delta v_{1}\right) \frac{\partial\zeta_{s}}{\partial\nu} d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{s}} \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial y_{i}} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{s}} \frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}}\right) \frac{\partial\zeta_{s}}{\partial y_{i}} dy. \quad (2.30) \end{aligned}$$

The last summand in the right-hand side of (2.30) equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2 + \Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_s} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_s} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i} \right) \zeta_s dy \\ = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2 + \Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \operatorname{div} \zeta dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_s} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_s} \right) \zeta_s dy, \end{split}$$

while the second one equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla \Delta v_2 + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla \Delta v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_r \partial y_s} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_s} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_r \partial y_s} \right) \zeta_r dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_1 \Delta v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_1 \Delta v_2 \text{div} \zeta dy. \end{split}$$

Hence we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{2}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{s}}\Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{s}}\Delta v_{1}\right)\frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial y_{s}}\nu_{r}d\sigma$$

$$+\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\nabla\Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\nabla\Delta v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma$$

$$+\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\Delta v_{1}\right)\operatorname{div}\zeta d\sigma$$

$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_{1}\Delta v_{2}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{s}}\Delta v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{s}}\Delta v_{1}\right)\frac{\partial\zeta_{s}}{\partial\nu}d\sigma$$

$$+\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma$$

$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta^{2}v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta^{2}v_{2}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta dy$$

$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{1}\right)\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \quad (2.31)$$

The first summand in (2.31) equals

$$\begin{split} &-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial\nu} \Delta v_2 + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial\nu} \Delta v_1\right) \frac{\partial\zeta_r}{\partial\nu} \nu_r d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1 \cdot \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_2 + \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_2 \cdot \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_1\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_1 \Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_2 + \Delta v_2 \Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_1 \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_2 + \Delta v_1 \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1\right) \cdot (\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu_r) \zeta_r d\sigma, \end{split}$$

while the second one equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} K \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_1 \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_2 + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \Delta v_1 \right) \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \zeta d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_1 \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} + \Delta v_2 \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma, \end{split}$$

where K denotes the mean curvature of $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$. Therefore the first three terms in the right-hand side of (2.31) equal

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\nabla v_{1} \cdot \nabla \Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2} \cdot \nabla \Delta v_{1} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- 2 \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_{1} \Delta v_{2} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_{1} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{2}}{\partial \nu^{2}} + \Delta v_{2} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{1}}{\partial \nu^{2}} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_{1} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_{2} + \Delta v_{1} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_{1} \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu_{r} \right) \zeta_{r} d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_{1} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial \nu} + \Delta v_{2} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial \nu} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma. \quad (2.32) \end{split}$$

Now note that summing the third and the fifth terms in (2.32) and using (2.20) we get

$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_1 \nabla \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} + \Delta v_2 \nabla \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma$$

$$= -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_2 + \Delta v_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \right) \cdot \zeta d\sigma$$

$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\Delta v_1 \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_2 + \Delta v_2 \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1 \right) \cdot (\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nu_r) \zeta_r d\sigma. \quad (2.33)$$

Using (2.31), (2.32) and (2.33), we finally get formula (2.26).

Lemma 2.6. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , and let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$. Let $u_1, u_2 \in H^2(\Omega)$ and let $v_1 = u_1 \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}, v_2 = u_2 \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}$. Then

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla v_{2}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\Delta v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + \Delta v_{2}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\zeta d\sigma,$$
(2.34)

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}$.

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] \\ &= -\int_{\Omega} (d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\nabla(u_{1}\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi]\cdot(\nabla(u_{2}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &- \int_{\Omega} (\nabla(u_{1}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})\cdot(d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\nabla(u_{2}\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi]|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &- \int_{\Omega} (\nabla(u_{1}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})\cdot(\nabla(u_{2}\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1})\circ\tilde{\phi})d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}|\det D\phi|[\psi]dx, \quad (2.35) \end{aligned}$$

and we note that, by (2.12), the last summand in (2.35) equals

$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2 \mathrm{div}\zeta dy.$$

Using the fact that

$$\left(d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\nabla(u\circ\phi^{-1})\circ\phi)[\psi]\circ\tilde{\phi}^{-1}\right)_i=-\sum_{r=1}^N\frac{\partial v}{\partial y_r}\frac{\partial\zeta_r}{\partial y_i},$$

where $v = u \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}$, and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_2 \nabla v_1 \cdot \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \zeta_r dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_1 \cdot \zeta d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta v_2 \nabla v_1 \cdot \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \zeta_r dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy, \\ &\text{we easily get formula (2.34).} \qquad \Box$$

we easily get formula (2.34).

We consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi], \tag{2.36}$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the N-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. Note that if $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^{2}$ is a minimizer or maximizer in (2.36) then $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical domain transformation for the map $\phi \mapsto \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ subject to volume constraint, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Ker} d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} V \subset \operatorname{Ker} d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \Lambda_{F,s}, \qquad (2.37)$$

where V is the real valued function defined on \mathcal{A}^2_{Ω} which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ to $V[\phi]$.

The following theorem provides a characterization of all critical domain transformations ϕ . We refer to [67] for the case of the Dirichlet and Neumann Laplacians.

Theorem 2.7. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ be such that $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega) \in C^4$ and $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. For $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$, the function $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constrain if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $v_1, \ldots, v_{|F|}$ of the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ of problem (2.7) in $H_0^2(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (2.5)), and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu}\right)^2 = c, \qquad (2.38)$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \phi(\Omega)$.

Proof. Note that $V[\phi] = \int_{\Omega} |\det \nabla \phi| dx$, hence by formula (2.12) it follows that

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}V[\psi] = \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}) \cdot \nu d\sigma, \qquad (2.39)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$. The proof of (2.38) follows immediately by formulas (2.8) and (2.39), and by observing that condition (2.37) is satisfied if and only if there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ (a Lagrange multiplier) such that

$$\mathbf{l}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Lambda_{F,h} = c\,\mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}V.$$

Then, we are led to the following

Ċ

Theorem 2.8. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let *B* be a ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at zero, and let λ be an eigenvalue of problem (2.7) in *B*. Let *F* be the subset of \mathbb{N} of all *j* such that the *j*-th eigenvalue of problem (2.7) in *B* coincides with λ . Let $v_1, \ldots, v_{|F|}$ be an orthonormal basis of the eigenspace associated with the eigenvalue λ , where the orthonormality is taken with respect to the scalar product in $H_0^2(B)$. Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{|F|} v_j^2, \ \sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |\nabla v_j|^2, \ \sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |\Delta v_j|^2, \ \sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |D^2 v_j|^2$$

are radial functions.

Proof. Let $O_N(\mathbb{R})$ denote the group of orthogonal linear transformations in \mathbb{R}^N . Since the Laplace operator is invariant under rotations, then $v_k \circ A$, where $A \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$, is still an eigenfunction with eigenvalue λ ; moreover, $\{v_j \circ A : j = 1, \ldots, |F|\}$ is another orthonormal basis for the eigenspace associate with λ . Since both $\{v_j : j = 1, \ldots, |F|\}$ and $\{v_j \circ A : j = 1, \ldots, |F|\}$ are orthonormal bases, then there exists $R[A] \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$ with matrix $(R_{ij}[A])_{i,j=1,\ldots,|F|}$ such that

$$v_j = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} R_{jl}[A] v_l \circ A.$$
(2.40)

This implies that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{|F|} v_j^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{|F|} (v_j \circ A)^2,$$

from which we get that $\sum_{j=1}^{|F|} v_j^2$ is radial. Moreover, using standard calculus and (2.40), we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |\nabla v_j|^2 = \sum_{l_1, l_2=1}^{|F|} R_{jl_1}[A] R_{jl_2}[A] (\nabla v_{l_1} \circ A) \cdot (\nabla v_{l_2} \circ A) = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |\nabla v_l \circ A|^2.$$

Similarly,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |\Delta v_j|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |\Delta v_j \circ A|^2.$$

On the other hand,

$$D^{2}v_{j} \cdot D^{2}v_{j}$$

$$= \sum_{l_{1},l_{2}=1}^{|F|} R_{jl_{1}}[A]R_{jl_{2}}[A]A^{t} \cdot (D^{2}v_{l_{1}} \circ A) \cdot A \cdot A^{t} \cdot (D^{2}v_{l_{2}} \circ A) \cdot A$$

$$= \sum_{l_{1},l_{2}=1}^{|F|} R_{jl_{1}}[A]R_{jl_{2}}[A]A^{t} \cdot (D^{2}v_{l_{1}} \circ A) \cdot (D^{2}v_{l_{2}} \circ A) \cdot A,$$

therefore

$$|D^{2}v_{j}|^{2} = \operatorname{tr}(D^{2}v_{j} \cdot D^{2}v_{j}) = \sum_{l_{1}, l_{2}=1}^{|F|} R_{jl_{1}}[A]R_{jl_{2}}[A](D^{2}v_{l_{1}} \circ A) : (D^{2}v_{l_{2}} \circ A),$$

from which we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |D^2 v_j|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{|F|} |D^2 v_j \circ A|^2.$$

Remark 2.9. We observe that in the proof of Theorem 2.8 we have never used the fact that the operator P is acting on $H_0^2(B)$, but only its rotation invariance. In fact, the same arguments allow to prove similar results also for problems (2.41), (2.46) and (2.62).

Observing that

$$|D^2 v_l|^2 = (\Delta v_l)^2 = \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2}\right)^2$$

on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ for any l, we get the following

Corollary 2.10. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball. Let $\tilde{\lambda}$ be an eigenvalue of problem (2.7) in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, and let F be the set of $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \tilde{\lambda}$. Then $\Lambda_{F,s}$ has a critical point at $\tilde{\phi}$ with volume constraint, for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$.

2.2 Neumann boundary conditions (free plates)

Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$ and $\tau \ge 0$. The Neumann problem for the biharmonic operator reads

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ (1 - \alpha) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} + \alpha \Delta u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \\ \tau \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} - \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial \nu} - (1 - \alpha) \text{div}_{\partial \Omega} (\nu \cdot D^2 u)_{\partial \Omega} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.41)

where Ω is a bounded domain (i.e., a bounded connected open set) in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and ν is the outer unit normal to $\partial\Omega$. We refer to [42] for the physical derivation of problem (2.41). Note that we need Ω to be at least of class C^2 for the classical formulation to make sense, since we need the normal ν to be differentiable, as can be easily seen from the boundary conditions; however, we shall interpret problem (2.41) in the weak sense of (2.2), in the energy space $V(\Omega) = H^2(\Omega)$. Note also that, differently from Dirichlet

boundary conditions, in this case the partial differential operator associated with problem (2.41) has a is a nontrivial kernel. In fact, if $\tau > 0$, it is easy to see that the kernel is one dimensional and is given by the constants. On the other hand, when $\tau = 0$ the kernel enlarges including all the coordinate functions x_i , i = 1, ..., N. Since we shall use suitable projections in order to get rid of the kernel, for the sake of simplicity in this section we will consider only the case $\tau > 0$, but the same arguments allow to treat the case $\tau = 0$ as well.

We set

$$H^{2,0}(\Omega) := \left\{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \int_{\Omega} u dx = 0 \right\}$$

We consider on $H^2(\Omega)$ the bilinear form (2.5) for any $u, v \in H^2(\Omega)$. One can prove that it defines on $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ a scalar product whose induced norm is equivalent to the standard one defined by (1.10). We shall consider the space $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ endowed with the scalar product (2.5). We denote by π the map from $H^2(\Omega)$ to $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ defined by

$$\pi[u] = u - \frac{\int_{\Omega} u dx}{|\Omega|},$$

for all $u \in H^2(\Omega)$, where $|\Omega|$ denotes the Lebesgue measure of Ω . We denote by π^{\sharp} the map from $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ onto $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ defined by the equality $\pi = \pi^{\sharp} \circ p$, where p is the canonical projection of $H^2(\Omega)$ onto $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$.

We consider the operator P defined by (2.6) as a map from $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ to its dual. Note that, thanks to the Poincaré-Wirtinger Inequality, the norm induced from the quadratic form associated with the operator P is equivalent to the standard one of $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ (as a closed subspace of $H^2(\Omega)$), and therefore it turns out that P is a linear homeomorphism of $H^{2,0}(\Omega)$ onto its dual.

We denote by \mathcal{J} the continuous embedding of $H^2(\Omega)$ into its dual, defined by

$$\mathcal{J}[u][v] := \int_{\Omega} uv dx, \ \forall u, v \in H^2(\Omega)$$

Note that problem (2.41) can be written in the following weak formulation

$$P[u][v] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[u][v], \ \forall v \in H^{2,0}(\Omega).$$

$$(2.42)$$

We define the operator $T := (\pi^{\sharp})^{(-1)} \circ P^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J} \circ \pi^{\sharp}$ from $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ to itself. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.1. **Lemma 2.11.** Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1, \tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T is a non-negative compact selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$. Its spectrum is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $Tu = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in H^{2,0}(\Omega)$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (2.2) is satisfied with $0 \neq \lambda = \mu^{-1}$ for any $\varphi \in H^{2,0}(\Omega)$.

We observe that the whole spectrum of problem (2.41) is given by the non-decreasing sequence $\{\lambda_j[\Omega]\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, where $\lambda_1[\Omega] = 0$ and the other eigenvalues are given by Lemma 2.11 (if $\tau = 0$, then $\lambda_1[\Omega] = \cdots = \lambda_{N+1}[\Omega] = 0$).

2.2.1 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problem (2.41) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_j[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ .

The main result of this section is the following analogue for the biharmonic operator of the results [68, Theorems 2.2 and 2.5] concerning the Neumann Laplacian.

Theorem 2.12. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in $C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^4 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] = -\lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\lambda_F v_l^2 - \tau |\nabla v_l|^2 - (1-\alpha)|D^2 v_l|^2 - \alpha(\Delta v_l)^2\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \quad (2.43)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H^{2,0}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (2.5)) of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

As we have done for Theorem 2.2, in order to prove Theorem 2.12 we consider equation (2.42) on $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . Namely, we consider

the equation

$$P[v][\psi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[v][\psi], \quad \forall \ \psi \in H^{2,0}(\phi(\Omega)), \tag{2.44}$$

in the unknowns $v \in H^{2,0}(\phi(\Omega)), \lambda \in]0, \infty[$. We consider the operator P_{ϕ} as an operator acting from $H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ to its dual, where

$$H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \int_{\Omega} u |\det \nabla \phi| dx = 0 \right\}.$$

We will endow the space $H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ with the form

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\phi} = P_{\phi}[u][v], \ \forall u, v \in H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega).$$

Moreover, we denote by π_{ϕ} the map from $H^2(\Omega)$ to $H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ defined by

$$\pi_{\phi}[u] = u - \frac{\int_{\Omega} u |\text{det}\nabla\phi| dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\text{det}\nabla\phi| dx},$$

and by π_{ϕ}^{\sharp} the map from $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ onto $H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ defined by the equality $\pi_{\phi} = \pi_{\phi}^{\sharp} \circ p$. Note that the map from $H^2(\Omega)$ to $H^2(\phi(\Omega))$ which maps u to $u \circ \phi^{(-1)}$ for all $u \in H^2(\Omega)$ is a linear homeomorphism. We also recall that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][w] = \int_{\Omega} uw |\text{det} \nabla \phi | dx, \ \forall u, w \in H^2(\Omega).$$

Hence, equation (2.42) is equivalent to

$$P_{\phi}[u][\varphi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \ \varphi \in H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$$

where $u = v \circ \phi$. It turns out that the operator T defined in Lemma 2.11 with Ω replaced by $\phi(\Omega)$ is unitarily equivalent to the operator T_{ϕ} defined on $H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ by

$$T_{\phi} := (\pi_{\phi}^{\sharp})^{(-1)} \circ P_{\phi}^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}_{\phi} \circ i \circ \pi_{\phi}^{\sharp}$$

$$(2.45)$$

Thus we have the following lemma, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.3.

Lemma 2.13. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T_{ϕ} defined in (2.45) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $H^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$. The equation (2.44) is satisfied for some $v \in H^{2,0}(\phi(\Omega))$ if and only if the equation $T_{\phi}u = \mu u$ is satisfied with $u = v \circ \phi$ and $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}^2_{Ω} to $\mathcal{L}(H^{2,0}(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{B}_s(H^{2,0}(\Omega))$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ to $(T_{\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{\phi})$ is real-analytic.

Proof of Theorem 2.12. First of all, we note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [51, Thm. 2.20]) $v_l \in H^4(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ for all $l \in F$. We observe that the proof is very similar to that of Teorem 2.2. It only remains to compute

$$< \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u_l], u_l >_{\tilde{\phi}} = d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \mathcal{J}_{\phi} \circ \pi_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_l)] - \lambda_F^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} P_{\phi} \circ \pi_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_l)].$$

By (2.12) we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\mathcal{J}_{\phi}\circ\pi_{\phi}[\psi][u_{l}][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_{l})] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_{l}^{2} \mathrm{div}\zeta dy,$$

see also (2.13). Using Lemmas 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6 we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} P_{\phi} \circ \pi_{\phi}[\psi][u_{l}][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_{l})] \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left((1-\alpha) |D^{2}v_{l}|^{2} + \alpha (\Delta v_{l})^{2} + \tau |\nabla v_{l}|^{2} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- \lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla (v_{l}^{2}) \cdot \zeta dy. \end{aligned}$$

Using formula (2.14) we get formula (2.43).

2.2.2 Isovolumetric perturbations

As in the previous section, we consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the N-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 2.14. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ be such that $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega) \in C^4$ and $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. For $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$, the function $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constraint if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $v_1, \ldots, v_{|F|}$ of the eigenspace corresponding

to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ of problem (2.42) in $H^{2,0}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (2.5)), and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(\lambda_F v_l^2 - \tau |\nabla v_l|^2 - (1-\alpha) |D^2 v_l|^2 - \alpha (\Delta v_l)^2 \right) = c,$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

Using Theorem 2.8 and Remark 2.9 we easily get the following

Corollary 2.15. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball. Let $\tilde{\lambda}$ be an eigenvalue of problem (2.42) in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, and let F be the set of $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \tilde{\lambda}$. Then $\Lambda_{F,s}$ has a critical point at $\tilde{\phi}$ with volume constraint, for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$.

2.3 Intermediate boundary conditions (hinged plates)

Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. The intermediate boundary value problem for the biharmonic operator reads

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ (1 - \alpha) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} + \alpha \Delta u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.46)

where Ω is a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Note that in this case, as for Dirichlet boundary conditions, the kernel is trivial, so the eigenvalues are strictly positive.

Remark 2.16. We observe that the limiting case $\alpha = 1$ gives the so-called Navier problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \Delta u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Note also that, if Ω is either of class C^2 or convex, it is possible to prove coercivity of the associated operator, hence Theorem 1.9 applies. However, if Ω is neither of class C^2 nor convex, coercivity does not hold in general (see e.g., [51] and the references therein).

2.3. Intermediate boundary conditions (hinged plates)

We set $V(\Omega) = H^2(\Omega) \cap H_0^1(\Omega)$ endowed with the form (2.5), for any $u, v \in V(\Omega)$. We observe that, thanks to the Poincaré inequality, such a form is indeed a scalar product in $V(\Omega)$ equivalent to the standard one. Then it is easy to see that the operator P defined in (2.6), for any $u, v \in V(\Omega)$, is a linear homeomorphism from $V(\Omega)$ to its dual. We denote by \mathcal{J} the continuous embedding of $V(\Omega)$ to its dual defined by

$$\mathcal{J}[u][v] = \int_{\Omega} uv dx, \ \forall u, v \in V(\Omega).$$

Note that problem (2.46) can be written in the following weak formulation

$$P[u][v] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[u][v], \ \forall v \in V(\Omega).$$

We define the operator $T = P^{-1} \circ \mathcal{J}$ from $V(\Omega)$ to itself. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.1.

Lemma 2.17. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T is a non-negative selfadjoint compact operator in the Hilbert space $V(\Omega)$. Its spectrum is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $Tu = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in V(\Omega)$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (2.2) is satisfied with $\lambda = \mu^{-1}$ for any $\varphi \in V(\Omega)$.

2.3.1 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problem (2.46) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_j[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ .

The main result of this section is the following theorem (see also Theorems 2.2 and 2.12).

Theorem 2.18. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in $C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\phi \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^4 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] = \lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left((1-\alpha)|D^2 v_l|^2 + \alpha (\Delta v_l)^2 + 2\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_l}{\partial \nu} + 2(1-\alpha)\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nu \cdot D^2 v_l) - \tau \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu}\right)^2 \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \quad (2.47)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \phi^{(-1)}$, and $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $V(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

Moreover, in the case $\alpha = 0, \tau = 0$ we also have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Lambda_{F,s}[\psi] = \lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1}$$
$$\sum_{l\in F} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(2\Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial\nu}\right)^2 - |D^2 v_l|^2 + 2\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial\nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_l}{\partial\nu^3}\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \quad (2.48)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}$ denotes the Laplace-Beltrami operator on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

Proof. Note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [51, Thm. 2.20]) $v_l \in H^4(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ for all $l \in F$.

The first part of the theorem can be proved by adapting that of Theorem 2.2 and using Lemmas 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6. In order to prove formula (2.48), we have to show that, in the case $\alpha = 0$, $\tau = 0$ we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = 2\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\right)\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma$$
$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}D^{2}v_{1}:D^{2}v_{2}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial^{3}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{3}} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial^{3}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{3}}\right)\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma$$
$$+\lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}]\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}v_{1}v_{2}\mathrm{div}\zeta dy. \quad (2.49)$$

We recall that the eigenfunctions v_l satisfy the boundary conditions $v_l = \frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2} = 0$ on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, in particular $\nabla v_l = \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \nu$ on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, for all $l \in F$. Therefore, we can rewrite (2.19) in the following form

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial\Delta v_{2}}{\partial y_{i}} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial\Delta v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}}\right)\frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial y_{i}}dy$$
$$+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial y_{j}}\frac{\partial^{3}v_{2}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}\partial y_{r}} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial y_{j}}\frac{\partial^{3}v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}\partial y_{r}}\right)\frac{\partial\zeta_{r}}{\partial y_{i}}dy$$
$$- 2\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{2} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu}\nabla v_{1}\right)\cdot\nabla\zeta_{r}\nu_{r}d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}D^{2}v_{1}:D^{2}v_{2}\mathrm{div}\zeta dy$$
$$- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_{1}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{2} + \nabla v_{2}\cdot\nabla\Delta v_{1})\mathrm{div}\zeta dy. \quad (2.50)$$

The first summand in (2.50) equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i} \right) \zeta_r dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\Delta^2 v_2 \nabla v_1 + \Delta^2 v_1 \nabla v_2) \zeta dy \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial y_i} \right) \zeta_r dy + \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1 v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_2}{\partial \nu} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_1}{\partial \nu} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1 v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial v_r \partial y_i} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_r \partial y_i} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_i} \right) \zeta_r dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nabla v_1 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_2 + \nabla v_2 \cdot \nabla \Delta v_1) \mathrm{div} \zeta dy. \quad (2.51) \end{split}$$

The second summand in (2.50) equals

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \nu_i \zeta_r d\sigma \\ - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy \end{split}$$

2. Biharmonic operator and plate problems

$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy$$

$$= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \nu_i \zeta_r d\sigma$$

$$- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_2}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta v_1}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy$$

$$+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \operatorname{div} \zeta dy - \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma. \quad (2.52)$$

By combining (2.50)-(2.52), we get that

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}H^{2}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial \nu}\frac{\partial^{3}v_{2}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}\partial y_{r}} + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial \nu}\frac{\partial^{3}v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}\partial y_{r}}\right)\nu_{i}\nu_{j}\zeta_{r}d\sigma$$
$$-2\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial \nu}(\nu \cdot D^{2}v_{2}) + \frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial \nu}(\nu \cdot D^{2}v_{1})\right) \cdot \nabla\zeta_{r}\nu_{r}d\sigma$$
$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^{2}v_{1}: D^{2}v_{2}\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}]\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_{1}v_{2}\mathrm{div}\zeta dy. \quad (2.53)$$

Now we claim that

$$\nu \cdot D^2 v_m = \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_m}{\partial \nu} \text{ on } \partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega), \qquad (2.54)$$

for all $m \in F$, where $\nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}$ denotes the tangential gradient to $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$. Here and in the sequel it is understood that the normal vector field ν is extended to a neighborhood of $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ as a unitary vector field. We have

$$\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial v_m}{\partial\nu} = \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\nabla v_m \cdot \nu) = \nabla(\nabla v_m \cdot \nu) - (\nabla(\nabla v_m \cdot \nu) \cdot \nu)\nu$$

Clearly,

$$(\nabla(\nabla v_m \cdot \nu))_j = \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{\partial v_m}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \nu_i}{\partial y_j} = \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial v_m}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial(\nu_i)^2}{\partial y_j} = \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial v_m}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial(\nu_i)^2}{\partial y_j} = \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial v_m}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial(\nu_i)^2}{\partial y_j} = \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial \nu} = \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial \nu} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial \nu} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial \nu} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_i \partial y_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_i + \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j \partial v_j} \nu_j + \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} = \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} \nu_j + \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} - \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j} \nu_j + \frac{\partial(\nu_m)^2}{\partial v_j$$

on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$. Thus

$$\nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial v_m}{\partial\nu} = \nu \cdot D^2 v_m - (\nu \cdot D^2 v_m \cdot \nu)\nu = \nu \cdot D^2 v_m - \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial\nu^2}\nu = \nu \cdot D^2 v_m,$$
(2.55)

and (2.54) is proved. Now we note that

$$\nabla(\zeta \cdot \nu) = \nu_r \nabla \zeta_r + \zeta_r \nabla \nu_r \quad \text{hence} \quad \nu_r \nabla \zeta_r = \nabla(\zeta \cdot \nu) - \nabla \nu_r \zeta_r. \quad (2.56)$$

By observing that $|\nu|^2 = 1$ implies that $\nu_r \nabla \nu_r = 0$, by (2.54) and (2.56) we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_2) \cdot \nabla \zeta_r \nu_r &= \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla (\zeta \cdot \nu) - \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_r \\ &= \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\zeta \cdot \nu) - \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla \nu_r (\zeta_{\nu,r} + \zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r}) \\ &= \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\zeta \cdot \nu) - \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r}, \end{split}$$

where $\zeta = \zeta_{\nu} + \zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}$, ζ_{ν} is the normal component of ζ and $\zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}$ the tangential one. Hence the second integral in (2.53) equals

$$2\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial\nu} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial\nu}\right) \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r} d\sigma - 2\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial\nu} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial\nu}\right) \cdot \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\zeta \cdot \nu) d\sigma. \quad (2.57)$$

Now we consider the first integral in (2.53), and we recall that

$$\frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \nu_i \nu_j = 0, \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega).$$
(2.58)

By differentiating (2.58) with respect to any tangential direction t to $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ we obtain

$$\frac{\partial^3 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j t_r + 2 \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial \nu_i}{\partial y_r} \nu_j t_r = 0,$$

hence

$$\frac{\partial^3 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j (\zeta \cdot t) t_r = -2 \frac{\partial^2 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial \nu_i}{\partial y_r} \nu_j (\zeta \cdot t) t_r.$$
(2.59)

By taking in (2.59) vectors t belonging to a basis of the tangent hyperplane to $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ and using (2.55), we easily get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial^3 v_m}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j \zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r} &= -2(\nu \cdot D^2 v_m) \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r} \\ &= -2\nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_m}{\partial \nu}\right) \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r}.\end{aligned}$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j \zeta_r d\sigma = \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j (\zeta_{\nu,r} + \zeta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r}) d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j \nu_r \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j \partial y_r} \nu_i \nu_j \zeta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r} d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial \nu^3} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - 2 \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r} d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Hence the first integral in (2.53) is equal to

$$\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial\nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial\nu^3} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial\nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial\nu^3} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - 2 \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial\nu} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial\nu} \right) \cdot \nabla \nu_r \zeta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega),r} d\sigma. \quad (2.60)$$

Finally, by (2.57), (2.60) and by the tangential Green formula (see [46, \S 5.5]), we get that the right-hand side of (2.53) equals

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial \nu^3} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial \nu^3} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- 2 \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \right) \cdot \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\zeta \cdot \nu) d\sigma + \lambda_F [\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1 v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy \\ &= \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_2}{\partial \nu^3} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_1}{\partial \nu^3} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} D^2 v_1 : D^2 v_2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &+ \lambda_F [\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} v_1 v_2 \mathrm{div} \zeta dy + 2 \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial \nu} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma. \end{split}$$

This proves formula (2.49).

We observe that formula (2.47) and formula (2.48) are actually equivalent. In fact, we can get a more general result. We first observe that (2.54)is valid for any function $f \in V(\phi(\Omega))$. Hence, we get

$$\Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} = \operatorname{div}_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_l),$$

and therefore

$$\Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu}\right)^2 = 2 \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \operatorname{div}_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_l) + 2 \left| \nabla_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right|^2.$$

44

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu}\right)^2 &= \Delta_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left|\nabla v_l\right|^2 = \Delta \left|\nabla v_l\right|^2 - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \nu^2} \left|\nabla v_l\right|^2 - K \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} \left|\nabla v_l\right|^2 \\ &= 2\nabla v_l \cdot \nabla \Delta v_l + 2|D^2 v_l|^2 - 2\left|\nu \cdot D^2 v_l\right|^2 - 2\nabla v_l \cdot \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \nu^2} \nabla v_l - 2K\nabla v_l \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} \nabla v_l \\ &= 2\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_l}{\partial \nu} + 2|D^2 v_l|^2 - 2\left|\nu \cdot D^2 v_l\right|^2 - 2\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_l}{\partial \nu^3} - 2K\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2}, \end{split}$$

where K denotes the mean curvature on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$. By observing that

$$\left| \nabla_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right|^2 = \left| \nu \cdot D^2 v_l \right|^2,$$

we have finally proved the following

Theorem 2.19. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 2.18, formula (2.47) is equivalent to the following

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] &= \lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\alpha (\Delta v_l)^2 + 2\alpha \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_l}{\partial \nu} \right. \\ &+ 2(1-\alpha) \Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 + 2(1-\alpha) \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_l}{\partial \nu^3} - 2(1-\alpha) |D^2 v_l|^2 \\ &+ 2K(1-\alpha) \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2} - \tau \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \end{aligned}$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \phi^{(-1)}$, and $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $V(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

2.3.2 Isovolumetric perturbations

As we have done in the previous sections, we consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]= ext{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad ext{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]= ext{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the *N*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 2.20. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau \ge 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ be such that $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega) \in C^4$ and $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. For $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$, the function $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constraint if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $v_1, \ldots, v_{|F|}$ of the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ of problem (2.46) in $V(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$, and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left((1-\alpha) |D^2 v_l|^2 + \alpha (\Delta v_l)^2 + 2 \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_l}{\partial \nu} \right. \\ \left. + 2(1-\alpha) \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \text{div}_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\nu \cdot D^2 v_l) - \tau \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 \right) = c, \end{split}$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, or equivalently

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(\alpha (\Delta v_l)^2 + 2\alpha \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_l}{\partial \nu} + 2(1-\alpha) \Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 + 2(1-\alpha) \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_l}{\partial \nu^3} - 2(1-\alpha) |D^2 v_l|^2 + 2K(1-\alpha) \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2} - \tau \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 \right) = c, \quad (2.61)$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

Then we can prove the following

Theorem 2.21. Let the same assumptions of Theorem 2.18 hold. If $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball then condition (2.61) is satisfied.

Proof. Without loss of generality, let us assume that $\phi(\Omega)$ is a ball B of radius R centered at zero. By Theorem 2.8 and Remark 2.9, we have that that $\sum_{l \in F} v_l^2$, $\sum_{l \in F} |\nabla v_l|^2$, $\sum_{l \in F} (\Delta v_l)^2$ and $\sum_{l \in F} |D^2 v_l|^2$ are radial functions. In particular we get that $\sum_{l \in F} |\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu}|^2$ is constant on ∂B , hence

$$\sum_{l \in F} \Delta_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 = 0, \text{ on } \partial B.$$

The function

$$\frac{\partial^4}{\partial r^4} \sum_{l \in F} v_l^2 = \sum_{l \in F} \left(6 \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial r^2} \right)^2 + 8 \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial r} \frac{\partial^3 v_l}{\partial r^3} + 2 v_l \frac{\partial^4 v_l}{\partial r^4} \right),$$

where r is the radial coordinate, is clearly radial, and using the fact that $\frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2} = \frac{\alpha}{\alpha - 1} \Delta v_l$ on ∂B for any $l \in F$, we obtain that

$$\sum_{l \in F} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^3 v_l}{\partial \nu^3} \text{ is constant on } \partial B.$$

Moreover, the function

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial r} \sum_{l \in F} |\nabla v_l|^2 = \sum_{l \in F} \nabla v_l \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \nabla v_l,$$

is radial, hence

$$\sum_{l \in F} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial^2 v_l}{\partial \nu^2} \quad \text{is constant on} \quad \partial B.$$

Finally, note that

$$\Delta^2 \sum_{l \in F} v_l^2 = \sum_{l \in F} \left(2\lambda_F [\tilde{\phi}] v_l^2 + 2(\Delta v_l)^2 + 4|D^2 v_l|^2 + 6\nabla v_l \cdot \nabla \Delta v_l \right)$$

is radial, thus

$$\sum_{l \in F} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta v_l}{\partial \nu} \quad \text{is constant on } \partial B.$$

This concludes the proof.

2.4 Steklov boundary conditions

Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1, \ \tau \ge 0$. The Steklov problem for the biharmonic operator reads

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ (1 - \alpha) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} + \alpha \Delta u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \\ \tau \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} - \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial \nu} - (1 - \alpha) \text{div}_{\partial \Omega} (\nu \cdot D^2 u)_{\partial \Omega} = \lambda u, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.62)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and ν is the outer unit normal to $\partial\Omega$. We refer to [31] for the physical derivation of problem (2.62). Note that, as for the Neumann problem, we need Ω to be at least of class C^2 for the classical formulation to make sense, since we need the normal ν to be differentiable, as can easily be seen from the boundary conditions; however, we shall interpret problem (2.62) in the weak sense of (2.3). Note also that

the kernel is the same of the Neumann problem. In fact, if $\tau > 0$, it is easy to see that the kernel is one dimensional and is given by the constants. On the other hand, when $\tau = 0$ the kernel enlarges including all the coordinate functions $x_i, i = 1, ..., N$. Since we shall use suitable projections in order to get rid of the kernels, for the sake of simplicity in the sequel we will consider only the case $\tau > 0$, but the same arguments allow to treat the case $\tau = 0$ as well.

We set

$$\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega) := \left\{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \int_{\partial \Omega} u d\sigma = 0 \right\},$$

and we endow this space with the form defined in (2.5). One can prove that the bilinear form (2.5) defines on $\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)$ a scalar product whose induced norm is equivalent to the standard one. We denote by $\tilde{\pi}$ the map of $H^2(\Omega)$ to $\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)$ defined by

$$\tilde{\pi}[u] = u - \frac{\int_{\partial \Omega} u d\sigma}{|\partial \Omega|}$$

for all $u \in \mathcal{H}^2(\Omega)$, where by $|\partial \Omega|$ we mean the N-1 dimensional measure of $\partial \Omega$. We denote by $\tilde{\pi}^{\sharp}$ the map of $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ onto $\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)$ defined by the equality $\tilde{\pi} = \tilde{\pi}^{\sharp} \circ p$, where p is the canonical projection of $H^2(\Omega)$ onto $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$. The operator P defined in (2.6) considered as an operator acting from $\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)$ to its dualis a linear homeomorphism.

We denote by $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}$ the continuous embedding of $H^2(\Omega)$ into its dual defined by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}[u][v] := \int_{\partial \Omega} uv d\sigma, \ \forall u, v \in H^2(\Omega).$$

Note that problem (2.62) can be written in the following weak form

$$P[u][v] = \lambda \tilde{\mathcal{J}}[u][v], \ \forall v \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega).$$
(2.63)

We define the operator $T := (\tilde{\pi}^{\sharp})^{(-1)} \circ P^{(-1)} \circ \tilde{\mathcal{J}} \circ \tilde{\pi}^{\sharp}$ from $\mathcal{H}^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ to itself. We have the following result (see also Lemma 2.11).

Lemma 2.22. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1, \tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T is a non-negative compact selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$. Its spectrum is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $Tu = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (2.2) is satisfied with $0 \neq \lambda = \mu^{-1}$ for any $\varphi \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)$.

We observe that, as for the Neumann problem, the whole spectrum of problem (2.62) is given by the non-decreasing sequence $\{\lambda_j[\Omega]\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, where $\lambda_1[\Omega] = 0$ and the other eigenvalues are given by Lemma 2.22 (if $\tau = 0$, then $\lambda_1[\Omega] = \cdots = \lambda_{N+1}[\Omega] = 0$). We have the following result (cf. Theorem 1.9).

Theorem 2.23. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The eigenvalues of problem (2.62) are non-negative, have finite multiplicity and can be represented as a non-decreasing divergent sequence $\lambda_j[\Omega]$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$ where each eigenvalue is repeated according to its multiplicity. Moreover,

$$\lambda_j[\Omega] = \min_{\substack{E \subset H^2(\Omega) \\ \dim E = j}} \max_{\substack{u \in E \\ u \neq 0}} R[u],$$

for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, where R[u] is the Rayleigh quotient defined by

$$R[u] = \frac{\int_{\Omega} (1-\alpha) |D^2 u|^2 + \alpha |\Delta u|^2 + \tau |\nabla u|^2 dx}{\int_{\partial \Omega} |u|^2 d\sigma}.$$
 (2.64)

As can be inferred, the Steklov problem (2.62) and the Neumann problem (2.41) share several spectral properties. In fact, they are strictly related. Consider the following problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u - \tau \Delta u = \lambda \rho_{\epsilon} u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ (1 - \alpha) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial \nu^2} + \alpha \Delta u = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ \tau \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} - \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial \nu} - (1 - \alpha) \text{div}_{\partial\Omega} (\nu \cdot D^2 u)_{\partial\Omega} = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.65)

where

$$\rho_{\epsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} \epsilon, & \text{if } x \in \Omega_{\epsilon}, \\ \frac{|\partial \Omega| - \epsilon |\Omega_{\epsilon}|}{|\Omega \setminus \overline{\Omega_{\epsilon}}|}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.66)

Here ρ_{ϵ} plays the role of a mass density. The weak formulation of problem (2.65) reads

$$\int_{\Omega} (1-\alpha) D^2 u : D^2 v + \alpha \Delta u \Delta v + \tau \nabla u \cdot \nabla v dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u v \rho_{\epsilon} dx,$$

for any $v \in H^2(\Omega)$. We have the following

Theorem 2.24. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^2 . Let ρ_{ε} be defined as (2.66). Let $\lambda_j(\rho_{\varepsilon})$ be the eigenvalues of problem (2.65) on Ω for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Let λ_j , $j \in \mathbb{N}$ denote the eigenvalues of problem (2.62). Then $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lambda_j(\rho_{\varepsilon}) = \lambda_j$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. For a proof, we refer to [31], where the authors discuss the case $\alpha = 0$ only (see also [32, 69, 73]). However, the argument can be easily adapted to the general case.

Roughly speaking, we may think of the Steklov problem (2.62) as a limiting Neumann problem where the mass is concentrated at the boundary.

2.4.1 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , and let $\operatorname{Tr}_{\Omega}$ be the trace operator from $H^2(\Omega)$ to $L^2(\partial\Omega)$. It is well known that $\operatorname{Tr}_{\Omega}$ is a compact map. We note that any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ is in particular Lipschitz continuous in Ω together with its gradient, and since Ω is of class C^1 , it follows that $\phi \in C^{1,1}(\overline{\Omega})$, in the sense that there exists $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(\phi)$ such that $\phi \in C^{1,1}(\Omega^{\varepsilon})$. Thus $\phi(\Omega)$ is of class C^1 , so a trace operator $\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi(\Omega)}$ is well defined and compact. Moreover, since the map i_{ϕ} from $H^2(\phi(\Omega))$ to $H^2(\Omega)$ which takes $u \in H^2(\phi(\Omega))$ to $u \circ \phi$ is a linear homeomorphism, and $i_{\phi}^{-1} = i_{\phi^{-1}}$, we have that $\operatorname{Tr}_{\phi(\Omega)} = i_{\phi} \circ \operatorname{Tr}_{\Omega} \circ i_{\phi^{-1}}$. Therefore, it is natural to consider problem (2.62) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ and study the dipendence of $\lambda_j[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ , as we have done in the previous sections.

The main result of this section is the following

Theorem 2.25. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in $C_b^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\phi \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\phi]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\phi]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\phi(\Omega)$ is of class C^4 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point ϕ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] = -\lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\lambda_F K v_l^2 + \lambda_F \frac{\partial(v_l)^2}{\partial\nu} - \tau |\nabla v_l|^2 - (1-\alpha)|D^2 v_l|^2 - \alpha(\Delta v_l)^2\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma,$$

for all $\psi \in C^2(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (2.5)) of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

2.4. Steklov boundary conditions

In order to prove Theorem 2.25 we consider equation (2.63) on $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . Namely, we consider the equation

$$P[v][\psi] = \lambda \tilde{\mathcal{J}}[v][\psi], \quad \forall \ \psi \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}(\phi(\Omega)), \tag{2.67}$$

in the unknowns $v \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}(\phi(\Omega)), \lambda \in]0, \infty[$. We consider P_{ϕ} as an operator acting from $\tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ to its dual, where

$$\tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \int_{\partial \Omega} u |\nu(\nabla \phi)^{-1}| |\det \nabla \phi| d\sigma = 0 \right\}.$$

We will endow the space $\tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ with the form

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\phi} = P_{\phi}[u][v], \ \forall u, v \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$$

Moreover, we denote by $\tilde{\pi}_{\phi}$ the map from $H^2(\Omega)$ to $\tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ defined by

$$\tilde{\pi}_{\phi}[u] = u - \frac{\int_{\partial \Omega} u |\nu(\nabla \phi)^{-1}| |\mathrm{det} \nabla \phi| d\sigma}{\int_{\partial \Omega} |\nu(\nabla \phi)^{-1}| |\mathrm{det} \nabla \phi| d\sigma},$$

and by $\tilde{\pi}^{\sharp}_{\phi}$ the map from $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ onto $\tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ defined by the equality $\tilde{\pi}_{\phi} = \tilde{\pi}^{\sharp}_{\phi} \circ p$. We also recall that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{\phi}[u][w] = \int_{\partial\Omega} uw |\nu(\nabla\phi)^{-1}| |\det\nabla\phi| d\sigma, \ \forall u, w \in H^2(\Omega).$$

Hence, equation (2.67) is equivalent to

$$P_{\phi}[u][\varphi] = \lambda \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{\phi}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \ \varphi \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)$$

where $u = v \circ \phi$. It turns out that the operator T defined in Lemma 2.22 with Ω replaced by $\phi(\Omega)$ is unitarily equivalent to the operator T_{ϕ} defined on $\tilde{H}^{2,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ by

$$T_{\phi} := (\tilde{\pi}_{\phi}^{\sharp})^{(-1)} \circ P_{\phi}^{(-1)} \circ \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{\phi} \circ \tilde{\pi}_{\phi}^{\sharp}$$

$$(2.68)$$

Thus we have the following lemma, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.3.

Lemma 2.26. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T_{ϕ} defined in (2.68) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $H^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$. The equation (2.67) is satisfied for some $v \in \tilde{H}^{2,0}(\phi(\Omega))$ if and only if the equation $T_{\phi}u = \mu u$ is satisfied with $u = v \circ \phi$ and $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}^2_{Ω} to $\mathcal{L}(\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{B}_s(\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\Omega))$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ to $(T_{\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{\phi})$ is realanalytic.

Proof of Theorem 2.25. First of all, we note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [51, Thm. 2.20]) $v_l \in H^4(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ for all $l \in F$. We observe that the proof is very similar to that of Teorem 2.12. It only remains to compute

$$\leq \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u_l], u_l >_{\tilde{\phi}} = d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{\phi} \circ \tilde{\pi}_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][\tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_l)] - \lambda_F^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} P_{\phi} \circ \tilde{\pi}_{\phi}[\psi][u_l][\tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_l)].$$

By [62, Lemma 3.3] we have

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{\phi} \circ \tilde{\pi}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{l}][\tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_{l})] \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(Kv_{l}^{2} + \frac{\partial(v_{l}^{2})}{\partial \nu} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla(v_{l}^{2}) \cdot \zeta d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

Using Lemmas 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6 we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} P_{\phi} \circ \tilde{\pi}_{\phi}[\psi][u_{l}][\tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{\phi}}(u_{l})] \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left((1-\alpha) |D^{2}v_{l}|^{2} + \alpha (\Delta v_{l})^{2} + \tau |\nabla v_{l}|^{2} \right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- \lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla (v_{l}^{2}) \cdot \mu d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

This concludes the proof.

2.4.2 Isovolumetric perturbations

As we have done in the previous sections, we consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the N-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 2.27. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ be such that $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega) \in C^4$ and $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. For $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$, the function $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constraint if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $v_1, \ldots, v_{|F|}$ of the eigenspace corresponding

to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ of problem (2.63) in $\tilde{H}^{2,0}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (2.5)), and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(\lambda_F K v_l^2 + \lambda_F \frac{\partial(v_l^2)}{\partial \nu} - \tau |\nabla v_l|^2 - (1-\alpha) |D^2 v_l|^2 - \alpha (\Delta v_l)^2 \right) = c,$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

Using Theorem 2.8 and Remark 2.9, we easily get the following

Corollary 2.28. Let $-\frac{1}{N-1} < \alpha < 1$, $\tau > 0$. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball. Let $\tilde{\lambda}$ be an eigenvalue of problem (2.63) in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, and let F be the set of $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \tilde{\lambda}$. Then $\Lambda_{F,s}$ has a critical point at $\tilde{\phi}$ with volume constraint, for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$.

2.4.3 An isoperimetric inequality for the fundamental tone

In the previous section we have shown that the ball is a critical point for all the elementary symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of problem (2.62). In this section we prove that, if $\alpha = 0$ and $\tau > 0$, the ball is actually a maximizer for the fundamental tone, that is

$$\lambda_2(\Omega) \le \lambda_2(\Omega^*),\tag{2.69}$$

where Ω^* is a ball such that $|\Omega| = |\Omega^*|$. We recall that inequality (2.69) has been proved for the Neumann problem (2.41) in [42], with $\alpha = 0$ and $\tau > 0$.

In the rest of this section we shall consider only the case $\alpha = 0$, and we shall think of τ as a fixed positive constant.

Eigenvalues and eigenfunctions on the ball

We characterize the eigenvalues and the eigenfunctions of (2.62) when $\Omega = B$ is the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at the origin. It is convenient to use spherical coordinates (r, θ) , where $\theta = (\theta_1, ..., \theta_{N-1})$. The corresponding transformation of coordinates is

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= r \cos(\theta_1), \\ x_2 &= r \sin(\theta_1) \cos(\theta_2), \\ \vdots \\ x_{N-1} &= r \sin(\theta_1) \sin(\theta_2) \cdots \sin(\theta_{N-2}) \cos(\theta_{N-1}), \\ x_N &= r \sin(\theta_1) \sin(\theta_2) \cdots \sin(\theta_{N-2}) \sin(\theta_{N-1}), \end{aligned}$$

with $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{N-2} \in [0, \pi], \ \theta_{N-1} \in [0, 2\pi[$ (here it is understood that $\theta_1 \in [0, 2\pi[$ if N = 2)).

The boundary conditions of (2.62) in this case are written as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial r^2}\Big|_{r=1} = 0, \\ \tau \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} - \frac{1}{r^2} \Delta_S \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial r} - \frac{u}{r}\right) - \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial r}\Big|_{r=1} = \lambda u_{|r=1}, \end{cases}$$

where Δ_S is the angular part of the Laplacian. It is well known that the eigenfunctions can be written as a product of a radial part and an angular part (see [42] for details). The radial part is given in terms of ultraspherical modified Bessel functions and powertype functions. The ultraspherical modified Bessel functions $i_l(z)$ and $k_l(z)$ are defined as follows

$$i_l(z) = z^{1-\frac{N}{2}} I_{\frac{N}{2}-1+l}(z),$$

$$k_l(z) = z^{1-\frac{N}{2}} K_{\frac{N}{2}-1+l}(z),$$

for $l \in \mathbb{N}$, where $I_{\nu}(z)$ and $K_{\nu}(z)$ are the modified Bessel functions of first and second kind respectively. We recall that $i_l(z)$ and all its derivatives are positive on $]0, +\infty[$ (see $[1, \S 9.6]$). We recall that the Bessel functions J_{ν} and N_{ν} solve the Bessel equation

$$z^{2}y''(z) + zy'(z) + (z^{2} - \nu^{2})y(z) = 0,$$

while the modified Bessel functions I_{ν} and K_{ν} solve the modified Bessel equation

$$z^{2}y''(z) + zy'(z) + (z^{2} + \nu^{2})y(z) = 0.$$

We have the following

Theorem 2.29. Let Ω be the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at the origin. Any eigenfunction u_l of problem (2.62) is of the form $u_l(r, \theta) = R_l(r)Y_l(\theta)$ where $Y_l(\theta)$ is a spherical harmonic of some order $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$R_l(r) = A_l r^l + B_l i_l(\sqrt{\tau}r),$$

where A_l and B_l are suitable constants such that

$$B_l = \frac{l(1-l)}{\tau i_l''(\sqrt{\tau})} A_l.$$
Moreover, the eigenvalue $\lambda_{(l)}$ associated with the eigenfunction u_l is delivered by formula

$$\lambda_{(l)} = l \Big((1-l) l i_l(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau i_l''(\sqrt{\tau}) \Big)^{-1} \Big[3(l-1) l (l+N-2) i_l(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ - (l-1) \sqrt{\tau} \big(N-1+2Nl+2l(l-2)l+\tau \big) i_l'(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ + \tau \big((l-1)(l+2N-3)+\tau \big) i_l''(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ + (l-1)\tau \sqrt{\tau} i_l'''(\sqrt{\tau}) \Big], \quad (2.70)$$

for any $l \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Solutions of problem (2.62) in the unit ball are smooth (see e.g., [51, Theorem 2.20]). We consider two cases: $\Delta u = 0$ and $\Delta u \neq 0$.

Let u be such that $\Delta u = 0$. The Laplacian can be written in spherical coordinates as

$$\Delta = \partial_{rr} + \frac{N-1}{r}\partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2}\Delta_S.$$

Separating variables so that $u = R(r)Y(\theta)$ we obtain the equations

$$R'' + \frac{N-1}{r}R' - \frac{l(l+N-2)}{r^2}R = 0$$
(2.71)

and

$$\Delta_S Y = -l(l+N-2)Y.$$
 (2.72)

The solutions of equation (2.71) are given by $R(r) = ar^l + br^{2-N-l}$ if $l > 0, N \ge 2$, and by $R(r) = a + b \log(r)$ if l = 0, N = 2. Since the solutions cannot blow up at r = 0, we must impose b = 0. The solutions of the second equation are the spherical harmonics of order l. Then u can be written as

$$u(r,\theta) = a_l r^l Y_l(\theta)$$

for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let us consider now the case $\Delta u \neq 0$. We set $v = \Delta u$ and solve the equation

$$\Delta v = \tau v.$$

By writing $v = R(r)Y(\theta)$ we obtain that R solves the equation

$$R'' + \frac{N-1}{r}R' - \frac{l(l+N-2)}{r^2}R = \tau R,$$
(2.73)

while Y solves equation (2.72). Equation (2.73) is the modified ultraspherical Bessel equation that is solved by the modified ultraspherical Bessel

functions of first and second kind $i_l(\sqrt{\tau}r)$ and $k_l(\sqrt{\tau}r)$. Since the solutions cannot blow up at r = 0, we must choose only $i_l(z)$ since $k_l(z)$ has a singularity at z = 0. Then

$$v(r,\theta) = b_{l_1} i_{l_1} (\sqrt{\tau} r) Y_{l_1}(\theta)$$

for some $l_1 \in \mathbb{N}$. Now $v = \frac{\Delta v}{\tau} = \Delta u$, that is $\Delta(v/\tau - u) = 0$. This means that

$$u(r,\theta) = \frac{b_{l_1}}{\tau} i_{l_1}(\sqrt{\tau}r) Y_{l_1}(\theta) - c_{l_2}r^{l_2}Y_{l_2}(\theta)$$
(2.74)

for some $l_2 \in \mathbb{N}$.

Now we prove that the indexes l_1 and l_2 in (2.74) must coincide. This can be shown by imposing the boundary condition $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial r^2}|_{r=1} = 0$, which can be written as

$$b_{l_1}i_{l_1}''(\sqrt{\tau})Y_{l_1}(\theta) - c_{l_2}l_2(l_2-1)Y_{l_2}(\theta) = 0.$$
(2.75)

If the two indexes do not agree, the coefficients of Y_{l_i} , i = 1, 2 must vanish since spherical harmonics with different indexes are linearly independent on $\partial\Omega$. Since $i''_{l_1}(\sqrt{\tau}) > 0$, this implies $b_{l_1} = 0$ and therefore $l_2 = 0$ or $l_2 = 1$. Then we have

$$u_l(r,\theta) = \left(A_l r^l + B_l i_l(\sqrt{\tau}r)\right) Y_l(\theta), \qquad (2.76)$$

with suitable constants A_l, B_l . In the case $l \neq 0, 1$, again from the boundary condition (2.75) we have

$$l(l-1)A_l + \tau i_l''(\sqrt{\tau})B_l = 0, \qquad (2.77)$$

then $B_l = \frac{l(1-l)}{\tau i_l'(\sqrt{\tau})} A_l$. Note that the formula holds also in the case l = 0, 1 since these indexes correspond to $B_l = 0$.

Finally, let us consider the boundary condition

$$\tau \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} - \frac{1}{r^2} \Delta_S \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial r} - \frac{u}{r} \right) - \frac{\partial \Delta u}{\partial r}\Big|_{r=1} = \lambda u_{|r=1}.$$
 (2.78)

Using in (2.78) the representation of u_l provided by formula (2.76), we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \left(-\lambda + l\left((l-1)(l+N-2)+\tau\right)\right)A_l + \left(-\left(3l(l+N-2)+\lambda\right)i_l(\sqrt{\tau})\right) \\ -\sqrt{\tau}\left((N-1-2Nl-2(l-2)l-\tau\right)i_l'(\sqrt{\tau}) + (N-1)\sqrt{\tau}i_l''(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ +\tau i_l'''(\sqrt{\tau})\right)B_l \end{bmatrix} Y_l(\theta) = \lambda \left(A_l + B_l i_l(\sqrt{\tau})\right)Y_l(\theta).$$

Using equality (2.77) we get that u_l given by (2.76) is an eigenfunction of (2.62) on the unit ball. Moreover, as a consequence, we also get formula (2.70) for the associated eigenvalue. This concludes the proof.

We are ready to state and prove the following theorem concerning the first positive eigenvalue.

Theorem 2.30. Let Ω be the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at the origin. The first positive eigenvalue of (2.62) is $\lambda_2 = \lambda_{(1)} = \tau$. The corresponding eigenspace is generated by the coordinate functions $\{x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_N\}$.

Proof. By Theorem 2.29, $0 = \lambda_{(0)} < \tau = \lambda_{(1)}$. We consider formula (2.70) with l = 2. We have

$$\lambda_{(2)} = 2 \Big(\tau i_2''(\sqrt{\tau}) - 2i_2(\sqrt{\tau}) \Big)^{-1} \Big[6Ni_2(\sqrt{\tau}) - \sqrt{\tau} (5N - 1 + \tau) i_2''(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ + \tau (2N - 1 + \tau) i_2''(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau \sqrt{\tau} i_2'''(\sqrt{\tau}) \Big]. \quad (2.79)$$

In order to prove that $\lambda_{(2)} > \tau$, we use some well known recurrence relations between ultraspherical Bessel functions (see [1, p. 376]),

$$i'_{l}(\sqrt{\tau}) = \frac{l}{\sqrt{\tau}}i_{l}(\sqrt{\tau}) + i_{l+1}(\sqrt{\tau}),$$

$$i''_{l}(\sqrt{\tau}) = \frac{l(l-1)}{\tau}i_{l}(\sqrt{\tau}) + \frac{l+2}{\tau}i_{l+1}(\sqrt{\tau}) + i_{l+2}(\sqrt{\tau}),$$

$$i'''_{l}(\sqrt{\tau}) = \frac{l(l-1)(l-2)}{\tau\sqrt{\tau}}i_{l}(\sqrt{\tau}) + \frac{l(2l+1)}{\tau}i_{l+1}(\sqrt{\tau}) + \frac{2(l+2)}{\sqrt{\tau}}i_{l+2}(\sqrt{\tau}) + i_{l+3}(\sqrt{\tau}).$$

Using these relations in (2.79), we obtain an equivalent formula for $\lambda_{(2)}$,

$$\lambda_{(2)} = 2 \Big(5\sqrt{\tau} i_3(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau i_4(\sqrt{\tau}) \Big)^{-1} \Big[(10N - 2 + 2\tau) i_2(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ + \Big(2 - 10N + (7 + 10N)\sqrt{\tau} - 2\tau + 5\tau\sqrt{\tau} \Big) i_3(\sqrt{\tau}) \\ + \tau (8 + 2N + \tau) i_4(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau\sqrt{\tau} i_5(\sqrt{\tau}) \Big].$$

By well known properties of the functions I_{ν} (see [1, §9]), it follows that $i_l \geq i_{l+1}$ for all $l \in \mathbb{N}$. This implies

$$(10N - 2 + 2\tau)i_2(\sqrt{\tau}) + (2 - 10N + (7 + 10N)\sqrt{\tau} - 2\tau + 5\tau\sqrt{\tau})i_3(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau(8 + 2N + \tau)i_4(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau\sqrt{\tau}i_5(\sqrt{\tau}) \ge (5\tau\sqrt{\tau}i_3(\sqrt{\tau}) + \tau^2i_4(\sqrt{\tau})),$$

then

$$\lambda_{(2)} \ge 2\tau > \tau = \lambda_{(1)}.$$

Now it remains to prove that $\lambda_{(l)}$ is an increasing function of l for $l \geq 2$. We adapt the method used in [42, Theorem 3]. We claim that for any smooth radial function R(r) the Rayleigh quotient

$$\mathcal{Q}(R(r)Y_l(\theta)) = \frac{\int_B |D^2(R(r)Y_l(\theta))|^2 + \tau |\nabla(R(r)Y_l(\theta))|^2 dx}{\int_{\partial B} R(r)^2 Y_l(\theta)^2 d\sigma}$$

is an increasing function of l for $l \ge 2$. We consider the spherical harmonics to be normalized with respect to the $L^2(\partial B)$ scalar product. In particular, we have that the denominator $D[R(r)Y_l(\theta)]$ of $\mathcal{Q}(R(r)Y_l(\theta))$ is $R^2(1)$. For the numerator $N[R(r)Y_l(\theta)]$ of the Rayleigh quotient we have

$$N[R(r)Y_{l}(\theta)] = \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{2k}{r^{4}} \left(rR' - \frac{3}{2}R\right)^{2} + \frac{k(k-N-1/2)}{r^{4}}R^{2} + \tau \frac{kR^{2}}{r^{2}}\right) r^{N-1}dr + \int_{0}^{1} \left((R''^{2}) + \frac{N-1}{r^{2}}(R')^{2} + \tau(R')^{2}\right) r^{N-1}dr,$$

where k = l(l + N - 2). The above expression is increasing in k for $k \ge N + 1/2$ and since k is an increasing function of l, we easily get that each term involving l is an increasing function of l for $l \ge 2$. Thus the claim above is proved.

For each $l \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\lambda_{(l)} = \inf \mathcal{Q}(u) = \inf \frac{\int_B |D^2 u|^2 + \tau |\nabla u|^2 dx}{\int_{\partial B} u^2 d\sigma}, \qquad (2.80)$$

where the infimum is taken among all functions u that are $L^2(\partial B)$ -orthogonal to the first m-1 eigenfunctions u_i and $m \in \mathbb{N}$ is such that $\lambda_{(l)} = \lambda_m$ is the m-th eigenvalue of problem (2.62). The eigenfunctions u_l are of the form $u_l = R_l(r)Y_l(\theta)$, and u_l realizes the infimum in (2.80). Then

$$\lambda_{(l)} = \mathcal{Q}(R_l(r)Y_l(\theta)) \le \mathcal{Q}(R_{l+1}(r)Y_l(\theta)) \le \mathcal{Q}(R_{l+1}(r)Y_{l+1}(\theta)) = \lambda_{(l+1)},$$

where the first inequality follows from the fact that $R_{l+1}(r)Y_l(\theta)$ is also orthogonal with respect to the $L^2(\partial B)$ scalar product to the first m-1eigenfunctions $R_i(r)Y_i(\theta)$ for i = 1, ..., m-1, and then it is a suitable trial function in (2.80). The second inequality follows from the fact that the quotient $\mathcal{Q}(R(r)Y_l(\theta))$ is an increasing function of l, for $l \geq 2$. This concludes the proof.

The isoperimetric inequality

In this section we prove the isoperimetric inequality (2.69). Throughout this section Ω is a bounded domain of class C^1 .

We recall the following lemma from [19].

Lemma 2.31. Let Ω be an open set and let f be a continuous, non-negative, non-decreasing function defined on $[0, +\infty)$. Let us assume that the function

$$t \mapsto (f(t^{1/N}) - f(0))t^{1-(1/N)}$$
 (2.81)

is convex. Then

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} f(|x|) d\sigma \ge \int_{\partial\Omega^*} f(|x|) d\sigma,$$

where Ω^* is the ball centered at zero with the same measure as Ω .

We observe that (2.81) is satisfied for functions of the type t^p , with $p \ge 1$. We need a characterization of the inverse of the eigenvalues of (2.62).

Lemma 2.32. Let Ω be a bounded domain of class C^1 in \mathbb{R}^N . Then the eigenvalues of problem (2.62) on Ω satisfy,

$$\sum_{l=k+1}^{k+N} \frac{1}{\lambda_l(\Omega)} = \max\left\{\sum_{l=k+1}^{k+N} \int_{\partial\Omega} v_l^2 d\sigma\right\},\tag{2.82}$$

where the maximum is taken over the families $\{v_l\}_{l=k+1}^{k+N}$ in $H^2(\Omega)$ satisfying $\int_{\Omega} D^2 v_i : D^2 v_j + \tau \nabla v_i \cdot \nabla v_j dx = \delta_{ij}$, and $\int_{\partial \Omega} v_i u_j d\sigma = 0$ for all i = k + 1, ..., k + N and j = 1, 2, ..., k, where $u_1, u_2, ..., u_k$ are the first k eigenfunctions of problem (2.62).

For a proof of this result we refer to [57] (see also [13]). Now we are ready to prove the isoperimetric inequality.

Theorem 2.33. Among all bounded domains of class C^1 with fixed measure, the ball maximizes the first non-negative eigenvalue of problem (2.62), that is $\lambda_2(\Omega) \leq \lambda_2(\Omega^*)$, where $\lambda_2(\Omega)$ has been defined in (2.64) and Ω^* is a ball with the same measure as Ω .

Proof. Let Ω be a bounded domain of class C^1 in \mathbb{R}^N with the same measure as the unit ball B. We consider in (2.82) l = 2, ..., N+1 and $v_l = (\tau |\Omega|)^{-1/2} x_l$ as trial functions. The trial functions must have zero integral mean over $\partial \Omega$. This can be obtained by a change of coordinates $x = y - \frac{1}{|\partial \Omega|} \int_{\partial \Omega} y d\sigma$. Moreover, the functions v_l satisfy the normalization condition of Lemma 2.32. Then v_l are suitable trial functions to test in formula (2.82). We get

$$\sum_{l=2}^{N+1} \frac{1}{\lambda_l(\Omega)} \ge \frac{1}{\tau |\Omega|} \int_{\partial \Omega} |x|^2 d\sigma.$$

We use Lemma 2.31 with $f(t) = t^2$. This yields

$$\sum_{l=2}^{N+1} \frac{1}{\lambda_l(\Omega)} \geq \frac{1}{\tau |\Omega|} \int_{\partial B} |x|^2 d\sigma = \frac{N|B|}{\tau |B|} = \frac{N}{\tau} = \sum_{l=2}^{N+1} \frac{1}{\lambda_l(B)}.$$

This concludes the proof in the case Ω has the same measure as the unit ball. The proof for general finite values of $|\Omega|$ relies on the well known scaling properties of the eigenvalues. Namely, for all $\alpha > 0$, if we write an eigenvalue of problem (2.62) as $\lambda(\tau, \Omega)$, we have

$$\lambda(\tau, \Omega) = \alpha^4 \lambda(\alpha^{-2}\tau, \alpha \Omega).$$

This is easy to prove by looking at the variational characterization of $\lambda(\tau, \Omega)$ and $\lambda(\alpha^{-2}\tau, \alpha\Omega)$ and performing a change of variable $x \mapsto x/\alpha$ in the Rayleigh quotient (2.64). This last observation concludes the proof of the theorem.

Chapter 3

The Dirichlet problem for the polyharmonic operators

In this chapter we consider the following eigenvalue problem

$$\mathcal{P}_{nm}: \begin{cases} (-\Delta)^n u = \lambda (-\Delta)^m u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = \dots = \frac{\partial^{n-1} u}{\partial \nu^{n-1}} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where $n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $0 \leq m < n$, Ω is a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and ν denotes the outer unit normal to $\partial\Omega$. The case m = 0corresponds to the well known eigenvalue problem for the polyharmonic operator $(-\Delta)^n$ subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions, while the case m > 0 represents a buckling-type problem. These cases include important problems in linear elasticity. For instance, for N = 2, \mathcal{P}_{10} arises in the study of a vibrating membrane stretched in a fixed frame, \mathcal{P}_{20} corresponds to the case of a vibrating clamped plate and \mathcal{P}_{21} is related to plate buckling.

We consider the weak formulation of problem (3.1). To do so, for any $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $0 \leq m \leq n$, we consider the polyharmonic operator Δ^m as the operator from $H_0^n(\Omega)$ to its dual which takes any $u \in H_0^n(\Omega)$ to the functional $\Delta^m[u]$ defined by

$$\Delta^{2s}[u][\varphi] = \int_{\Omega} \Delta^{s} u \Delta^{s} \varphi dx, \quad \forall \varphi \in H_{0}^{n}(\Omega),$$

if m = 2s and

$$\Delta^{2s+1}[u][\varphi] = -\int_{\Omega} \nabla(\Delta^s u) \cdot \nabla(\Delta^s \varphi) dx, \quad \forall \varphi \in H^n_0(\Omega)$$

if m = 2s + 1, where $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Thus, the weak formulation of the classic problem (3.1) reads

$$(-\Delta)^{n}[u][\varphi] = \lambda(-\Delta)^{m}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \varphi \in H_{0}^{n}(\Omega).$$
(3.2)

By the Poincaré inequality, it follows that the quadratic form defined by $(-\Delta)^n[u][u]$ for all $u \in H_0^n(\Omega)$ is coercive in $H_0^n(\Omega)$, hence the operator $(-\Delta)^n$ is a linear homeomorphism from $H_0^n(\Omega)$ onto $(H_0^n(\Omega))'$. Thus equation (3.2) is equivalent to the equation $(-\Delta)^{-n} \circ (-\Delta)^m[u] = \lambda^{-1}u$, where $(-\Delta)^{-n}$ denotes the inverse of $(-\Delta)^n$. It is convenient to endow the space $H_0^n(\Omega)$ with the scalar product defined by

$$\langle u_1, u_2 \rangle_n = (-\Delta)^n [u_1] [u_2],$$
(3.3)

for all $u_1, u_2 \in H_0^n(\Omega)$. The norm induced by this scalar product is equivalent to the standard norm (1.10). In this chapter, unless otherwise indicated, we shall think of $H_0^n(\Omega)$ as a Hilbert space equipped with the scalar product (3.3). This allows to give a straightforward proof of the following

Lemma 3.1. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and $m, n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $0 \leq m < n$. The operator $S_\Omega \equiv (-\Delta)^{-n} \circ (-\Delta)^m$ is a non-negative selfadjoint compact operator in the Hilbert space $H_0^n(\Omega)$. The spectrum of S_Ω is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $S_\Omega u = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in H_0^n(\Omega)$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (3.2) is satisfied with $\lambda = \mu^{-1}$.

Proof. The equality $\langle S_{\Omega}u_1, u_2 \rangle_n = (-\Delta)^m [u_1][u_2]$, for all $u_1, u_2 \in H_0^n(\Omega)$ and the symmetry of the operator $(-\Delta)^m$ implies that S_{Ω} is a selfadjoint operator. Since Ω is bounded and m < n, the space $H_0^n(\Omega)$ is compactly embedded into $H_0^m(\Omega)$. This implies that the operator $(-\Delta)^m$ is a compact operator from the space $H_0^n(\Omega)$ to its dual. The rest of the proof is trivial.

By Lemma 3.1 and standard spectral theory we deduce the following variational characterization of the eigenvalues of problem (3.1) (see also Theorems 1.9, 2.64).

Corollary 3.2. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $0 \leq m < n$. The eigenvalues of problem (3.2) are positive, have finite multiplicity and can be represented as a non-decreasing divergent sequence

3.1. Analyticity results

 $\lambda_j[\Omega], j \in \mathbb{N}$ where each eigenvalue is repeated according to its multiplicity. Moreover,

$$\lambda_j[\Omega] \equiv \lambda_j^{n,m}[\Omega] = \min_{\substack{E \subset H_0^n(\Omega) \\ \dim E = j}} \max_{\substack{u \in E \\ u \neq 0}} R_{nm}[u],$$

for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, where $R_{nm}[u]$ is the Rayleigh quotient defined by

$$R_{nm}[u] = \begin{cases} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\Delta^r u|^2 dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\Delta^s u|^2 dx}, & \text{if } n = 2r, \qquad m = 2s, \\ \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\Delta^r u|^2 dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Delta^s u|^2 dx}, & \text{if } n = 2r, \qquad m = 2s+1, \\ \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Delta^r u|^2 dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\Delta^s u|^2 dx}, & \text{if } n = 2r+1, \qquad m = 2s, \\ \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Delta^r u|^2 dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Delta^s u|^2 dx}, & \text{if } n = 2r+1, \qquad m = 2s+1. \end{cases}$$

Clearly, the eigenvalues $\lambda_j^{n,m}[\Omega]$ depend on n, m. However, for the sake of simplicity, we shall write $\lambda_j[\Omega]$ instead of $\lambda_j^{n,m}[\Omega]$.

3.1 Analyticity results

The main result of this section is the following generalization to polyharmonic operators on smooth domains of the results in [64, \S 3] concerning the Dirichlet Laplacian (see also Theorem 2.2).

Theorem 3.3. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , $n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $0 \leq m < n$, and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in $C_b^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^{2n} then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Lambda_{F,s}[\psi] = -\lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^n v_l}{\partial\nu^n}\right)^2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \qquad (3.4)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H_0^n(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ (with respect to the scalar product (3.3)) of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

Note that formula (3.4) is a generalization of the celebrated Hadamard formula. We refer to [53] for a recent paper on this topic.

In order to prove Theorem 3.3 we consider equation (3.2) on $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . Namely, we consider the equation

$$(-\Delta)^{n}[v][\psi] = \lambda(-\Delta)^{m}[v][\psi], \quad \forall \ \psi \in H_{0}^{n}(\phi(\Omega)),$$
(3.5)

in the unknowns $v \in H_0^n(\phi(\Omega)), \lambda \in]0, \infty[$. Recall that the pull-back to Ω of the classic Laplace operator on $\phi(\Omega)$ is defined by

$$\Delta_{\phi} u = (\Delta(u \circ \phi^{(-1)})) \circ \phi$$

for all $u \in W^{2,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$, $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^2_{\Omega}$. The operator Δ_{ϕ} is in fact the Laplace-Beltrami operator associated with the change of variables defined by ϕ . Note that

$$\Delta^s_{\phi} u = (\Delta^s (u \circ \phi^{(-1)})) \circ \phi$$

for all $u \in W^{2s,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$, $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^{2s}_{\Omega}$. For any $0 \leq m \leq n$, the operator Δ^m_{ϕ} can be considered as the operator acting from $H^n_0(\Omega)$ to its dual, which takes any $u \in H^n_0(\Omega)$ to the functional $\Delta^n_{\phi}[u]$ defined by

$$\Delta_{\phi}^{m}[u][\varphi] = \Delta^{m}[u \circ \phi^{(-1)}][\varphi \circ \phi^{(-1)}],$$

for all $\varphi \in H_0^n(\Omega)$. More precisely, if $m = 2s, s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ then

$$\Delta_{\phi}^{2s}[u][\varphi] = \int_{\Omega} \Delta_{\phi}^{s} u \Delta_{\phi}^{s} \varphi |\det \nabla \phi| dx, \qquad (3.6)$$

for all $\varphi \in H_0^n(\Omega)$. If $m = 2s + 1, s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ then

$$-\Delta_{\phi}^{2s+1}[u][\varphi] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla(\Delta_{\phi}^{s}u) \ (\nabla\phi)^{-1} (\nabla\phi)^{-t} \nabla^{t} (\Delta_{\phi}^{s}\varphi) |\det\nabla\phi| dx, \qquad (3.7)$$

for all $\varphi \in H_0^n(\Omega)$, where $(\nabla \phi)^{-1}$ denotes the inverse of the Jacobian matrix of ϕ and $(\nabla \phi)^{-t}$ the transpose of $(\nabla \phi)^{-1}$. Note that the map from $H_0^n(\Omega)$ to $H_0^n(\phi(\Omega))$ which maps u to $u \circ \phi^{(-1)}$ for all $u \in H_0^n(\Omega)$ is a linear homeomorphism. Hence, equation (3.5) is equivalent to

$$(-\Delta_{\phi})^{n}[u][\varphi] = \lambda(-\Delta_{\phi})^{m}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \ \varphi \in H_{0}^{n}(\Omega)$$

where $u = v \circ \phi$. It is also natural to pull-back the scalar product of $H_0^n(\phi(\Omega))$ to Ω by setting

$$< u_1, u_2 >_{n,\phi} = < u_1 \circ \phi^{(-1)}, u_2 \circ \phi^{(-1)} >_n$$

for all $u_1, u_2 \in H_0^n(\Omega)$, where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_n$ is the scalar product in $H_0^n(\phi(\Omega))$ defined by (3.3). By $H_{0,\phi}^n(\Omega)$ we denote the Hilbert space $H_0^n(\Omega)$ endowed with the scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{n,\phi}$. It turns out that the operator $S_{\phi(\Omega)}$ defined in Lemma 3.1 is unitarily equivalent to the operator T_{ϕ} defined on $H_{0,\phi}^n(\Omega)$ by

$$T_{\phi} = (-\Delta_{\phi})^{-n} \circ (-\Delta_{\phi})^{m}. \tag{3.8}$$

Thus we have the following lemma, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.3.

Lemma 3.4. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , $n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $0 \leq m < n$. The operator T_{ϕ} defined in (3.8) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $H_{0,\phi}^n(\Omega)$. Equation (3.5) is satisfied for some $v \in H_0^n(\phi(\Omega))$ if and only if the equation $T_{\phi}u = \mu u$ is satisfied with $u = v \circ \phi$ and $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}_{Ω}^n to $\mathcal{L}(H_0^n(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{B}_s(H_0^n(\Omega))$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^n$ to $(T_{\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{n,\phi})$ is real-analytic.

Proof of Theorem 3.3. First of all, we note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [8, Thm. 9.8]) $v_l \in H^{2n}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ for all $l \in F$. We observe that the proof is very similar to that of Teorem 2.2. It only remains to compute

$$< \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u_l], u_l >_{n, \tilde{\phi}}.$$

By standard calculus and Theorem 3.8 below we have

$$\begin{aligned} < \mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u_{l}], u_{l} >_{n,\tilde{\phi}} \\ &= (\mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} (-\Delta_{\phi})^{m}[\psi])[u_{l}][u_{l}] - \lambda_{F}^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}](\mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} (-\Delta_{\phi})^{n}[\psi])[u_{l}][u_{l}] \\ &= -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{m}v_{l}}{\partial\nu^{m}}\right)^{2} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - 2\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (-\Delta)^{m}v_{l}\nabla v_{l} \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &+ \lambda_{F}^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{n}v_{l}}{\partial\nu^{n}}\right)^{2} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + 2\lambda_{F}^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (-\Delta)^{n}v_{l}\nabla v_{l} \cdot \zeta d\sigma \\ &= \lambda_{F}^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^{n}v_{l}}{\partial\nu^{n}}\right)^{2} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \end{aligned}$$

where we have set $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$. This concludes the proof.

3.2 Isovolumetric perturbations

As we have done in the previous chapter, we consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the N-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 3.5. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , $n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $0 \leq m < n$, and F be a finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Assume that $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^{2n} and that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ have the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. Let $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ be an orthornormal basis in $H^n_0(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ of the eigenspace corresponding to $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$. Then $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical domain transformation for any of the functions $\Lambda_{F,h}$, $h = 1, \ldots, |F|$, with volume constraint if and only if there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l \in F} \left| \frac{\partial^n v_l}{\partial \nu^n} \right|^2 = c, \quad \text{on } \partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega) \,. \tag{3.9}$$

Finally, we can prove the following

Theorem 3.6. Let the same assumptions of Theorem 3.5 hold. If $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball then condition (3.9) is satisfied.

Proof. Without any loss of generality, we assume that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball with radius R centered at zero. By the rotation invariance of the Laplace operator, $\{v_l \circ A\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis of the eigenspace corresponding to $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $A \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$ where $O_N(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the group of orthogonal linear transformations in \mathbb{R}^N . Since both $\{v_l\}_{l \in F}$ and $\{v_l \circ A\}_{l \in F}$ are orthonormal bases of the same space, it follows that $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} v_l^2 \circ A = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} v_l^2$, for all $A \in O_n(\mathbb{R})$. Thus $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} v_l^2$ is a radial function. By differentiating with respect to the radial coordinate r, by Leibniz's formula and by recalling that all derivatives up to order n-1 of the eigenfunctions vanish at the boundary of $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, we obtain that

$$\frac{\partial^{2n} v_l^2}{\partial r^{2n}} \bigg|_{r=R} = \sum_{k=0}^{2n} \binom{2n}{k} \left(\frac{\partial^k v_l}{\partial r^k} \frac{\partial^{2n-k} v_l}{\partial r^{2n-k}} \right) \bigg|_{r=R} = \binom{2n}{n} \left(\frac{\partial^n v_l}{\partial r^n} \right)^2 \bigg|_{r=R}.$$
(3.10)

Since $\sum_{l \in F} \frac{\partial^{2n} v_l^2}{\partial r^{2n}}$ is a radial function, then by formula (3.10) we conclude that $\sum_{l \in F} (\frac{\partial^n v_l}{\partial \nu^n})^2$ is constant on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

3.3 A formula for the Frechét differential of the 'poly-Laplace-Beltrami' operator

In this section we prove Theorem 3.8 which has its own interest since it provides an explicit formula for the Frechét differential with respect to ϕ of the weak 'poly-Laplace-Beltrami' operator Δ_{ϕ}^{n} defined by (3.6), (3.7). That formula has been used in the proof of (3.4).

Lemma 3.7. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , $s \in \mathbb{N}$, $u_1 \in L^2(\Omega)$, $u_2 \in H^{2s}_0(\Omega)$. Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^{2s}_\Omega$ and $v_i = u_i \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$, i = 1, 2. Assume that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^1 and that $v_1 \in H^{2s}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$, $v_2 \in H^{2s+1}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$. Then

$$\int_{\Omega} u_1 \mathrm{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \Delta_{\phi}^s [\psi] u_2 |\mathrm{det} \nabla \tilde{\phi}| dx$$
$$= \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (v_1 \nabla \Delta^s v_2 - \Delta^s v_1 \nabla v_2) \cdot \zeta dy - \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (v_1 \Delta^s v_2) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \quad (3.11)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^{2s}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$.

Proof. First, we recall the following formula from [63, Lemma 3.42] which holds for any $u \in H^2(\Omega)$:

$$(\mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}[\psi]u)\circ\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)} = -2\sum_{i,j=1}^{N}\frac{\partial^{2}(u\circ\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)})}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{j}}\frac{\partial\zeta_{j}}{\partial y_{i}} - \sum_{j=1}^{N}\frac{\partial(u\circ\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)})}{\partial y_{j}}\Delta\zeta_{j}.$$
(3.12)

We also observe that

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{s}[\psi] = \sum_{\substack{h,k=0\\h+k=s-1}}^{s-1} \Delta_{\tilde{\phi}}^{h} \circ (d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}[\psi]) \circ \Delta_{\tilde{\phi}}^{k}.$$
 (3.13)

By formulas (3.12) and (3.13), by changing variables in integrals and integrating by parts, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} u_1 \mathrm{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \Delta_{\phi}^s [\psi] u_2 |\mathrm{det} \nabla \tilde{\phi}| dx \\ &= -\sum_{\substack{h,k=0\\h+k=s-1}}^{s-1} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta^h v_1 \left(2 \sum_{i,j=1}^N \frac{\partial^2 \Delta^k v_2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_j}{\partial y_i} + \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{\partial \Delta^k v_2}{\partial y_j} \Delta \zeta_j \right) dy \\ &= \sum_{\substack{h,k=0\\h+k=s-1}}^{s-1} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \sum_{i,j=1}^N \left[\frac{\partial \Delta^h v_1}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \Delta^k v_2}{\partial y_j} \left(\frac{\partial \zeta_j}{\partial y_i} + \frac{\partial \zeta_i}{\partial y_j} \right) \right] dy \end{split}$$

3. The Dirichlet problem for the polyharmonic operators

$$-\sum_{\substack{h,k=0\\h+k=s-1}}^{s-1} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\Delta^h v_1 \Delta^{k+1} v_2 + \nabla \Delta^h v_1 \nabla \Delta^k v_2) \operatorname{div} \zeta \, dy, \qquad (3.14)$$

see also [63, Formula (3.45)]. Moreover, integrating by parts yields

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \Delta^{h} v_{1}}{\partial y_{i}} \frac{\partial \Delta^{k} v_{2}}{\partial y_{j}} \left(\frac{\partial \zeta_{j}}{\partial y_{i}} + \frac{\partial \zeta_{i}}{\partial y_{j}} \right) dy = -\int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta^{h} v_{1} \Delta^{k+1} v_{2} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$
$$+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta^{h} v_{1} \nabla \Delta^{k+1} v_{2} \cdot \zeta dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta^{h} v_{1} \Delta^{k+1} v_{2} \mathrm{div} \zeta dy$$
$$+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla \Delta^{h} v_{1} \cdot \nabla \Delta^{k} v_{2} \mathrm{div} \zeta dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta^{h+1} v_{1} \nabla \Delta^{k} v_{2} \cdot \zeta dy. \quad (3.15)$$

By observing that the first summand in the right-hand side of (3.15) vanish if k < s-1, and by combining (3.14) and (3.15), we obtain a telescopic sum and we deduce the validity of (3.11).

Theorem 3.8. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $u_1, u_2 \in H_0^n(\Omega)$. Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\Omega}^n$ and $v_i = u_i \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$, i = 1, 2. Assume that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^1 and that $v_1, v_2 \in H^{2n}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$. Then

$$(\mathbf{d}|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(-\Delta_{\phi})^{n}[\psi])[u_{1}][u_{2}] = -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^{n}v_{1}}{\partial\nu^{n}} \frac{\partial^{n}v_{2}}{\partial\nu^{n}} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$
$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} ((-\Delta)^{n}v_{1}\nabla v_{2} + (-\Delta)^{n}v_{2}\nabla v_{1}) \cdot \zeta dy, \quad (3.16)$$

for all $\psi\in C^n_b(\Omega\,;\mathbb{R}^N),$ where $\zeta=\psi\circ\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$.

Proof. First, we consider the case where n is an even number of the form n = 2s with $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$. By formula (3.6) and standard calculus we have

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{2s}[\psi][u_1][u_2] &= \int_{\Omega} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^s[\psi]u_1\Delta_{\tilde{\phi}}^su_2|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &+ \int_{\Omega}\Delta_{\tilde{\phi}}^su_1d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^s[\psi]u_2|\det D\tilde{\phi}|dx \\ &+ \int_{\Omega}\Delta_{\tilde{\phi}}^su_1\Delta_{\tilde{\phi}}^su_2d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}|\det D\phi|[\psi]dx. \end{aligned}$$
(3.17)

Moreover, by (2.12) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \Delta^{s}_{\tilde{\phi}} u_1 \Delta^{s}_{\tilde{\phi}} u_2 d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} |\det D\phi| [\psi] dx = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta^{s} \tilde{v}_1 \Delta^{s} \tilde{v}_2 \operatorname{div} \zeta dy.$$
(3.18)

68

Formula (3.16) easily follows by combining formulas (3.11), (3.17), (3.18), by integrating by parts and by observing that $\Delta^s v_i = \frac{\partial^{2s} v_i}{\partial \nu^{2s}}$ on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ since $v_i \in H_0^{2s}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$.

Now, we consider the case where n is an odd number of the form n = 2s + 1 with $s \in \mathbb{N}_0$. By formula (3.7) and standard calculus we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{2s+1}[\psi][u_{1}][u_{2}] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla\Delta^{s} v_{1}(\nabla\zeta + \nabla^{t}\zeta)\nabla^{t}\Delta^{s} v_{2}dy$$
$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla\Delta^{s} v_{1}\nabla\Delta^{s} v_{2}\mathrm{div}\zeta dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla\Delta^{s} v_{1}\nabla\left((d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{s}[\psi]u_{2})\circ\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}\right)dy$$
$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla\left((d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\Delta_{\phi}^{s}[\psi]u_{1})\circ\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}\right)\nabla\Delta^{s} v_{2}dy. \quad (3.19)$$

Moreover, integrating by parts yields

.

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla \Delta^s v_1 (\nabla \zeta + \nabla^t \zeta) \nabla^t \Delta^s v_2 dy \\ &= \sum_{h,k=1}^N \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \zeta_h}{\partial y_k} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_1}{\partial y_h} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_2}{\partial y_k} + \frac{\partial \zeta_k}{\partial y_h} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_1}{\partial y_h} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_2}{\partial y_k} \right) dx \\ &= 2 \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_2}{\partial \nu} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- \sum_{h,k=1}^N \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \Delta^s v_1}{\partial y_h \partial y_k} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_2}{\partial y_k} \zeta_h + \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_1}{\partial y_h} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta^s v_2}{\partial y_k} \zeta_h \right) dy \\ &- \sum_{h,k=1}^N \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \Delta^s v_1}{\partial y_h^2} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_2}{\partial y_k} \zeta_k + \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_1}{\partial y_h} \frac{\partial^2 \Delta^s v_2}{\partial y_h \partial y_k} \zeta_k \right) dy \\ &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_1}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \Delta^s v_2}{\partial \nu} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla \Delta^s v_1 \nabla \Delta^s v_2 div \zeta dy \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\Delta^{s+1} v_1 \nabla \Delta^s v_2 + \Delta^{s+1} v_2 \nabla \Delta^s v_1) \cdot \zeta dy. \end{split}$$

By integrating by parts, changing variables in integrals and using formula (3.11), we obtain

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla \Delta^s v_i \nabla \left((d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \Delta^s_{\phi}[\psi] u_j) \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)} \right) dy$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \Delta^{s+1}_{\tilde{\phi}} u_i d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \Delta^s_{\phi}[\psi] u_j |\det \nabla \tilde{\phi}| dx$$

3. The Dirichlet problem for the polyharmonic operators

$$= -\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} (\Delta^{s+1} v_i \nabla \Delta^s v_j - \Delta^{2s+1} v_i \nabla v_j) \cdot \zeta dy \quad (3.20)$$

for all $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$. Finally, formula (3.16) easily follows by combining formulas (3.19)-(3.20) and by observing that $\frac{\partial \Delta^s v_i}{\partial \nu} = \frac{\partial^{2s+1} v_i}{\partial \nu^{2s}}$ on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ since $v_i \in H_0^{2s+1}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$.

Chapter 4

Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations

In this chapter we consider the eigenvalue problem (1.13) and prove quantitative estimates for the eigenvalues. In particular, we show that the arguments used in [38, 39] can be easily adapted to the general case of systems of partial differential equations.

Note that the classical formulation of problem (1.13) is

$$\sum_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le l} \sum_{i=1}^m (-1)^{|\beta|} D^{\beta}(A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} D^{\alpha} u_i) = \lambda u_j, \ j = 1, \dots, m,$$

with suitable homogeneous boundary conditions depending on the choice of the space $V(\Omega) \subset W^{l,2}(\Omega)$.

We recall that problem (1.13) includes several important problems in linear elasticity, e.g., the Lamé system (5.3), and more generally problem (5.1) discussed in Chapter 5. Also the Reissner-Mindlin system (6.1) is a special case of problem (1.13). Clearly, also scalar problems are included: in fact, this is the case m = 1. Therefore, problem (2.2) discussed in Chapter 2 and problem \mathcal{P}_{n0} (3.1) can be considered as well.

In this chapter, we shall think the coefficients $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ as fixed and satisfying some or all the conditions (1.14)-(1.16). Moreover, we shall consider problem (1.13) under Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions only, i.e., the space $V(\Omega)$ will be either $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega)$ or $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$. In particular, by $\varphi_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega]$, $\varphi_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega]$ we shall denote an orthonormal sequence of eigenfunctions associated with $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega]$, $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega]$ respectively. We shall also denote by $H_{W_{n,\mathcal{D}}^{l,2}(\Omega)}$, $H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega)}$ respectively the corresponding operators. When no distinction between the Dirichlet and the Neumann case is required and we refer to both problems, we shall simply write $\lambda_n[\Omega]$, $\varphi_n[\Omega]$, H_Ω to indicate the eigenvalues and the corresponding eigenfunctions and operators.

4.1 Estimates via diffeomorphisms

Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N , and let ϕ be a diffeomorphism of Ω into $\phi(\Omega)$. In this section we provide a few estimates for the difference $|\lambda_n[\Omega] - \lambda_n[\phi(\Omega)]|$, which will be useful in the sequel.

We have the following lemma (cf. [38, Lemma 4.1]).

Lemma 4.1. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, $B_1, B_2 > 0$ and ϕ be a diffeomorphism of Ω onto $\phi(\Omega)$ of class C^l such that

$$\max_{|\alpha| \le l} |D^{\alpha}\phi(x)| \le B_1, \quad |\det \nabla \phi(x)| \ge B_2, \tag{4.1}$$

for all $x \in \Omega$. Let $B_3 > 0$ and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ be measurable real-valued functions defined on $\Omega \cup \phi(\Omega)$ satisfying

$$\max_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le l, \ i,j \le m} |A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}(x)| \le B_3, \tag{4.2}$$

for almost all $x \in \Omega \cup \phi(\Omega)$. Then there exists a positive constant $c = c(N, l, m, B_1, B_2, B_3)$ such that

$$\left|Q_{\phi(\Omega)}(u \circ \phi^{(-1)}) - Q_{\Omega}(u)\right| \le c\mathcal{L}(\phi) \int_{\Omega} \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} |D^{\alpha}u|^2 dx, \qquad (4.3)$$

for all $u \in W^{l,2}(\Omega)^m$, where

$$\mathcal{L}(\phi) = \max_{|\alpha| \le l} \|D^{\alpha}(\phi - \mathrm{Id})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} + \max_{|\alpha|, |\beta| \le l, \ i,j \le m} \|A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \circ \phi - A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}.$$

Proof. By changing variables and using a known formula for high derivatives

of composite functions (cf. e.g., [49, Formula B]), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{\phi(\Omega)}(u \circ \phi^{(-1)}) &= \int_{\phi(\Omega)} \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l \\ i,j \leq m}} A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} D^{\alpha}(u_i \circ \phi^{(-1)}) D^{\beta}(u_j \circ \phi^{(-1)}) dy \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l \\ i,j \leq m}} \left(A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} D^{\alpha}(u_i \circ \phi^{(-1)}) D^{\beta}(u_j \circ \phi^{(-1)}) \right) \circ \phi |\det \nabla \phi| dx \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l \\ i,j \leq m}} A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \circ \phi \sum_{\substack{|\eta| \leq |\alpha| \\ |\xi| \leq |\beta|}} D^{\eta} u_i D^{\xi} u_j \ (p_{\alpha\eta}(\phi^{(-1)}) p_{\beta\xi}(\phi^{(-1)})) \circ \phi |\det \nabla \phi| dx \\ &= \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l \\ i,j \leq m}} \sum_{\substack{|\eta| \leq |\alpha| \\ |\xi| \leq |\beta|}} \int_{\Omega} (A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} p_{\alpha\eta}(\phi^{(-1)}) p_{\beta\xi}(\phi^{(-1)})) \circ \phi D^{\eta} u_i D^{\xi} u_j \ |\det \nabla \phi| dx, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.4)$$

for all $u \in W^{l,2}(\Omega)^m$, where for all α, η with $|\eta| \leq |\alpha| \leq l$, $p_{\alpha\eta}(\phi^{(-1)})$ denotes a polynomial of degree $|\eta|$ in derivatives of $\phi^{(-1)}$ of order between 1 and $|\alpha|$, with coefficients depending only on N, α, η .

We recall that for each α with $|\alpha| \leq l$ there exists a polynomial $p_{\alpha}(\phi)$ in derivatives of ϕ of order between 1 and $|\alpha|$, with coefficients depending only on N, α , such that

$$(D^{\alpha}\phi^{(-1)})\circ\phi = \frac{p_{\alpha}(\phi)}{(\det\nabla\phi)^{2|\alpha|-1}}.$$
(4.5)

Using (4.4), in order to get inequality (4.3) it is enough to estimate the expressions

$$(A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}p_{\alpha\eta}(\phi^{(-1)})p_{\beta\xi}(\phi^{(-1)})) \circ \phi |\det \nabla \phi| - (A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}p_{\alpha\eta}(\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)})p_{\beta\xi}(\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)})) \circ \tilde{\phi} |\det \nabla \tilde{\phi}|,$$

where $\tilde{\phi} = \text{Id.}$ This can be done by means of the triangle inequality and by observing that (4.5) implies that

$$|(D^{\alpha}\phi^{(-1)})\circ\phi - (D^{\alpha}\tilde{\phi}^{(-1)})\circ\tilde{\phi}| \le C \max_{|\beta|\le|\alpha|} \|D^{\beta}(\phi-\tilde{\phi})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)},$$

for some $C = C(N, \alpha, B_1, B_2)$.

74 4. Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations

We observe that, if condition (1.16) is satisfied in Ω , and if ϕ is a diffeomorphism of Ω onto $\phi(\Omega)$ smooth enough, then condition (1.16) is satisfied in $\phi(\Omega)$ as well. Note also that, if condition (1.16) is satisfied in Ω with constants a_1, b_1 , and in $\phi(\Omega)$ with constants a_2, b_2 , then the condition is satisfied in $\Omega \cup \phi(\Omega)$ with constants $a = \min\{a_1, a_2\}, b = \max\{b_1, b_2\}$.

Theorem 4.2. Let U be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, $B_1, B_2, B_3, a, b > 0$. For all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ be measurable real-valued functions defined on U, and satisfying conditions (1.14), (1.16), and (4.2) in U. Then the following statements hold.

(i) There exists a positive constant $c_1 = c_1(N, l, m, B_1, B_2, B_3, a, b)$ such that, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, for all open sets $\Omega \subset U$ for which the embedding $W_0^{l,2}(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, and for all diffeomorphisms of Ω onto $\phi(\Omega)$ of class C^l satisfying $\phi(\Omega) \subset U$ and condition (4.1), if $\mathcal{L}(\phi) < (c_1 \mathcal{D}_{\Omega}^2)^{-1}$, we have

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\phi(\Omega)]| \le c_1 \mathcal{D}_{\Omega}^2 (1 + \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega]) \mathcal{L}(\phi).$$

(ii) There exists a positive constant $c_2 = c_2(N, l, m, B_1, B_2, B_3, a, b)$ such that, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, for all open sets $\Omega \subset U$ for which (1.16) is satisfied, and for which the embedding $W^{l,2}(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, and for all diffeomorphisms of Ω onto $\phi(\Omega)$ of class C^l satisfying $\phi(\Omega) \subset U$ and condition (4.1), if $\mathcal{L}(\phi) < (c_2 \mathcal{N}_{\Omega}^2)^{-1}$, we have

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\phi(\Omega)]| \le c_2 \mathcal{N}_{\Omega}^2 (1 + \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega]) \mathcal{L}(\phi).$$

Proof. The proof can be done adapting that of [38, Theorem 4.8], and using Lemma 4.1. \Box

Applying Lemma 1.11 and Theorem 4.2, we get the following

Corollary 4.3. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_h\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}, B_1, B_2, L, a, b > 0$ and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in C^{0,1}(\bigcup_{h=1}^s V_h)$ satisfy $||A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}||_{C^{0,1}(\bigcup_{h=1}^s V_h)} \leq L$ and conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b.

Then there exists a positive constant $c = c(N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, B_1, B_2, L, a, b)$ such that, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, for all open sets $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$, and for all diffeomorphisms of Ω onto $\phi(\Omega)$ of class C^l satisfying $\phi(\Omega) \subset \bigcup_{h=1}^s V_h$ and condition (4.1), if $\max_{0 < |\alpha| < l} \|D^{\alpha}(\phi - \operatorname{Id})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} < c^{-1}$, we have

$$|\lambda_n[\Omega] - \lambda_n[\phi(\Omega)]| \le c(1 + \lambda_n[\Omega]) \max_{0 \le |\alpha| \le l} \|D^{\alpha}(\phi - \mathrm{Id})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}.$$

4.2 Estimates for Dirichlet eigenvalues via the atlas distance

In general, even if two open sets Ω_1 and Ω_2 are known to be diffeomorphic, it is not easy to construct a diffeomorphism ϕ such that $\phi(\Omega_1) = \Omega_2$ and provide information on the measure of vicinity $\max_{0 \le |\alpha| \le l} \|D^{\alpha}(\phi - \operatorname{Id})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}$ in terms of explicit geometric quantities. However, if Ω_1 , Ω_2 belong to the same class $C(\mathcal{A})$, then it is possible to construct a suitable diffeomorphism ϕ such that $\phi(\Omega_1) \subset \Omega_2$ and estimate the measure of vicinity via the atlas distance (1.1). Such a construction was first used in [34] and then implemented in [38]. We briefly recall it.

Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_h\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N and let $\{\psi_h\}_{h=1}^s$ be a partition of unity such that $\psi_h \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $\operatorname{supp} \psi_h \subset (V_h)_{\frac{3}{4}\rho}, 0 \leq \psi_h \leq 1$ and $\sum_{h=1}^s \psi_h(x) = 1$ for all $x \in \bigcup_{h=1}^s (V_h)_{\rho}$. For $\epsilon \geq 0$ we consider the following transformation

$$\phi_{\epsilon}(x) = x - \epsilon \sum_{h=1}^{s} \xi_h \psi_h(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(4.6)

where $\xi_h = r_h^{(-1)}((0, \dots, 1))$. We recall the following technical lemma from [38].

Lemma 4.4. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_h\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . There exist $A_1, A_2, E > 0$ depending only on N and \mathcal{A} such that

$$\max_{0 \le |\alpha| \le l} \left\| D^{\alpha} (\phi_{\epsilon} - \mathrm{Id}) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \le A_{1} \epsilon, \tag{4.7}$$

and such that

$$\frac{1}{2} \le 1 - A_2 \epsilon \le \det \nabla \phi_\epsilon \le 1 + A_2 \epsilon, \tag{4.8}$$

for all $0 \leq \epsilon < E$. Furthermore,

$$\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1) \subset \Omega_2$$

for all $0 < \epsilon < E$, for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ such that $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ and

$$d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1,\Omega_2) < \frac{\epsilon}{s}.$$

Theorem 4.5. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, L, a, b > 0 and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for any $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let

76 4. Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations

 $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in C^{0,1}(\cup_{h=1}^{s}V_h)$ satisfy $\|A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\|_{C^{0,1}(\cup_{h=1}^{s}V_h)} \leq L$ and conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b.

Then for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, a, b$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_2]| \le c_n d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2), \tag{4.9}$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < \epsilon_n$.

Proof. Let $0 < \epsilon < E$ where E > 0 is as in Lemma 4.4, and let $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ be such that $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) \leq \epsilon/s$. We set $\Omega_3 = \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$. Clearly, $\Omega_3 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ and $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_3, \Omega_1)$, $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_3, \Omega_2) < \epsilon/s$. By Lemma 4.4 applied to the couples of open sets Ω_k, Ω_3 it follows that $\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_k) \subset \Omega_3$, k = 1, 2, where ϕ_{ϵ} is defined in (4.6). By the monotonicity of the eigenvalues with respect to inclusion it follows that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_k] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_3] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_k)],$$

for k = 1, 2. Using Lemma 1.12, Corollary 4.3, and Lemma 4.4, it follows that there exist $\tilde{c}_n, \tilde{\epsilon}_n > 0$ such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_3] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_k] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\phi_\epsilon(\Omega_k)] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_k] \le \tilde{c}_n \epsilon,$$

for k = 1, 2, if $0 < \epsilon < \tilde{\epsilon}_n$. Hence

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_2]| \le \max_{k=1,2} \{\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_3] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_k]\} \le \tilde{c}_n \epsilon.$$

By choosing $\epsilon = 2sd_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$, we get that inequality (4.9) holds with $c_n = 2s\tilde{c}_n$ if $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < \epsilon_n = \tilde{\epsilon}_n/(2s)$.

Using Lemma 1.3 we get the following

Corollary 4.6. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4.5, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, a, b$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_2]| \le c_n \epsilon, \tag{4.10}$$

for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$ and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying (1.3) or (1.4).

Proof. Inequality (4.10) follows by inequality (1.5) and inequality (4.9). \Box

4.3 Estimates for Neumann eigenvalues via the atlas distance

Using the variational characterization (1.17), it is not difficult to see that, if $\Omega_1 \subset \Omega_2$, then $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] \geq \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_2]$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This was used in the proof of Theorem 4.5. Unfortunately, Neumann eigenvalues do not enjoy monotonicity properties, and therefore we have to use different arguments.

We start by recalling the following definition from [38].

Definition 4.7. Let U be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N and ρ an isometry. We say that U is a ρ -patch if there exist an open set $G_U \subset \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ and functions $\eta_U, \psi_U : G_U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\rho(U) = \{ (\bar{x}, x_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N : \psi_U(\bar{x}) < x_N < \eta_U(\bar{x}), \ x \in G_U \}.$$

The thickness of the ρ -patch is defined by

$$R_U = \inf_{\bar{x} \in G_U} (\eta_U(\bar{x}) - \psi_U(\bar{x})).$$

The thinness of the ρ -patch is defined by

$$S_U = \sup_{\bar{x} \in G_U} (\eta_U(\bar{x}) - \psi_U(\bar{x})).$$

If $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ and $\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_2$ is covered by a finite number of ρ -patches contained in Ω_1 , then we can estimate $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1]$ via the thickness of the patches.

Lemma 4.8. Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and Ω_1 be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N such that the embedding $W^{l,2}(\Omega_1) \subset W^{l-1,2}(\Omega_1)$ is compact. For all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$, and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ be bounded measurable real-valued functions defined on Ω_1 , satisfying conditions (1.14)-(1.16) in Ω_1 . Let $\sigma \in \mathbb{N}, R > 0$.

Assume that $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ is such that the embedding $W^{l,2}(\Omega_2) \subset L^2(\Omega_2)$ is compact, that (1.16) is satisfied and that there exist isometries $\{\rho_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$ and two sets $\{U_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$, $\{\tilde{U}_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$ of ρ_h -patches U_h and \tilde{U}_h satisfying the following properties

- (a) $U_h \subset \tilde{U}_h \subset \Omega_1$, for all $h = 1, \ldots, \sigma$;
- (b) $G_{U_h} = G_{\tilde{U}_h}, \ \eta_{U_h} = \eta_{\tilde{U}_h}, \ for \ all \ h = 1, \dots, \sigma;$
- (c) $R_{\tilde{U}_{k}} > R$, for all $h = 1, ..., \sigma$;

78 4. Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations

(d)
$$\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_2 \subset \cup_{h=1}^{\sigma} U_h.$$

Then there exists a positive constant d = d(N, l, m, R) such that, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1](1 + d_n \max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_h}),$$

if $\max_{h=1,\ldots,\sigma} S_{U_h} < d_n^{-1}$, where

$$d_n = 2\sigma da^{-1} \left(b + \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] \right). \tag{4.11}$$

Proof. By (a) and (b) it follows that $\psi_{\tilde{U}_h} \leq \psi_{U_h}$ for all $h = 1, \ldots, \sigma$. Let $u \in W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m$. By (d) we have

$$\int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_2} |u|^2 dy \le \sum_{h=1}^{\sigma} \int_{U_h} |u|^2 dy = \sum_{h=1}^{\sigma} \int_{\rho_h(U_h)} |u \circ \rho_h^{(-1)}|^2 dx.$$
(4.12)

Let us set $v_{j,h} = u_j \circ \rho_h^{(-1)}$. Clearly,

$$\int_{\rho_h(U_h)} |u \circ \rho_h^{-1}|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^m \int_{G_{U_h}} \int_{\psi_{U_h}(\bar{x})}^{\eta_{U_h}(\bar{x})} |v_{j,h}(\bar{x}, x_N)|^2 dx_N d\bar{x}.$$
 (4.13)

Since $v_{j,h} \in W^{l,2}(\rho_h(\tilde{U}_h))$ it follows that for almost all $\bar{x} \in G_{\tilde{U}_h}$ the function $v_{j,h}(\bar{x}, \cdot)$ belongs to the space $W^{l,2}(\psi_{\tilde{U}_h}(\bar{x}), \eta_{\tilde{U}_h}(\bar{x}))$. Moreover, by (c) it follows that $\eta_{\tilde{U}_h}(\bar{x}) - \psi_{\tilde{U}_h}(\bar{x}) \geq R$. Thus by [33, Theorem 2] there exists $\tilde{d} = \tilde{d}(m, R)$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{j,h}(\bar{x},\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\psi_{\tilde{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}),\eta_{\tilde{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}))}^{2} &\leq \tilde{d} \bigg(\|v_{j,h}(\bar{x},\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\psi_{\tilde{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}),\eta_{\tilde{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}))}^{2} \\ &+ \bigg\| \frac{\partial^{l} v_{j,h}}{\partial x_{N}^{l}}(\bar{x},\cdot) \bigg\|_{L^{2}(\psi_{\tilde{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}),\eta_{\tilde{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}))}^{2} \bigg). \end{aligned}$$
(4.14)

Moreover, by inequality (4.14) and property (b) we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{G_{U_{h}}} \int_{\psi_{U_{h}}(\bar{x})}^{\eta_{U_{h}}(\bar{x})} |v_{j,h}(\bar{x}, x_{N})|^{2} dx_{N} d\bar{x} \\
\leq \sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{G_{U_{h}}} (\eta_{U_{h}}(\bar{x}) - \psi_{U_{h}}(\bar{x})) ||v_{j,h}(\bar{x}, \cdot)||_{L^{\infty}(\psi_{\bar{U}_{h}}(\bar{x}), \eta_{U_{h}}(\bar{x}))} d\bar{x} \\
\leq \tilde{d}S_{U_{h}} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(||v_{j,h}||_{L^{2}(\rho_{h}(\bar{U}_{h}))}^{2} + \left\| \frac{\partial^{l} v_{j,h}}{\partial x_{N}^{l}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\rho_{h}(\bar{U}_{h}))}^{2} \right) \\
\leq dS_{U_{h}} \left(||u||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{1})}^{2} + \sum_{|\alpha|=l} ||D^{\alpha}u||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{1})}^{2} \right), \quad (4.15)$$

where d = d(N, l, m, R) is a positive constant.

We denote by $L_n[\Omega_1]$ the linear subspace of $W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m$ generated by the $\varphi_{1,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1], \ldots, \varphi_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1]$. If $u \in L_n[\Omega_1]$ and $||u||_{L^2(\Omega_1)} = 1$ then by (4.12), (4.13), and (4.15) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_2} |u|^2 \le \sigma d \max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_h} \left(\frac{b}{a} + a^{-1} Q_{\Omega_1}(u) \right)$$
$$\le \sigma d \max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_h} \left(\frac{b}{a} + a^{-1} \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] \right).$$

Let \mathcal{T}_{12} be the restriction operator from Ω_1 to Ω_2 . Clearly, \mathcal{T}_{12} maps $W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m$ to $W^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $u \in L_n[\Omega_1]$ with $\|u\|_{L^2(\Omega_1)} = 1$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}_{12}u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{2})}^{2} &= \int_{\Omega_{1}} |u|^{2} - \int_{\Omega_{1}\setminus\Omega_{2}} |u|^{2} \\ &\geq 1 - \sigma d \max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_{h}}\left(\frac{b}{a} + a^{-1}\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_{1}]\right), \end{aligned}$$

and, thanks to condition (1.15),

$$Q_{\Omega_2}(\mathcal{T}_{12}u) \le Q_{\Omega_1}(u) \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1].$$

Therefore, using the terminology of [37], \mathcal{T}_{12} is a transition operator from $H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m}$ to $H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m}$ with the measure of vicinity

$$\delta(H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m}, H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m}) = \max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_h},$$

and the parameters $a_n = \sigma da^{-1}(b + \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1])$, $b_n = 0$. As a consequence, by a variant of the general spectral stability theorem [37, Theorem 3.2] it follows that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] + 2(a_n\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] + b_n)\delta(H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m}, H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m}),$$

if $\delta(H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_1)^m}, H_{W^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m}) < (2a_n)^{-1}$. This concludes the proof.

Lemma 4.9. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, L, a, b > 0 and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in L^{\infty}(\cup_{h=1}^s V_h)$ satisfy $||A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}||_{L^{\infty}(\cup_{h=1}^s V_h)} \leq L$ and conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b.

Then for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, a, b$, such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2] \leq \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] + c_n d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2),$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ and $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < \epsilon_n$.

Proof. The proof can be done adapting that of [38, Lemma 6.11] and using Lemma 4.8. \Box

Next we consider the case $\Omega_2 = \phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1)$, where ϕ_{ϵ} is defined in (4.6). We recall here [38, Lemma 6.13] which will be used in the sequel.

Lemma 4.10. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Then there exist $\epsilon_0, A, R > 0$ and $\sigma \in \mathbb{N}$ depending only on N, \mathcal{A} , and for each open set $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ and for each $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$ there exist isometries $\{\rho_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$ and sets $\{U_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}, \{\tilde{U}_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$ of ρ_h -patches U_h , \tilde{U}_h satisfying conditions (a), (b), (c), (d) in Lemma 4.8 with $\Omega_1 = \Omega$ and $\Omega_2 = \phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega)$ and such that $\max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_h} < A\epsilon$.

Theorem 4.11. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, L, a, b > 0 and, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in C^{0,1}(\cup_{h=1}^s V_h)$ satisfy $||A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}||_{C^{0,1}(\cup_{h=1}^s V_h)} \leq L$ and conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b.

Then for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, a, b$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2]| \le c_n d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2), \tag{4.16}$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < \epsilon_n$.

Proof. For the sake of simplicity, in this proof we will use c_n , ϵ_n to denote positive constants depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, a, b$, and their values are not necessarily the same for all the inequalities below.

Let E > 0 be as in Lemma 4.4. Let $0 < \epsilon < E$ and $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ be such that $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) \leq \epsilon/s$. We set $\Omega_3 = \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$. Clearly, $\Omega_3 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ and $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_3, \Omega_1), d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_3, \Omega_2) < \frac{\epsilon}{2s}$. By Lemma 4.4 applied to the couple of open sets Ω_1, Ω_3 it follows that $\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1) \subset \Omega_3$ hence

$$\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_3) \subset \phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1) \subset \Omega_3. \tag{4.17}$$

Now we apply Lemma 4.10 to the set $\Omega = \Omega_3$. It follows that if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$ there exist rotations $\{\rho_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$ and two sets $\{U_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$, $\{\tilde{U}_h\}_{h=1}^{\sigma}$ of ρ_h -patches U_h , \tilde{U}_h satisfying conditions (a), (b), (c), (d) in Lemma 4.8 with Ω_3 , $\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_3)$ replacing Ω_1, Ω_2 respectively, and such that $\max_{h=1,\dots,\sigma} S_{U_h} < A\epsilon$. In particular,

$$\Omega_3 \setminus \phi_\epsilon(\Omega_3) \subset \bigcup_{h=1}^{\sigma} U_h, \tag{4.18}$$

hence by (4.17), (4.18) it follows that

$$\Omega_3 \setminus \phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1) \subset \cup_{h=1}^{\sigma} U_h.$$

Now we apply Lemma 4.8 to the couple of open sets Ω_3 , $\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1)$ by using the sets of patches defined above. Since $\max_{h=1,...,\sigma} S_{U_h} < A\epsilon$, by Lemma 4.8 it follows that if $A\epsilon < d_n^{-1}$ then

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1)] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_3](1+d_nA\epsilon), \tag{4.19}$$

where d_n is defined by (4.11). By Lemma 1.12 and inequality (4.19) it follows that there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1)] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_3] + c_n \epsilon \tag{4.20}$$

if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$. On the other hand, by Lemma 1.12, Corollary 4.3, and by inequalities (4.7), (4.8) it follows that there exist c_n , $\epsilon_n > 0$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\phi_{\epsilon}[\Omega_1]] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1]| \le c_n \epsilon \tag{4.21}$$

if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$. Thus by (4.20), (4.21) it follows that there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_3] + c_n \epsilon \tag{4.22}$$

if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$. By Lemma 4.9 applied to the couple of open sets Ω_1, Ω_3 it follows that there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_3] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] + c_n \epsilon \tag{4.23}$$

if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$. Thus, by (4.22), (4.23) it follows that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_3]| \le c_n \epsilon \tag{4.24}$$

if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$. It is clear that this whole discussion holds if we replace Ω_1 with Ω_2 . Therefore we obtain

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_3]| \le c_n \epsilon \tag{4.25}$$

if $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$. By (4.24), (4.25) we finally deduce that for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2]| \le c_n \epsilon,$$

for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$ and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < \epsilon$. Finally, by arguing as in the last lines of the proof of Theorem 4.5 we deduce the validity of (4.16).

As for Dirichlet boundary conditions we have a version of Theorem 4.11 in terms of ϵ -neighborhoods with respect to the atlas distance.

Corollary 4.12. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4.11, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, a, b$, such that

$$|\lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,\mathcal{N}}[\Omega_2]| \le c_n \epsilon,$$

for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$ and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying (1.3) or (1.4).

4.4 Estimates via the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation

The atlas distance obviously depends on the choice of the atlas \mathcal{A} . However, as shown in Theorem 1.4, it can be controlled by the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation, and therefore by the Hausdorff distance. We have the following

Theorem 4.13. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Let $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, L, M, a, b > 0. Let $\omega : [0, \infty[\to [0, \infty[$ be a continuous non-decreasing function satisfying $\omega(0) = 0$ and, for some k > 0, $\omega(t) \ge kt$ for all $0 \le t \le 1$. Moreover, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \le l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \le m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in C^{0,1}(\bigcup_{h=1}^s V_h)$ satisfy $||A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}||_{C^{0,1}(\bigcup_{h=1}^s V_h)} \le L$ and conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b. Then for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, M, a, b, \omega$ such that, for both Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions, we have

$$|\lambda_n[\Omega_1] - \lambda_n[\Omega_2]| \le c_n \omega(d_{\mathcal{HP}}(\partial \Omega_1, \partial \Omega_2)), \qquad (4.26)$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $d_{\mathcal{HP}}(\partial \Omega_1, \partial \Omega_2) < \epsilon_n$.

Proof. We recall that, if $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ then also $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\tilde{\mathcal{A}})$ where $\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = (\rho/2, s, s', \{(V_h)_{\rho/2}\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$. Thus by inequalities (4.9), (4.16) applied to Ω_1, Ω_2 as open sets in $C(\tilde{\mathcal{A}})$ and by inequality (1.6) we obtain inequality (4.26).

Corollary 4.14. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4.13, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_n, \epsilon_n > 0$ depending only on $n, N, \mathcal{A}, l, m, L, M, a, b, \omega$ such that, for both Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions, we have

$$|\lambda_n[\Omega_1] - \lambda_n[\Omega_2]| \le c_n \omega(\epsilon)$$

for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_n$ and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying (1.7) or (1.8).

4.5 Estimates via the Lebesgue measure

In the previous sections we have shown continuity of Dirichlet and Neumann eigenvalues with respect to the atlas distance and the lower Hausdorff-Pompeiu deviation. In this section we prove estimates involving the Lebesgue measure, under some additional assumption on the regularity of the eigenfunctions.

We recall the following result from [39], which will be used in the proof of Theorem 4.16.

Theorem 4.15. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_h\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N , $l \in \mathbb{N}, M > 0$. Let $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A})$. For all $l \in \mathbb{N}, 1 \leq p < \infty$ there exist linear maps

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{D}}: W_0^{l,p}(\Omega_1) \to W_0^{l,p}(\Omega_2) \text{ and } \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{N}}: W^{l,p}(\Omega_1) \to W^{l,p}(\Omega_2),$$

with the following properties:

(i) there exists $C_1 > 0$ depending only on \mathcal{A}, l, M, p such that

$$\|\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{D}}\|, \|\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{N}}\| \le C_1.$$

- 84 4. Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations
 - (ii) there exists $C_2 > 0$ depending only on \mathcal{A} , and an open set $\Omega_3 \subset \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ such that

$$|\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_3|, \ |\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_3| \le C_2 |\Omega_1 \bigtriangleup \Omega_2|,$$

and such that

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{D}}[u](x) = u(x), \qquad \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{N}}[v](x) = v(x),$$

for all $u \in W_0^{l,p}(\Omega_1), v \in W^{l,p}(\Omega_2), x \in \Omega_3$.

If $p = \infty$, there exist linear maps

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{D}}: \tilde{W}_0^{l,\infty}(\Omega_1) \to \tilde{W}_0^{l,\infty}(\Omega_2) \quad and \quad \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{N}}: W^{l,\infty}(\Omega_1) \to W^{l,\infty}(\Omega_2),$$

satisfying properties (i)-(ii), where $\tilde{W}_0^{l,\infty}(\Omega)$ is the space of those functions in $W^{l,\infty}(\Omega)$ such that their zero-extension belongs to $W^{l,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Theorem 4.16. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_h\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N , $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, M, a, b > 0. For all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N$ with $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l$ and for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $i, j \leq m$, let $A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}$ be measurable real-valued functions defined on $\cup_{h=1}^s V_h$, satisfying conditions (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b.

Let $2 , <math>0 < M_n < \infty$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and

$$\mathcal{X} = \left\{ \Omega \in C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A}) : \|\varphi_n[\Omega]\|_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)^m} \le M_n, \forall n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

Then for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $c_n > 0$ depending only on $n, \mathcal{A}, l, m, M, a, b, p, M_1, \ldots, M_n$ such that

$$\lambda_n[\Omega_2] \le \lambda_n[\Omega_1] + c_n |\Omega_1 \vartriangle \Omega_2|^{1 - \frac{2}{p}}, \qquad (4.27)$$

for all $\Omega_1 \in \mathcal{X}$, $\Omega_2 \in C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A})$ such that $|\Omega_1 riangle \Omega_2| < c_n^{-1}$.

Proof. Let $\Omega_1 \in \mathcal{X}$ and $\Omega_2 \in C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A})$. To shorten our notation we set $\varphi_{n,1} = \varphi_n[\Omega_1]$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We denote by \mathcal{L}_1 the space of the finite linear combinations of the eigenfunctions $\varphi_{n,1}$. Moreover, we define a linear operator

$$T_{12}: \mathcal{L}_1 \to \mathrm{Dom}(H^{1/2}_{\Omega_2})$$

by setting

$$T_{12}[\varphi_{n,1}]_i = \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{D}}(\varphi_{n,1})_i$$

in the Dirichlet case, and

$$T_{12}[\varphi_{n,1}]_i = \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{N}}(\varphi_{n,1})_i.$$

in the Neumann case, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $1 \leq i \leq m$. Here $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{D}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{N}}$ are the operators provided by Theorem 4.15. Note that T_{12} is well-defined. Indeed, by assumption $\mathcal{L}_1 \subset W^{l,p}(\Omega_1)^m$, and in the Dirichlet case $\mathcal{L}_1 \subset W_0^{l,p}(\Omega_1)^m$. Moreover, T_{12} takes values in $\text{Dom}(H_{\Omega_2}^{1/2})$ because in the Dirichlet case $W_0^{l,p}(\Omega_2)^m \subset W_0^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m = \text{Dom}(H_{\Omega_2}^{1/2})$, and in the Neumann case $W^{l,p}(\Omega_2)^m \subset W^{l,2}(\Omega_2)^m = \text{Dom}(H_{\Omega_2}^{1/2})$.

To prove (4.27) we apply the general spectral stability theorem [37, Theorem 3.2]. We need to prove that T_{12} is a transition operator from H_{Ω_1} to H_{Ω_2} . By Theorem 4.15, $T_{12}\varphi_n = \varphi_n$ on Ω_3 where Ω_3 is as in Theorem 4.15. Thus

$$(H_{\Omega_{2}}^{1/2}T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, H_{\Omega_{2}}^{1/2}T_{12}\varphi_{r,1})_{L^{2}(\Omega_{2})^{m}} = Q_{\Omega_{2}}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1})$$

$$= Q_{\Omega_{3}}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1}) + Q_{\Omega_{2}\backslash\Omega_{3}}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1})$$

$$= Q_{\Omega_{3}}(\varphi_{k,1}, \varphi_{r,1}) + Q_{\Omega_{2}\backslash\Omega_{3}}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1})$$

$$= Q_{\Omega_{1}}(\varphi_{k,1}, \varphi_{r,1}) - Q_{\Omega_{1}\backslash\Omega_{3}}(\varphi_{k,1}, \varphi_{r,1}) + Q_{\Omega_{2}\backslash\Omega_{3}}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1})$$

$$= (H_{\Omega_{1}}^{1/2}\varphi_{k,1}, H_{\Omega_{1}}^{1/2}\varphi_{r,1})_{L^{2}(\Omega_{1})^{m}} - Q_{\Omega_{1}\backslash\Omega_{3}}(\varphi_{k,1}, \varphi_{r,1})$$

$$+ Q_{\Omega_{2}\backslash\Omega_{3}}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1}), \qquad (4.28)$$

for all $k, r \in \mathbb{N}$. By Hölder's inequality

$$Q_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_3}(\varphi_{k,1}, \varphi_{r,1}) \le c M_k M_r |\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_3|^{1-\frac{2}{p}}, \tag{4.29}$$

and by Theorem 4.15 we have

$$Q_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_3}(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1}) \le cM_k M_r |\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_3|^{1-\frac{2}{p}}, \tag{4.30}$$

and

$$|\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_3|, \ |\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_3| \le c |\Omega_1 \land \Omega_2|, \tag{4.31}$$

where c > 0 depends only on $\mathcal{A}, l, m, M, a, b, p$. Thus by (4.28)-(4.31) it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |(H_{\Omega_2}^{1/2} T_{12} \varphi_{k,1}, H_{\Omega_2}^{1/2} T_{12} \varphi_{r,1})_{L^2(\Omega_2)^m} - (H_{\Omega_1}^{1/2} \varphi_{k,1}, H_{\Omega_1}^{1/2} \varphi_{r,1})_{L^2(\Omega_1)^m}| \\ &\leq \tilde{c}_1 M_k M_r |\Omega_1 \bigtriangleup \Omega_2|^{1-\frac{2}{p}}, \quad (4.32) \end{aligned}$$

and similarly

$$|(T_{12}\varphi_{k,1}, T_{12}\varphi_{r,1})_{L^2(\Omega_2)^m} - (\varphi_{k,1}, \varphi_{r,1})_{L^2(\Omega_1)^m}| \le \tilde{c}_2 M_k M_r |\Omega_1 \vartriangle \Omega_2|^{1-\frac{2}{p}},$$
(4.33)

86 4. Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations

for all $k, r \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\tilde{c}_1, \tilde{c}_2 > 0$ depend only on $\mathcal{A}, l, m, M, a, b, p$.

By (4.32), (4.33) it follows that T_{12} is a transition operator from H_{Ω_1} to H_{Ω_2} with parameters $a_{kr} = \tilde{c}_1 M_k M_r$, $b_{kr} = \tilde{c}_2 M_k M_r$ and measure of vicinity $\delta(H_{\Omega_1}, H_{\Omega_2}) = |\Omega_1 \Delta \Omega_2|^{1-\frac{2}{p}}$ (see [37, Definition 3.1]). Thus by [37, Theorem 3.2] it follows that

$$\lambda_n[\Omega_2] \le \lambda_n[\Omega_1] + (2a_n\lambda_n[\Omega_1] + b_n)\delta(H_{\Omega_1}, H_{\Omega_2}), \qquad (4.34)$$

if $\delta(H_{\Omega_1}, H_{\Omega_2}) \leq (2a_n)^{-1}$, where $a_n = (\sum_{k,r=1}^n a_{kr}^2)^{1/2} = \tilde{c}_1 \sum_{k=1}^n M_k^2$, $b_n = (\sum_{k,r=1}^n b_{kr}^2)^{1/2} = \tilde{c}_2 \sum_{k=1}^n M_k^2$. Furthermore, by Lemma 1.12 there exists $\Lambda_n > 0$ depending only on $n, \mathcal{A}, l, m, a, b$ such that

$$\lambda_n[\Omega] \le \Lambda_n \tag{4.35}$$

for all $\Omega \in C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A})$. Thus, inequality (4.27) follows by combining (4.34) and (4.35).

It is well known that if $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ then $\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] \leq \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_2]$. Thus by Theorem 4.16 we immediately deduce the following corollary concerning Dirichlet eigenvalues.

Corollary 4.17. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4.16, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $c_n > 0$ depending only on $n, \mathcal{A}, l, m, M, a, b, p, M_1, \ldots, M_n$, such that

$$\lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_2] \le \lambda_{n,\mathcal{D}}[\Omega_1] + c_n |\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_2|^{1-\frac{2}{p}},$$

for all Ω_2 of class $C_M^{l-1,1}(\mathcal{A})$ such that $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ and $|\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_2| < c_n^{-1}$.

If we assume that both Ω_1 and Ω_2 belong to \mathcal{X} then it is possible to swap Ω_1 and Ω_2 in (4.27). In this way we obtain a two-sided estimate for both Dirichlet and Neumann eigenvalues without assuming that $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega_1$ as in Corollary 4.17.

Corollary 4.18. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4.16, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $c_n > 0$ depending only on $n, \mathcal{A}, l, m, M, a, b, p, M_1, \ldots, M_n$, such that

$$|\lambda_n[\Omega_1] - \lambda_n[\Omega_2]| \le c_n |\Omega_1 \bigtriangleup \Omega_2|^{1 - \frac{2}{p}},$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in \mathcal{X}$ such that $|\Omega_1 \bigtriangleup \Omega_2| < c_n^{-1}$.

If Ω is an open set with sufficiently smooth boundary then $\Omega \in \mathcal{X}$ with $p = \infty$.

Lemma 4.19. Let $\mathcal{A} = (\rho, s, s', \{V_h\}_{h=1}^s, \{r_h\}_{h=1}^s)$ be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N , $l, m \in$ $\mathbb{N}, B, M, a, b > 0. \text{ For all } \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^N \text{ with } |\alpha|, |\beta| \leq l \text{ and for all } i, j \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } i, j \leq m, \text{ let } A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in C^l(\overline{\cup_{h=1}^s V_h}) \text{ satisfy } \|A_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\|_{C^l(\overline{\cup_{h=1}^s V_h})} \leq B, \text{ and conditions}$ (1.14)-(1.16) for any $\Omega \in C_M^{2l}(\mathcal{A})$ with the same constants a, b. Then $\varphi_n[\Omega] \in W^{2l-1,\infty}(\Omega)$ and there exists C > 0 depending only on

 $\mathcal{A}, l, m, B, M, a, b$ such that

$$\|\varphi_n[\Omega]\|_{W^{k,\infty}(\Omega)^m} \le C(1+\lambda_n[\Omega])^{\frac{N}{4l}+\frac{k}{2l}}$$
(4.36)

for all $k = 0, \ldots, 2l - 1$ and $\Omega \in C_M^{2l}(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. It is well known that under our regularity assumptions $Dom(H_{\Omega}) \subset$ $W^{2l,2}(\Omega)^m$ (see e.g., [9, Section 10]). Moreover, since the coefficients $A^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}$ are of class C^l and we impose either Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions, we can resort to the general setting of [9].

Thus, by [9, Subsection 10.3] it follows that if $u \in \text{Dom}(H_{\Omega})$ and $H_{\Omega}u \in$ $L^p(\Omega)^m$ for some p > 1 then $u \in W^{2l,p}(\Omega)^m$ and

$$\|u\|_{W^{2l,p}(\Omega)^m} \le c(\|H_{\Omega}u\|_{L^p(\Omega)^m} + \|u\|_{L^p(\Omega)^m}),$$

where c is a positive constant. In particular, if u is an eigenfunction corresponding to an eigenvalue λ and $u \in L^p(\Omega)^m$ then

$$\|u\|_{W^{2l,p}(\Omega)^m} \le c(1+\lambda) \|u\|_{L^p(\Omega)^m}.$$
(4.37)

By the a priori estimate (4.37) and a bootstrap argument one can finally prove estimate (4.36). See for instance [37, Theorem 5.1], where in the proof one has to replace [37, formula (5.5)] by (4.37) (note that [37, formulas (5.6)]and (5.7)] remain valid in the vectorial case thanks to Theorem 1.7).

By Corollary 4.18 and Lemma 4.19 we immediately deduce the validity of the following

Corollary 4.20. Under the same assumptions of Lemma 4.19, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $c_n > 0$ depending only on $n, \mathcal{A}, l, m, B, M, a, b$ such that

$$|\lambda_n[\Omega_1] - \lambda_n[\Omega_2]| \le c_n |\Omega_1 \vartriangle \Omega_2|,$$

for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{2l}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $|\Omega_1 \bigtriangleup \Omega_2| < c_n^{-1}$.

88 4. Quantitative estimates for systems of partial differential equations

Chapter 5

Elliptic systems of partial differential equations

Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , $m \in \mathbb{N}$. In this chapter we discuss the eigenvalue problem for elliptic systems of second order partial differential equations subject to boundary conditions of Dirichlet and Neumann type. More precisely, we consider the following eigenvalue problem

$$\int_{\Omega} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_\alpha} \frac{\partial \varphi_j}{\partial x_\beta} dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \varphi dx, \qquad (5.1)$$

for any $\varphi \in V(\Omega)^m$, in the unknowns $u \in V(\Omega)^m$ (the eigenfunction), $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ (the eigenvalue). Here $V(\Omega)$ denotes either $H_0^1(\Omega)$ (for Dirichlet boundary conditions) or $H^1(\Omega)$ (for Neumann boundary conditions). Moreover, we shall assume that $a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \in \mathbb{R}$ are constant coefficients satisfying condition (1.14) and the so-called Legendre-Hadamard condition, namely

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \xi_i \xi_j \eta_\alpha \eta_\beta \ge \theta |\xi|^2 |\eta|^2, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^m, \forall \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(5.2)

for some $\theta > 0$. We note that condition (5.2) is weaker than the so-called Legendre condition, namely

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \xi_{i}^{\alpha} \xi_{j}^{\beta} \geq \theta |\xi|^{2}, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times N},$$

for some $\theta > 0$. However, condition (5.2) is sufficient in order to prove coercivity of the bilinear form associated with problem (5.1), in particular condition (5.2) implies conditions (1.15), (1.16). Therefore, Theorem 1.9 applies to problem (5.1).

We remark that problem (5.1) includes some important problems in linear elasticity. For instance, the Lamé eigenvalue problem

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\left(\nabla u + \nabla^t u \right) : \left(\nabla \varphi + \nabla^t \varphi \right) + k \operatorname{div} u \operatorname{div} \varphi \right) dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u \cdot \varphi dx, \quad (5.3)$$

with $k \in]1 - \frac{2}{N}, +\infty[$ for any $\varphi \in V(\Omega)^N$, corresponds to the choice $a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} = 2(\delta_{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta} + \delta_{i\beta}\delta_{j\alpha}) + k\delta_{i\alpha}\delta_{j\beta}$, where δ_{ij} is the Kronecher delta. We refer to [61] for a detailed discussion on problem (5.3). Note that, in the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions (i.e., $V(\Omega) = H_0^1(\Omega)$), thanks to an integration by parts, problem (5.3) can also be associated with the coefficients $a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} = \delta_{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta} + k\delta_{i\alpha}\delta_{j\beta}$, and in this case it is easy to see that, in order to get inequality (5.2), the constant k can be chosen to be non-negative, namely $k \geq 0$ (cf. e.g., [58]). We also observe that problem (5.3) is very similar to the Reissner-Mindlin system (6.1), which arises in the study of the vibrations of a clamped plate. However, since problem (6.1) presents lower order terms, it is not included in the discussion of the present chapter (see Chapter 6).

5.1 Dirichlet boundary conditions

In the sequel of this chapter we shall use Einstein notation, hence summation symbols will be dropped.

The classical formulation of the Dirichlet problem reads

$$\begin{cases} -a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_\alpha \partial x_\beta} = \lambda u_j, \ j = 1, \dots, m, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

We consider on $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ the bilinear form

$$\langle u, v \rangle = \int_{\Omega} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_{\beta}} dx,$$
 (5.5)

for any $u, v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^m$. One can prove that the bilinear form (5.5) defines on $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ a scalar product whose induced norm is equivalent to the standard one defined by (1.11). In this section we shall consider the space $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ endowed with the scalar product (5.5).
5.1. Dirichlet boundary conditions

We consider the operator S as a map from $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ to its dual defined by

$$S[u][v] = \int_{\Omega} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_\beta} dx, \qquad (5.6)$$

for any $u, v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^m$. The operator S is easily seen to be a linear homeomorphism of $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ onto its dual. We also denote by \mathcal{J} the continuous embedding of $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ into its dual, defined by

$$\mathcal{J}[u][v] := \int_{\Omega} u \cdot v dx, \ \forall u, v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^m.$$

Note that problem (5.4) can be written in the following weak formulation

$$S[u][v] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[u][v], \ \forall v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^m.$$

$$(5.7)$$

We define the operator $T := S^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}$ from $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ to itself. We have the following result, whose proof is similar to that of Lemma 2.1.

Lemma 5.1. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T is a non-negative compact selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$. Its spectrum is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $Tu = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)^m$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (5.1) is satisfied with $0 \neq \lambda = \mu^{-1}$ for any $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)^m$.

5.1.1 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problem (5.4) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_j[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ .

The main result of this section is the following

Theorem 5.2. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in \mathcal{A}^1_Ω and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] = -\lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(l)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(l)}}{\partial y_\beta} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma,$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{v^{(l)}\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H_0^1(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$ (with respect to the scalar product (5.5)) of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

In order to prove Theorem 5.2 we consider equation (5.7) in $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . Namely, we consider the equation

$$S[v][\psi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[v][\psi], \quad \forall \ \psi \in H^1_0(\phi(\Omega))^m, \tag{5.8}$$

in the unknowns $v \in H^1_0(\phi(\Omega))^m$, $\lambda \in]0, \infty[$. We will denote by $H^1_{0,\phi}(\Omega)^m$ the space $H^1_0(\Omega)^m$ endowed with the form

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\phi} = S_{\phi}[u][v], \ \forall u, v \in H^2_0(\Omega)^m$$

Moreover, we recall that

$$\mathcal{I}_{\phi}[u][w] = \int_{\Omega} u \cdot w |\det \nabla \phi| dx, \ \forall u, w \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega)^{m}$$

Note that the map from $H^1(\Omega)^m$ to $H^1(\phi(\Omega))^m$ which maps u to $u \circ \phi^{(-1)}$ for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)^m$ is a linear homeomorphism. Hence, equation (5.7) is equivalent to

$$S_{\phi}[u][\varphi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \ \varphi \in H^{1}_{0,\phi}(\Omega)^{m},$$

where $u = v \circ \phi$. It turns out that the operator T defined in Lemma 5.1 with Ω replaced by $\phi(\Omega)$ is unitarily equivalent to the operator T_{ϕ} defined on $H^1_{0,\phi}(\Omega)^m$ by

$$T_{\phi} := S_{\phi}^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}_{\phi}. \tag{5.9}$$

Thus we have the following lemma, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.3. We recall that $\mathcal{L}(H_0^1(\Omega)^m)$ denotes the space of linear bounded operators from $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$ to itself and and $\mathcal{B}_s(H_0^1(\Omega)^m)$ denotes the space of bilinear forms on $H_0^1(\Omega)^m$.

Lemma 5.3. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T_{ϕ} defined in (5.9) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $H^1_{0,\phi}(\Omega)^m$. The equation (5.8) is satisfied for some $v \in H^1_0(\phi(\Omega))^m$ if and only if the equation $T_{\phi}u = \mu u$ is satisfied with $u = v \circ \phi$ and $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}^1_{Ω} to $\mathcal{L}(H^1_0(\Omega)^m) \times \mathcal{B}_s(H^1_0(\Omega)^m)$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ to $(T_{\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{\phi})$ is real-analytic.

Proof of Theorem 5.2. First of all, we note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [9, Subsection 10.3]) $v^{(l)} \in H^2(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$ for all $l \in F$. We

observe that the proof is very similar to that of Theorem 2.2. It only remains to compute

$$< \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}], u^{(l)} >_{\tilde{\phi}} = d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \mathcal{J}_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][u^{(l)}] - \lambda_F^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} S_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][u^{(l)}].$$

By formula (2.12) we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\mathcal{J}_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][u^{(l)}] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} |v^{(l)}|^2 \mathrm{div}\zeta dy.$$

Using Lemma 5.4 below, and the fact that $v^{(l)} = 0$ on $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} S_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][u^{(l)}] \\ &= -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial v^{(l)}_i}{\partial y_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial v^{(l)}_j}{\partial y_{\beta}} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}] \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla(|v^{(l)}|^2) \cdot \zeta dy. \end{aligned}$$

To conclude, just observe that

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla(|v^{(l)}|^2) \cdot \zeta dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} |v^{(l)}|^2 \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} |v^{(l)}|^2 \operatorname{div} \zeta dy. \quad (5.10)$$

Lemma 5.4. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , and let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$. Let $u^{(1)}, u^{(2)} \in H^1_0(\Omega)^m$ be such that $v^{(1)} = u^{(1)} \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}, v^{(2)} = u^{(2)} \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1} \in H^2(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$. Then

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}S_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(1)}][u^{(2)}] = -\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\nu_{\alpha}\frac{\partial v^{(1)}_{i}}{\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial v^{(2)}_{j}}{\partial y_{\beta}}\zeta_{r}d\sigma$$
$$-\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\nu_{\beta}\frac{\partial v^{(2)}_{j}}{\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial v^{(1)}_{i}}{\partial y_{\alpha}}\zeta_{r}d\sigma + \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial v^{(1)}_{i}}{\partial y_{\alpha}}\frac{\partial v^{(2)}_{j}}{\partial y_{\beta}}\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$
$$+\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial v^{(1)}_{i}}{\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial^{2}v^{(2)}_{j}}{\partial y_{\alpha}\partial y_{\beta}}\zeta_{r}d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial v^{(2)}_{j}}{\partial y_{r}}\frac{\partial^{2}v^{(1)}_{i}}{\partial y_{\alpha}\partial y_{\beta}}\zeta_{r}d\sigma, \quad (5.11)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{-1}$.

Proof. We have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}S_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(1)}][u^{(2)}] = -\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial v^{(1)}_i}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v^{(2)}_j}{\partial y_\beta} dy -\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial v^{(1)}_i}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v^{(2)}_j}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_\beta} dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial v^{(1)}_i}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v^{(2)}_j}{\partial y_\beta} \mathrm{div}\zeta dy. \quad (5.12)$$

Now note that

$$-\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta} dy = -\int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \nu_\alpha \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \frac{\partial v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta} d\sigma$$

$$+\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \frac{\partial^2 v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\alpha \partial y_\beta} dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial^2 v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_\alpha \partial y_r} \zeta_r \frac{\partial v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta} dy$$

$$= -\int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \nu_\alpha \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \frac{\partial v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta} d\sigma + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \frac{\partial^2 v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\alpha \partial y_\beta} dy$$

$$+ \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta} div \zeta dy$$

$$- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 v_j^{(2)}}{\partial y_\beta \partial y_r} \zeta_r dy. \quad (5.13)$$

If we use in (5.12) the last equality in (5.13), and the first equality in (5.13) replacing *i* with *j*, α with β and $v^{(1)}$ with $v^{(2)}$, thanks to property (1.14) we get formula (5.11).

5.1.2 Isovolumetric perturbations

As we have done in Chapters 2 and 3, we consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the *N*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 5.5. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Assume that $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 and that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ have the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. For s = 1, ..., |F|, the function $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constraint if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(|F|)}$ of the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ of problem (5.4) in $H_0^1(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$, and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(l)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(l)}}{\partial y_\beta} = c, \qquad (5.14)$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

Now we introduce the following generalization of the notion of rotation invariance for scalar operators.

Definition 5.6. The operator \mathcal{L} formally defined by

$$\mathcal{L}(u)_j = -a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_\alpha \partial x_\beta}$$

is said to be rotation invariant if there exists a group homomorphism

$$Z: O_N(\mathbb{R}) \to O_m(\mathbb{R}),$$

(*i.e.*, Z(AB) = Z(A)Z(B) for all $A, B \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$) such that

$$\mathcal{L}\left(Z(R)^{t}u\circ R\right)=Z(R)^{t}\mathcal{L}(u)\circ R,$$

for any $R \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$, and for any $u \in H^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)^m$.

Remark 5.7. We observe that, if $a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} = 2(\delta_{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta} + \delta_{i\beta}\delta_{j\alpha}) + k\delta_{i\alpha}\delta_{j\beta}$ for any constant $k > 1 - \frac{2}{N}$ (which is the choice related to the Lamé system (5.3)), then the operator \mathcal{L} is easily seen to be rotation invariant, Z being the identity map in $O_N(\mathbb{R})$. Moreover, note that Definition 5.6 applies to more general operators, such as the Reissner-Mindlin problem (6.1) (see Lemma 6.14).

We have the following

Theorem 5.8. Let B be a ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at zero, let S (defined in (5.6)) be a rotation invariant operator and let λ be an eigenvalue of S in B. Let F be the set of all indexes $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the j-th eigenvalue of S in B coincides with λ . Let $v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(|F|)}$ be an orthonormal basis of the eigenspace associated with the eigenvalue λ in $H_0^1(B)^m$ (with respect to the scalar product (5.5)). Then there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that condition (5.14) holds.

Proof. Since S is rotation invariant, $\{(Z(R)^t v_l) \circ R : l = 1, ..., |F|\}$ is another orthonormal basis for the eigenspace associated with λ , where $R \in O_n(\mathbb{R})$, and Z(R) is as in Definition 5.6. Since both $\{v^{(l)} : l = 1, ..., |F|\}$ and $\{(Z(R)^t v^{(l)}) \circ R : l = 1, ..., |F|\}$ are orthonormal bases, then there exists $A[R] \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$ with matrix $(A_{kh}[R])_{k,h=1,...,|F|}$ such that

$$(Z(R)^{t}v^{(k)}) \circ R = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} A_{kl}[R]v^{(l)}.$$
(5.15)

Using (5.15) we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^{|F|} |v^{(k)}|^2 \circ R = \sum_{k=1}^{|F|} |(Z(R)^t v^{(k)}) \circ R|^2$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{|F|} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} A_{kl}[R] v^{(l)} \right) \cdot \left(\sum_{h=1}^{|F|} A_{kh}[R] v^{(h)} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{|F|} \sum_{l,h=1}^{|F|} A_{lk}[R] A_{kh}[R] (v^{(l)} \cdot v^{(h)}) = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |v^{(l)}|^2,$$

and similarly,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{|F|} \left(a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(k)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(k)}}{\partial y_\beta} \right) \circ R = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(l)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(l)}}{\partial y_\beta} \right).$$

This concludes the proof.

Thus we get the following

Corollary 5.9. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let S be a rotation invariant operator. Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball. Let $\tilde{\lambda}$ be an eigenvalue of problem (5.4) in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, and let F be the set of $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \tilde{\lambda}$. Then $\Lambda_{F,s}$ has a critical point at $\tilde{\phi}$ with volume constraint, for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$.

5.2 Neumann boundary conditions

The classical formulation of the Neumann problem reads

$$\begin{cases}
-a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_\alpha \partial x_\beta} = \lambda u_j, \ j = 1, \dots, m, & \text{in } \Omega, \\
a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\nu_\beta \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_\alpha} = 0, \ j = 1, \dots, m, & \text{on } \partial\Omega,
\end{cases}$$
(5.16)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and ν is the outer unit normal to $\partial\Omega$. Note that, differently from Dirichlet boundary conditions, in this case there is a nontrivial kernel. It is easy to see that the kernel is *m*-dimensional and given by the constants.

We set

$$H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m := \left\{ u \in H^1(\Omega)^m : \int_{\Omega} u dx = 0 \right\},\,$$

where by $\int_{\Omega} u dx$ we mean the vector $(\int_{\Omega} u_1 dx, \ldots, \int_{\Omega} u_m dx)$. We consider on $H^1(\Omega)^m$ the bilinear form (5.5) for any $u, v \in H^1(\Omega)^m$. One can prove that it defines on $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ a scalar product whose induced norm is equivalent to the standard one defined by (1.11). We shall consider the space $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ endowed with the scalar product (5.5). We denote by π the map of $H^1(\Omega)^m$ to $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ defined by

$$\pi[u] = u - \frac{\int_{\Omega} u dx}{|\Omega|},$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)^m$, where $|\Omega|$ denotes the Lebesgue measure of Ω . We denote by π^{\sharp} the map of $H^1(\Omega)^m/\mathbb{R}^m$ onto $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ defined by the equality $\pi = \pi^{\sharp} \circ p$, where p is the canonical projection of $H^1(\Omega)^m$ onto $H^1(\Omega)^m/\mathbb{R}^m$.

We consider the operator S defined by (5.6) as a map from $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ to its dual. Note that, thanks to the Poincaré-Wirtinger Inequality, the norm induced from the quadratic form associated with the operator S is equivalent to the standard one of $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ (as a closed subspace of $H^1(\Omega)^m$), and therefore it turns out that S is a linear homeomorphism of $H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$ onto its dual.

We denote by \mathcal{J} the continuous embedding of $H^1(\Omega)^m$ into its dual, defined by

$$\mathcal{J}[u][v] := \int_{\Omega} u \cdot v dx, \ \forall u, v \in H^1(\Omega)^m.$$

Note that problem (5.16) can be written in the following weak form

$$S[u][v] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[u][v], \ \forall v \in H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m.$$
(5.17)

We define the operator $T := (\pi^{\sharp})^{(-1)} \circ S^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J} \circ \pi^{\sharp}$ from $H^1(\Omega)^m / \mathbb{R}^m$ to itself. We have the following result (see Lemma 2.1).

Lemma 5.10. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T is a non-negative compact selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space $H^1(\Omega)^m/\mathbb{R}^m$. Its spectrum is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $Tu = \mu u$ is satisfied for some $u \in H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$, $\mu > 0$ if and only if equation (5.16) is satisfied with $0 \neq \lambda = \mu^{-1}$ for any $\varphi \in H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m$.

We observe that the whole spectrum of problem (5.16) is given by the non-decreasing sequence $\{\lambda_j[\Omega]\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, where $\lambda_1[\Omega] = \cdots = \lambda_m[\Omega] = 0$ and the other eigenvalues are given by Lemma 5.10.

5.2.1 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problem (5.16) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_j[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ .

The main result of this section is the following

Theorem 5.11. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 and F be a finite set in \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in \mathcal{A}^1_{Ω} and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}(\Lambda_{F,s})[\psi] = -\lambda_F^s[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\lambda_F |v^{(l)}|^2 - a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(l)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(l)}}{\partial y_\beta}\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \quad (5.18)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{v^{(l)}\}_{l \in F}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H^{1,0}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$ (with respect to the scalar product (5.5)) of the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$.

As we have done for Theorem 5.2, in order to prove Theorem 5.11 we consider equation (5.16) on $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . Namely, we consider the equation

$$S[v][\psi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}[v][\psi], \quad \forall \ \psi \in H^{1,0}(\phi(\Omega))^m, \tag{5.19}$$

in the unknowns $v \in H^{1,0}(\phi(\Omega))^m$, $\lambda \in]0, \infty[$. We consider the operator S_{ϕ} as an operator acting from $H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m$ to its dual, where

$$H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m = \left\{ u \in H^1(\Omega)^m : \int_{\Omega} u |\text{det} \nabla \phi| dx = 0 \right\}.$$

5.2. Neumann boundary conditions

We will endow the space $H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m$ with the form

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\phi} = S_{\phi}[u][v], \ \forall u, v \in H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m.$$

Moreover, we denote by π_{ϕ} the map from $H^1(\Omega)^m$ to $H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m$ defined by

$$\pi_{\phi}[u] = u - rac{\int_{\Omega} u |\mathrm{det}
abla \phi| dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\mathrm{det}
abla \phi| dx},$$

and by π_{ϕ}^{\sharp} the map from $H^{1}(\Omega)^{m}/\mathbb{R}^{m}$ onto $H_{\phi}^{1,0}(\Omega)^{m}$ defined by the equality $\pi_{\phi} = \pi_{\phi}^{\sharp} \circ p$. Note that the map from $H^{1}(\Omega)^{m}$ to $H^{1}(\phi(\Omega))^{m}$ which maps u to $u \circ \phi^{(-1)}$ for all $u \in H^{1}(\Omega)^{m}$ is a linear homeomorphism. We also recall that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][w] = \int_{\Omega} u \cdot w |\det \nabla \phi| dx, \ \forall u, w \in H^{1}(\Omega)^{m}.$$

Hence, equation (5.19) is equivalent to

$$S_{\phi}[u][\varphi] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_{\phi}[u][\varphi], \quad \forall \ \varphi \in H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m$$

where $u = v \circ \phi$. It turns out that the operator T defined in Lemma 5.10 with Ω replaced by $\phi(\Omega)$ is unitarily equivalent to the operator T_{ϕ} defined on $H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m / \mathbb{R}^m$ by

$$T_{\phi} := (\pi_{\phi}^{\sharp})^{(-1)} \circ S_{\phi}^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}_{\phi} \circ \pi_{\phi}^{\sharp}$$

$$(5.20)$$

Thus we have the following lemma, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.3.

Lemma 5.12. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . The operator T_{ϕ} defined in (5.20) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $H^{1,0}_{\phi}(\Omega)^m/\mathbb{R}^m$. Equation (5.19) is satisfied for some $v \in H^{1,0}(\phi(\Omega))^m$ if and only if the equation $T_{\phi}u = \mu u$ is satisfied with $u = v \circ \phi$ and $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}^1_{Ω} to $\mathcal{L}(H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m) \times \mathcal{B}_s(H^{1,0}(\Omega)^m)$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ to $(T_{\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{\phi})$ is real-analytic.

Proof of Theorem 5.11. First of all, we note that by standard regularity theory (see e.g., [9, Subsection 10.3]) $v^{(l)} \in H^2(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$ for all $l \in F$. We observe that the proof is very similar to that of Teorem 2.2. It only remains to compute

$$< \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}], u^{(l)} >_{\tilde{\phi}} = d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \mathcal{J}_{\phi} \circ \pi_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u^{(l)})] - \lambda_{F}^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} S_{\phi} \circ \pi_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u^{(l)})].$$

By formula (2.12) we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\mathcal{J}_{\phi}\circ\pi_{\phi}[\psi][u^{(l)}][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u^{(l)})] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} |v^{(l)}|^2 \mathrm{div}\zeta dy.$$

Using Lemma 5.4 we obtain

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}S_{\phi}\circ\pi_{\phi}[\psi]u^{(l)}][\pi_{\tilde{\phi}}(u^{(l)})]$$

=
$$\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}a^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial v^{(l)}_{i}}{\partial y_{\alpha}}\frac{\partial v^{(l)}_{j}}{\partial y_{\beta}}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma - \lambda_{F}[\tilde{\phi}]\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\nabla(|v^{(l)}|^{2})\cdot\zeta dy.$$

Using formula (5.10) we get formula (5.18).

5.2.2 Isovolumetric perturbations

As in the previous section, we consider the following extremum problems for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\text{const}} \Lambda_{F,s}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the *N*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. We have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 5.13. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} . Assume that $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 and that the eigenvalues $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}]$ have the common value $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$. For $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$, the function $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constraint if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(|F|)}$ of the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}]$ of problem (5.17) in $H^{1,0}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^m$ (with respect to the scalar product (5.5)), and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(\lambda_F[\tilde{\phi}] |v^{(l)}|^2 - a_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial v_i^{(l)}}{\partial y_\alpha} \frac{\partial v_j^{(l)}}{\partial y_\beta} \right) = c,$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

Using the same arguments as in Theorem 5.8 we easily get the following

Theorem 5.14. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball. Let $\tilde{\lambda}$ be an eigenvalue of problem (5.16) in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$, and let F be the set of $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_j[\tilde{\phi}] = \tilde{\lambda}$. Then $\Lambda_{F,s}$ has a critical point at $\tilde{\phi}$ with volume constraint, for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$.

100

Chapter 6

The Reissner-Mindlin model for the vibrations of a clamped plate

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N with $N \ge 2$, and $t, \mu_1, \mu_2, k > 0$ be fixed parameters. We consider the following eigenvalue problem

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\mu_1}{12}\Delta\beta - \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12}\nabla \operatorname{div}\beta - \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}(\nabla w - \beta) = \frac{\lambda t^2}{12}\beta, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ -\frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}(\Delta w - \operatorname{div}\beta) = \lambda w, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \beta = 0, \quad w = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

in the unknowns $(\beta, w) = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_N, w)$ (the eigenvector) and λ (the eigenvalue). According to the Reissner-Mindlin model for moderately thin plates, for N = 2 system (6.1) describes the free vibration modes of an elastic clamped plate $\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)$ with midplane Ω and thickness t. In that case μ_1 and μ_2 are the Lamé constants, k is the correction factor, w the transverse displacement of the midplane, $\beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2)$ the fiber rotation and λt^2 the vibration frequency (see e.g., [21]).

The behavior of the solutions to Reissner-Mindlin systems as $t \to 0$ is well known. In particular, it is proved in [47] for N = 2 that $\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega] \to \lambda_{n,0}[\Omega]$ as $t \to 0$, where $\lambda_{n,0}[\Omega]$ are the eigenvalues of the problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{2\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \Delta^2 w = \lambda w, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ w = \nabla w = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

Although N = 2 seems to be the case of main interest in applications, our methods allow us to treat the general case without any restriction on the space dimension. Also, we set $\mathcal{V}(\Omega) = (H_0^1(\Omega))^N \times H_0^1(\Omega)$ and we denote by (β, w) the generic element of $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$, where $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_N) \in (H_0^1(\Omega))^N$ and $w \in H_0^1(\Omega)$.

6.1 The Reissner-Mindlin eigenvalue problem

For the sake of completeness, in this section we provide a physical justification for the study of problem (6.1) in the case N = 2. Assume the plate to be of the form $\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)$, where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is the midplane of the plate and t denotes its thickness. We consider the displacement of a point of coordinates (x_1, x_2, x_3) at the time T as

$$u(x, y, z, T) = (u_1(x_1, x_2, x_3, T), u_2(x_1, x_2, x_3, T), u_3(x_1, x_2, x_3, T)).$$

The standard assumption in the theory of plates is that the displacement u is of the form

$$u_1(x_1, x_2, x_3, T) = -x_3\theta_1(x_1, x_2, T), u_2(x_1, x_2, x_3, T) = -x_3\theta_2(x_1, x_2, T), u_3(x_1, x_2, x_3, T) = z(x_1, x_2, T).$$
(6.3)

Now we consider the strain tensor $\varepsilon(u)$ defined by

$$(\varepsilon(u))_{i,j} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} \right),$$

for all i, j = 1, 2, 3, and the shear tensor $\sigma(u)$ which is related to $\varepsilon(u)$ via Hooke's Law

$$\sigma(u) = 2\tilde{\mu}_1 \varepsilon(u) + (\tilde{\mu}_2 \operatorname{Tr} \varepsilon(u)) \mathbf{I}.$$

Here $\tilde{\mu}_1, \tilde{\mu}_2$ are the Lamé constants

$$\tilde{\mu}_1 = \frac{E}{2(1+\pi)}, \quad \tilde{\mu}_2 = \frac{\pi E}{(1+\pi)(1-2\pi)},$$

where E is the Young modulus and π is the Poisson ratio. The main hypotesis in the Reissner-Mindlin model is that the stress is planar, namely

$$\sigma_{33}(u) = 0.$$

(See also [21, §VII.3]). Note that this in principle is contraddictory, since by assumption $\varepsilon_{33}(u) = 0$. As a consequence, we assume a posteriori that

$$\varepsilon_{33}(u) = -\frac{\tilde{\mu}_2(\varepsilon_{11}(u) + \varepsilon_{22}(u))}{2\tilde{\mu}_1 + \tilde{\mu}_2}.$$

6.1. The Reissner-Mindlin eigenvalue problem

At this point we are able to write the elastic potential energy

$$\mathcal{U}(u) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \varepsilon(u) : \sigma(u) dV,$$

and, assuming the mass of the plate to be uniform, the kinetic energy

$$\mathcal{K}(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \dot{u}^2 dV,$$

where $dV = dx_1 dx_2 dx_3$ is the volume element. If the external force is zero, then the mechanical energy is preserved, i.e.,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\left(\mathcal{U}(u) + \mathcal{K}(u)\right) = 0.$$

Since

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\mathcal{U}(u)) = -\int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \varepsilon(\dot{u}) : \sigma(u) dV,$$

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\mathcal{K}(u)) = \int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \dot{u} \ddot{u} dV,$$

then the equation of motion becomes

$$\int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \varepsilon(\dot{u}) : \sigma(u) dV = \int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \dot{u} \ddot{u} dV$$

By choosing $\dot{u} = \xi = (-x_3\eta_1, -x_3\eta_2, v)$ as an arbitrary admissible velocity field, we obtain the variational equation

$$\int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \sigma(u) : \varepsilon(\xi) dV = \int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \ddot{u} \xi dV.$$
(6.4)

Easy computations show that

$$\sigma(u): \varepsilon(\xi) = \frac{x_3^2 E}{1 - \pi^2} \left((1 - \pi)\varepsilon(\theta) : \varepsilon(\eta) + \pi \operatorname{div}\theta \operatorname{div}\eta \right) \\ + \frac{E}{2(1 + \pi)} (\nabla z - \theta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta),$$

and therefore

$$\int_{\Omega \times (-t/2,t/2)} \sigma(u) : \varepsilon(\xi) dV$$

$$= \frac{t^3}{12} \frac{E}{1-\pi^2} \int_{\Omega} \left((1-\pi)\varepsilon(\theta) : \varepsilon(\eta) + \pi \operatorname{div}\theta \operatorname{div}\eta \right) dS$$

$$+ t \frac{E}{2(1+\pi)} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla z - \theta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta) dS, \quad (6.5)$$

where $dS = dx_1 dx_2$ is the area element. On the other hand

$$\int_{\Omega \times (-t/2, t/2)} \ddot{u}v dV = \frac{t^3}{12} \int_{\Omega} \ddot{\theta} \cdot \eta dS + t \int_{\Omega} \ddot{z}v dS.$$
(6.6)

By (6.4), (6.5) and (6.6) we obtain the following variational equation of motion

$$\frac{t^3}{12} \frac{E}{1-\pi^2} \int_{\Omega} \left((1-\pi)\varepsilon(\theta) : \varepsilon(\eta) + \pi \operatorname{div}\theta \operatorname{div}\eta \right) dS + t \frac{E}{2(1+\pi)} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla z - \theta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta) dS = \frac{t^3}{12} \int_{\Omega} \ddot{\theta} \cdot \eta dS + t \int_{\Omega} \ddot{z} v dS. \quad (6.7)$$

We look for solutions of equation (6.7) of the type

$$\theta(x_1, x_2, T) = e^{-i\omega T} \beta(x_1, x_2), \quad z(x_1, x_2, T) = e^{-i\omega T} w(x_1, x_2). \tag{6.8}$$

Substituting (6.8) in (6.7) we get

$$\frac{t^3}{12} \frac{E}{1-\pi^2} \int_{\Omega} \left((1-\pi)\varepsilon(\beta) : \varepsilon(\eta) + \pi \operatorname{div}\beta \operatorname{div}\eta \right) dS + t \frac{E}{2(1+\pi)} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla w - \beta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta) dS = \omega^2 \left(\frac{t^3}{12} \int_{\Omega} \beta \cdot \eta dS + t \int_{\Omega} wv dS \right).$$

Putting $\lambda = \omega^2 t^{-2}$ and dividing by t^3 we obtain

$$a(\beta,\eta) + \mathcal{C}t^{-2} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla w - \beta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta) dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} \left(wv + \frac{t^2}{12} \beta \cdot \eta \right) dx, \quad (6.9)$$

where $a(\beta, \eta) = \frac{E}{12(1-\pi^2)} \int_{\Omega} [(1-\pi)\epsilon(\beta) : \epsilon(\eta) + \pi \operatorname{div}\beta \operatorname{div}\eta] dx$ and $\mathcal{C} = \frac{Ek}{2(1+\pi)}$. Note that here we have introduced a correction factor k (usually k = 5/6, cf. [20, 21, 47]). By recalling Korn's indentity

$$2\int_{\Omega}\epsilon(\beta):\epsilon(\eta)dx = \int_{\Omega}\nabla\beta:\nabla\eta dx + \int_{\Omega}\mathrm{div}\beta\mathrm{div}\eta dx,$$

which holds for any $\beta, \eta \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$, and choosing

$$\mu_1 = \frac{E}{2(1+\pi)}$$
, and $\mu_2 = \frac{\pi E}{1-\pi^2}$,

problem (6.9) can be easily rewritten in the form

$$\frac{\mu_1}{12} \int_{\Omega} \nabla\beta : \nabla\eta dx + \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}\beta \operatorname{div}\eta dx + \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla w - \beta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta) dx$$
$$= \lambda \int_{\Omega} \left(wv + \frac{t^2}{12} \beta \cdot \eta \right) dx. \quad (6.10)$$

The formulation in (6.10) is somewhat more general since it allows other choices of constants $\mu_1, \mu_2 > 0$ including the standard Lamé constants $\mu_1 = \tilde{\mu}_1, \mu_2 = \tilde{\mu}_2$ as in e.g., [52]. We refer to [17] for further details.

Remark 6.1. The Kirchhoff-Love model assumes in addition that $\theta = \nabla z$ in (6.3). This assuption leads to problem (6.2).

As customary in Spectral Theory we interpret problem (6.10) as an eigenvalue problem for a non-negative selfadjoint operator in Hilbert space as follows. For any fixed t > 0, we denote by $\mathcal{L}_t^2(\Omega)$ the space $L^2(\Omega)^N \times L^2(\Omega)$ endowed with the scalar product

$$<(\beta,w),(\eta,v)>_t=\int_{\Omega}\left(wv+rac{t^2}{12}eta\cdot\eta
ight)dx,$$

for any $(\beta, w), (\eta, v) \in \mathcal{L}^2_t(\Omega)$. Clearly, for each t > 0 the norm induced by such scalar product is equivalent to the standard L^2 -norm. We also denote by R_t the operator from $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ to its dual defined by the left-hand side of (6.10). Note that R_t is coercive and it defines a scalar product on $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ which is equivalent to the standard one (in particular, Theorem 1.9 applies to problem (6.10)). Indeed, we consider the space $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ endowed with the following product

$$\langle (\beta, w), (\eta, v) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}(\Omega)} = R_t[(\beta, w)][(\eta, v)].$$

We will denote by $Q_{\Omega,t}(\beta, w) = R_t[(\beta, w)][(\beta, w)]$ the quadratic form associated with the operator R_t in $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$. We define the following embedding of $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ into its dual

$$\mathcal{J}_t[(\beta, w)][(\eta, v)] = \int_{\Omega} \left(wv + \frac{t^2}{12}\beta \cdot \eta \right) dx,$$

for any $(\beta, w), (\eta, v) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$. Therefore, problem (6.10) can be rewritten in the following form

$$R_t[(\beta, w)][(\eta, v)] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_t[(\beta, w)][(\eta, v)], \ \forall (\eta, v) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega).$$
(6.11)

We have the following result (see also Lemma 2.1).

Lemma 6.2. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N , t > 0. The operator $T_t \equiv R_t^{-1} \circ \mathcal{J}_t$ is a non-negative selfadjoint compact operator in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$. The spectrum of T_t is discrete and consists of a decreasing sequence of positive eigenvalues of finite multiplicity converging to zero. Moreover, the equation $T_t(\beta, w) = \rho(\beta, w)$ is satisfied for some $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$, $\rho > 0$ if and only if equation (6.10) is satisfied with $\lambda = \rho^{-1}$.

6.2 Quantitative estimates

6.2.1 Estimates via diffeomorphisms

Given an open set Ω in \mathbb{R}^N with finite measure, we consider a diffeomorphism from Ω onto another open set $\phi(\Omega)$ in \mathbb{R}^N and we prove a quantitative stability estimate for $|\lambda_{n,t}[\phi(\Omega)] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega]|$ in terms of the measure of vicinity $\delta(\phi)$ defined by

$$\delta(\phi) = \max_{1 \le |\alpha| \le 2} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |D^{\alpha}(\phi(x) - x)|.$$

In order to obtain an estimate independent of t, we use the special transformation C_{ϕ} from the space $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ onto $\mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega))$ defined by

$$C_{\phi}(\beta, w) = (\beta \nabla \phi^{-1}, w) \circ \phi^{(-1)}, \qquad (6.12)$$

for all $(w, \beta) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$. Here and in the sequel we denote by A^{-1} the inverse of a matrix A, as opposed to the inverse of a function f which is denoted by $f^{(-1)}$; we shall also denote by A^t the transpose of A.

It is clear that in order to guarantee that C_{ϕ} is well-defined, it suffices to assume that ϕ is a diffeomorphism of class $C^{1,1}$, i.e., ϕ and its inverse have Lipschitz continuous gradients. In fact, it is easy to prove the following lemma that will be used in the sequel.

Lemma 6.3. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N and let $\phi : \Omega \to \phi(\Omega)$ be a diffeomorphism of class $C^{1,1}$ from Ω onto an open set $\phi(\Omega)$ in \mathbb{R}^N . Assume that

$$\max_{1 \le |\alpha| \le 2} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |D^{\alpha} \phi(x)| < \infty, \quad \inf_{x \in \Omega} |\det \nabla \phi(x)| > 0.$$

Then C_{ϕ} is a linear homeomorphism from $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ onto $\mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega))$.

Then we can prove the following

Lemma 6.4. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N with finite measure and let ϕ : $\Omega \to \phi(\Omega)$ be a diffeomorphism of class $C^{1,1}$ from Ω onto an open set $\phi(\Omega)$ in \mathbb{R}^N . Assume that there exist $M_1, M_2 > 0$ such that

$$\max_{1 \le |\alpha| \le 2} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |D^{\alpha} \phi(x)| < M_1, \quad \inf_{x \in \Omega} |\det \nabla \phi(x)| > M_2.$$
(6.13)

Then there exists c > 0 depending only on $N, M_1, M_2, \mu_1, \mu_2$ and $|\Omega|$ such that

$$|Q_{\phi(\Omega),t}(C_{\phi}(\beta,w)) - Q_{\Omega,t}(\beta,w)| \le cQ_{\Omega,t}(\beta,w)\delta(\phi), \tag{6.14}$$

for all t > 0 and $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$.

Proof. Let $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$. To shorten our notation, we denote by $C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)$ the first entry of $C_{\phi}(\beta, w)$, i.e., $C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta) = (\beta \nabla \phi^{-1}) \circ \phi^{(-1)}$. We begin by estimating $\int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \beta|^2 dx$. By means of a change of variables, we get

$$\int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy = \int_{\Omega} |(\nabla (\beta \nabla \phi^{-1})) \nabla \phi^{-1}|^2 |\det \nabla \phi| dx.$$
(6.15)

It is easy to see that in order to estimate $\int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \beta|^2 dx$ it suffices to estimate $\int_{\Omega} (|(\nabla (\beta \nabla \phi^{-1})) \nabla \phi^{-1}|^2 - |\nabla \beta|^2) |\det \nabla \phi| dx$. We clearly have that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\Omega} (|(\nabla(\beta \nabla \phi^{-1})) \nabla \phi^{-1}|^2 - |\nabla \beta|^2) |\det \nabla \phi| dx \right| \\ &\leq \|\det \nabla \phi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \|(\nabla(\beta \nabla \phi^{-1})) \nabla \phi^{-1} - \nabla \beta\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \\ &\cdot (\|(\nabla(\beta \nabla \phi^{-1})) \nabla \phi^{-1}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\nabla \beta\|_{L^2(\Omega)}). \end{aligned}$$
(6.16)

By the triangle inequality we get

$$\begin{aligned} \| (\nabla(\beta \nabla \phi^{-1})) \nabla \phi^{-1} - \nabla \beta \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \| \nabla \phi^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \nabla(\beta \nabla \phi^{-1}) - \nabla \beta \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &+ \| \nabla \phi^{-1} - I \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \nabla \beta \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.17)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(\beta\nabla\phi^{-1}) - \nabla\beta\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} &\leq \|\nabla\phi^{-1} - I\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \|\nabla\beta\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &+ \|\nabla(\nabla\phi^{-1})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \|\beta\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.18)

Moreover

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(\beta\nabla\phi^{-1})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} &\leq \|\nabla\phi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}\|\nabla\beta\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &+ \|\nabla(\nabla\phi^{-1})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}\|\beta\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.19)

By standard calculus it follows that there exists a constant c > 0 depending only on N, M_1, M_2 such that

$$\|\nabla\phi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le c \tag{6.20}$$

and

$$\|\nabla\phi^{-1} - I\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}, \ \|\nabla(\nabla\phi^{-1}))\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le c\delta(\phi).$$
(6.21)

By using the Poincaré inequality $\|\beta\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq c \|\nabla\beta\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$ with c depending only on N and $|\Omega|$, and combining inequalities (6.15)-(6.21) we conclude that

$$\left| \int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \beta|^2 dx \right| \le c_1 \delta(\phi) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \beta|^2 dx, \qquad (6.22)$$

where the constant c_1 depends only on N, M_1, M_2 and $|\Omega|$.

Similarly, one can also prove the existence of a constant $c_2 > 0$ depending only on N, M_1, M_2 and $|\Omega|$ such that

$$\left| \int_{\phi(\Omega)} (\operatorname{div} C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta))^2 dy - \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div}\beta)^2 dx \right| \le c_2 \delta(\phi) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla\beta|^2 dx.$$
(6.23)

Finally, we estimate $\int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla(w \circ \phi^{(-1)}) - C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w - \beta|^2 dx$. We note that

$$\int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla(w \circ \phi^{(-1)}) - C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy = \int_{\Omega} |(\nabla w - \beta) \cdot \nabla \phi^{-1}|^2 |\det \nabla \phi| dx$$

and that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left\| |(\nabla w - \beta) \cdot \nabla \phi^{-1}|^2 - |\nabla w - \beta|^2 \right| dx$$

$$\leq \| \nabla \phi^{-1} (\nabla \phi^{-1})^T - I \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w - \beta|^2 dx.$$

It follows that there exists $c_3 > 0$ depending only on N, M_1, M_2 such that

$$\left| \int_{\phi(\Omega)} |\nabla(w \circ \phi^{(-1)}) - C_{\phi}^{(1)}(\beta)|^2 dy - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w - \beta|^2 dx \right| \le c_3 \delta(\phi) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w - \beta|^2 dx. \quad (6.24)$$

By combining inequalities (6.22), (6.23), (6.24), we deduce the validity of (6.14). \Box

As in the case of elliptic systems of partial differential equations discussed in Chapter 4, we can prove the following

Theorem 6.5. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N with finite measure and $M_1, M_2 > 0$. Then there exists c > 0 depending only on μ_1, μ_2, M_1, M_2 and $|\Omega|$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,t}[\phi(\Omega)] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega]| \le c\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega]\delta(\phi), \qquad (6.25)$$

for all t > 0 and for all diffeomorphisms ϕ of class $C^{1,1}$ from Ω onto an open set $\phi(\Omega)$ in \mathbb{R}^N such that inequalities (6.13) are satisfied and $\delta(\phi) < c^{-1}$.

Proof. Let ϕ be a diffeomorphism of class $C^{1,1}$ from Ω onto an open set $\phi(\Omega)$ in \mathbb{R}^N , satisfying inequalities (6.13). Obviously we have

$$\left| \frac{Q_{\phi(\Omega)}(C_{\phi}(\beta, w))}{\|C_{\phi}(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2}} - \frac{Q_{\Omega}(\beta, w)}{\|(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2}} \right| \leq \frac{|Q_{\phi(\Omega)}(C_{\phi}(\beta, w)) - Q_{\Omega}(\beta, w)|}{\|C_{\phi}(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2}} + \frac{Q_{\Omega}(\beta, w) \left\| \|C_{\phi}(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2} - \|(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2}}{\|C_{\phi}(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2} - \|(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2}}.$$
(6.26)

As in the proof of Lemma 6.4, one can prove the existence of a constant c > 0 depending only on N, M_1, M_2 such that

$$\|C_{\phi}(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2} \ge c\|(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2}$$
(6.27)

and

$$\left| \|C_{\phi}(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2} - \|(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2} \right| \le c\delta(\phi) \|(\beta, w)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2}, \qquad (6.28)$$

see also Lemma 6.3. By combining inequalities (6.14) and (6.26)-(6.28) we deduce that

$$(1 - c\delta(\phi)) \frac{Q_{\Omega}(\beta, w)}{\|(\beta, w))\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2}} \leq \frac{Q_{\phi(\Omega)}(C_{\phi}(\beta, w))}{\|C_{\phi}(\beta, w))\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\phi(\Omega))}^{2}} \leq (1 + c\delta(\phi)) \frac{Q_{\Omega}(\beta, w)}{\|(\beta, w))\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}_{t}(\Omega)}^{2}}.$$
 (6.29)

If $1 - c\delta(\phi) > 0$, it is possible to apply the Min-Max Principle to deduce (6.25) from (6.29) combined with Lemma 6.3.

Remark 6.6. Since the weak formulation (6.10) involves only weak derivatives of the first order, one may try to obtain stability estimates also under weaker assumptions of ϕ . For example, one may think of using bi-Lipschitz domain transformations, i.e., maps ϕ of class $C^{0,1}$ together with their inverses (cf. Chapter 4). In this case, one would replace the measure of vicinity $\delta(\phi)$ by the natural weaker measure of vicinity

$$\delta(\phi) = \|\nabla \phi - I\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}.$$

In order to prove the corresponding estimate, in the proof of Theorem 6.5 one should replace the operator C_{ϕ} defined in (6.12) by the operator \tilde{C}_{ϕ} defined by

$$\tilde{C}_{\phi}(\beta, w) = (\beta \circ \phi^{(-1)}, w \circ \phi^{(-1)}),$$

for all $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$. The definition of the operator \tilde{C}_{ϕ} does not involve $\nabla \phi$ and establishes a linear homeomorphism between $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ and $\mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega))$. Unfortunately, the summand $\int_{\Omega} (\nabla w - \beta) \cdot (\nabla v - \eta) dx$ in the quadratic form (6.10) does not behave well under the transformation \tilde{C}_{ϕ} and this would lead to an estimate depending on t. Namely, one would obtain the estimate

$$|\lambda_{n,t}[\phi(\Omega)] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega]| \le \frac{c}{t^2} \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega] \tilde{\delta}(\phi),$$

where the presence of a better measure of vicinity $\tilde{\delta}(\phi)$ is compensated by the presence of the factor t^2 which spoils the estimate for t close to zero.

6.2.2 Estimates via atlas and Hausdorff distance

Proceeding as in Chapter 4 we can prove the following

Theorem 6.7. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N . Then there exists c > 0 depending only on $\mathcal{A}, \mu_1, \mu_2$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_2]| \le c \max\{\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1], \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_2]\} d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2), \qquad (6.30)$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, t > 0 and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < c^{-1}$.

Proof. Let E > 0 be as in Lemma 4.4 and let $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ be such that $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < \epsilon/s$. Clearly $\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2 \in C(\mathcal{A})$ and $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2, \Omega_1), d_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2, \Omega_2) < \epsilon/s$. Thus by Lemma 4.4 we have that $\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_1), \phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_2) \subset \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$. By the monotonicity of the eigenvalues with respect to inclusion, we immediately get

$$\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_i] \le \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2] \le \lambda_{n,t}[\phi_{\epsilon}(\Omega_i)],$$

for i = 1, 2. Moreover, by combining Theorem 6.5 and Lemma 4.4, we deduce that there exists c as in the statement such that

$$|\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_i] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2]| \le |\lambda_{n,t}[\phi_\epsilon(\Omega_i)] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_i]| \le c\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_i]\epsilon, \quad (6.31)$$

for i = 1, 2, provided $\epsilon \leq c^{-1}$. Inequality (6.30) easily follows by choosing $\epsilon = 2sd_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$ in (6.31).

Remark 6.8. We note that by Theorem 1.4 and estimate (6.30), it immediately follows that if ω is a modulus of continuity as in Definition 1.1 then there exist c > 0 depending only on $\mathcal{A}, \omega, \mu_1, \mu_2$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_2]| \le c \max\{\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1], \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_2]\} \omega(d_{\mathcal{HP}}(\partial\Omega_1, \partial\Omega_2)), \quad (6.32)$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, t > 0 and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying the condition $d_{\mathcal{HP}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) < c^{-1}$.

In several papers devoted to stability estimates for domain perturbation problems, the vicinity of two domains is described by means of ϵ -neighborhoods of the boundaries defined by the Euclidean distance (see e.g., [34, 45]). This can be done also in the case of the Reissner-Mindlin system. Indeed, we have the following

Corollary 6.9. Let \mathcal{A} be an atlas in \mathbb{R}^N , ω a modulus of continuity as in Definition 1.1 and M > 0. Then there exists c > 0 depending only on $\mathcal{A}, \omega, \mu_1, \mu_2 M$ such that

$$|\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1] - \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_2]| \le c \max\{\lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_1], \lambda_{n,t}[\Omega_2]\}\omega(\epsilon), \tag{6.33}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, t > 0, $\epsilon \in]0, c^{-1}[$ and for all $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \in C_M^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying (1.7) or (1.8).

Proof. Note that if Ω_1 and Ω_2 satisfy either (1.7) or (1.8), then they also satisfy (1.9), which combined with inequality (6.32) allows to deduce (6.33).

6.3 Analyticity results

Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 . We shall consider problem (6.10) in $\phi(\Omega)$ for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ and study the dependence of $\lambda_{j,t}[\phi(\Omega)]$ on ϕ .

The main result of this section is the following

Theorem 6.10. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , t > 0and F a finite non-empty subset of \mathbb{N} . The set $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ is open in \mathcal{A}^1_{Ω} and the real-valued maps which take $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ to $\Lambda_{F,s}[\phi]$ are real-analytic on $\mathcal{A}_{F,\Omega}$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$. Moreover, if $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{F,\Omega}$ is such that the eigenvalues $\lambda_{j,t}[\tilde{\phi}]$ assume the common value $\lambda_{F,t}[\tilde{\phi}]$ for all $j \in F$, and $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 then the Frechét differential of the map $\Lambda_{F,s}$ at the point $\tilde{\phi}$ is delivered by the formula

$$d_{|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}}\Lambda_{F,s}[\psi] = -\lambda_{F,t}^{s-1}[\tilde{\phi}] \binom{|F|-1}{s-1} \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\mu_1}{12} \left|\frac{\partial\beta^{(l)}}{\partial\nu}\right|^2 + \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \left(\frac{\partial\beta^{(l)}}{\partial\nu} \cdot \nu\right)^2 + \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} \left(\frac{\partial w^{(l)}}{\partial\nu}\right)^2\right) \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma, \quad (6.34)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$ and $\{(\beta^{(l)}, w^{(l)})\}_{l=1}^{|F|}$ is an orthonormal basis in $\mathcal{V}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ for the eigenspace associated with $\lambda_{F,t}[\tilde{\phi}]$.

In order to prove Theorem 6.10 we consider equation (6.11) in $\phi(\Omega)$ and pull it back to Ω . Namely, we consider the equation

$$R_t[(\beta, w)][(\eta, v)] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_t[(\beta, w)][(\eta, v)], \quad \forall \ (\eta, v) \in \mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega)), \tag{6.35}$$

in the unknowns $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega)), \lambda \in]0, \infty[$.

We will denote by $\mathcal{V}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ the space $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ endowed with the form

$$<(\beta,w)(\eta,v)>_{t,\phi}=R_{t,\phi}[(\beta,w)][(\eta,v)],\;\forall(\beta,w),(\eta,v)\in\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$$

Moreover, we recall that

$$\mathcal{J}_{t,\phi}[(\beta,w)][(\eta,v)] = \int_{\Omega} \left(wv + \frac{t^2}{12}\beta \cdot \eta \right) |\det \nabla \phi| dx, \ \forall (\beta,w), (\eta,v) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega).$$

Note that the map from $\mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ to $\mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega))$ which maps (β, w) to $(\beta \circ \phi^{(-1)}, w \circ \phi^{(-1)})$ for all $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\Omega)$ is a linear homeomorphism. Hence, equation (6.11) is equivalent to

$$R_{t,\phi}[(\theta, u)][(\dot{\theta}, \dot{u})] = \lambda \mathcal{J}_{t,\phi}[(\theta, u)][(\dot{\theta}, \dot{u})], \quad \forall \ (\dot{\theta}, \dot{u}) \in \mathcal{V}_{\phi}(\Omega),$$

where $(\theta, u) = (\beta \circ \phi, w \circ \phi)$. It turns out that the operator T_t defined in Lemma 6.2 with Ω replaced by $\phi(\Omega)$ is unitarily equivalent to the operator $T_{t,\phi}$ defined on $\mathcal{V}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ by

$$T_{t,\phi} := R_{t,\phi}^{(-1)} \circ \mathcal{J}_{t,\phi}.$$
 (6.36)

Thus we have the following lemma, whose proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2.3.

Lemma 6.11. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , t > 0. The operator $T_{t,\phi}$ defined in (6.36) is non-negative selfadjoint and compact on the Hilbert space $\mathcal{V}_{\phi}(\Omega)$. The equation (6.35) is satisfied for some $(\beta, w) \in \mathcal{V}(\phi(\Omega))$ if and only if the equation $T_{t,\phi}(\theta, u) = \rho(\theta, u)$ is satisfied with $(\theta, u) = (\beta \circ \phi, w \circ \phi)$ and $\rho = \lambda^{-1}$. Moreover, the map from \mathcal{A}^1_{Ω} to $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{V}(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{B}_s(\mathcal{V}(\Omega))$ which takes $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ to $(T_{t,\phi}, < \cdot, \cdot >_{t,\phi})$ is real-analytic.

Proof of Theorem 6.10. First of all, we note that by standard regularity theory (see [9, §10.3]), the eigenvectors $(\beta^{(i)}, w^{(i)}) \in H^2(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))^{N+1}$, i = 1, 2. We observe that the proof is very similar to that of Theorem 2.2. It only remains to compute

$$< \mathbf{d}|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} T_{t,\phi}[\psi][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})], (\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)}) >_{t, \tilde{\phi}} = d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} \mathcal{J}_{t,\phi}[\psi][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})] - \lambda_{t,F}^{-1}[\tilde{\phi}]d|_{\phi = \tilde{\phi}} R_{t,\phi}[\psi][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})].$$

By standard calculus in normed spaces we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}\mathcal{J}_{t,\phi}[\psi][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})][(\theta^{(l)}, u^{(l)})] = \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(|w^{(l)}|^2 + \frac{t^2}{12} |\beta^{(l)}|^2 \right) \operatorname{div}\zeta dy,$$

see also (2.12). Using Lemma 6.12 below, we get formula (6.34).

Lemma 6.12. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N and $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 . Let t > 0 and $(\beta^{(i)}, w^{(i)}) \in \mathcal{V}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$, i = 1, 2 be eigenvectors associated with an eigenvalue $\tilde{\lambda}$ of the operator R_t in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$. Let $(\theta^{(i)}, u^{(i)}) = (\beta^{(i)} \circ \tilde{\phi}, w^{(i)} \circ \tilde{\phi})$, i = 1, 2. Then we have

$$d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}}R_{t,\phi}[\psi][(\theta^{(1)}, u^{(1)})][(\theta^{(2)}, u^{(2)})] = -\frac{\mu_1}{12}\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial\beta^{(1)}}{\partial\nu} \cdot \frac{\partial\beta^{(2)}}{\partial\nu}\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$
$$-\frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12}\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial\beta^{(1)}}{\partial\nu} \cdot \nu \frac{\partial\beta^{(2)}}{\partial\nu} \cdot \nu \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma - \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial\nu}\zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$
$$+\tilde{\lambda}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(w^{(1)}w^{(2)} + \frac{t^2}{12}\beta^{(1)} \cdot \beta^{(2)}\right)\operatorname{div}\zeta dy, \quad (6.37)$$

for all $\psi \in C_b^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, where $\zeta = \psi \circ \tilde{\phi}^{(-1)}$.

Proof. Note that, in order to shorten our notation, in the sequel summation symbols will be omitted. By standard calculus in normed space and changing variables we get

$$\begin{aligned} d|_{\phi=\tilde{\phi}} \mathcal{R}_{t,\phi}[\psi][(\theta^{(1)}, u^{(1)})][(\theta^{(2)}, u^{(2)})] &= \frac{\mu_1}{12} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_j} \,\mathrm{div}\zeta dy \\ &- \frac{\mu_1}{12} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_j} + \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_j} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} dy \\ &- \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \mathrm{div}\beta^{(2)} + \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_r} \mathrm{div}\beta^{(1)} \right) \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} dy \\ &+ \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \mathrm{div}\beta^{(1)} \mathrm{div}\beta^{(2)} \mathrm{div}\zeta dy \\ &- \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \left(\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial y_i} - \beta_i^{(2)} \right) dy \\ &- \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_i} - \beta_i^{(1)} \right) \frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} dy \\ &+ \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_i} - \beta_i^{(1)} \right) \left(\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial y_i} - \beta_i^{(2)} \right) \mathrm{div}\zeta dy. \end{aligned}$$
(6.38)

Now note that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_j} dy &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial \nu} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta \beta^{(2)} \cdot (\nabla \beta^{(1)} \cdot \zeta) dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} \zeta_r dy \\ &= - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \Delta \beta^{(2)} \cdot (\nabla \beta^{(1)} \cdot \zeta) dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial^2 \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_j \partial y_r} \zeta_r dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_j} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_j} \mathrm{div} \zeta dy. \quad (6.39) \end{split}$$

Note that here and in the sequel we also use the fact that if U is a smooth open set and $f \in H^2(U) \cap H^1_0(U)$ then $\nabla f = \frac{\partial f}{\partial \nu} \nu$ on ∂U ; moreover, if $g \in (H^2(U) \cap H^1_0(U))^N$ then $\operatorname{div} g = \frac{\partial g}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu$ on ∂U . By (6.39) the sum of the first two integrals in the right-hand side of

(6.38) equals

$$-\frac{\mu_1}{12}\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial\beta^{(1)}}{\partial\nu}\cdot\frac{\partial\beta^{(2)}}{\partial\nu}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma +\frac{\mu_1}{12}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\Delta\beta_i^{(1)}\nabla\beta_i^{(2)}+\Delta\beta_i^{(2)}\nabla\beta_i^{(1)}\right)\cdot\zeta dy.$$

Now we observe that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)} dy &= \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta^{(1)}}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \mathrm{div} \beta^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)} dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)}}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r dy \\ &= - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)}}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \mathrm{div} \beta^{(1)} \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)} \mathrm{div} \zeta dy \\ &+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \mathrm{div} \beta^{(1)} \frac{\partial \mathrm{div} \beta^{(2)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r dy. \end{split}$$

Thus, the sum of third and the fourth integral in the right-hand side of (6.38) is equal to

$$\frac{\mu_{1} + \mu_{2}}{12} \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \left(\frac{\partial \operatorname{div}\beta^{(1)}}{\partial y_{i}} \frac{\partial \beta_{i}^{(2)}}{\partial y_{r}} + \frac{\partial \operatorname{div}\beta^{(2)}}{\partial y_{i}} \frac{\partial \beta_{i}^{(1)}}{\partial y_{r}} \right) \zeta_{r} dy \\ - \frac{\mu_{1} + \mu_{2}}{12} \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial \beta^{(1)}}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \frac{\partial \beta^{(2)}}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma.$$

Now note that

$$\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \frac{\partial \zeta_r}{\partial y_i} \left(\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial y_i} - \beta_i^{(2)} \right) dy = \int_{\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial \nu} \zeta \cdot \nu d\sigma$$
$$- \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \left(\Delta w^{(2)} - \operatorname{div}\beta^{(2)} \right) dy - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial^2 w^{(1)}}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} \zeta_r \left(\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial y_i} - \beta_i^{(2)} \right) dy$$
$$= - \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_r} \zeta_r \left(\Delta w^{(2)} - \operatorname{div}\beta^{(2)} \right) dy + \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \nabla w^{(1)} (\nabla w^{(2)} - \beta^{(2)}) \operatorname{div}\zeta dy$$
$$+ \int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)} \frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_i} \left(\frac{\partial^2 w^{(2)}}{\partial y_i \partial y_r} - \frac{\partial \beta_i^{(2)}}{\partial y_r} \right) \zeta_r dy. \quad (6.40)$$

By using the second equality in (6.40), and the first equality in (6.40) with $(\beta^{(1)}, w^{(1)})$ replaced by $(\beta^{(2)}, w^{(2)})$, we get that the sum of the last three integrals in (6.38) is equal to

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial\nu}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \\ &+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\Delta w^{(1)}-\operatorname{div}\beta^{(1)})\nabla w^{(2)}\cdot\zeta dy \\ &+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\Delta w^{(2)}-\operatorname{div}\beta^{(2)})\nabla w^{(1)}\cdot\zeta dy \\ &-\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\beta^{(1)}(\nabla w^{(2)}-\beta^{(2)})\operatorname{div}\zeta dy+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_{i}}\frac{\partial \beta_{i}^{(2)}}{\partial y_{r}}\zeta_{r}dy \\ &-\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\beta^{(1)}_{i}\frac{\partial^{2}w^{(2)}}{\partial y_{i}\partial y_{r}}\zeta_{r}dy=-\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\partial\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial\nu}\frac{\partial w^{(2)}}{\partial\nu}\zeta\cdot\nu d\sigma \\ &+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\Delta w^{(1)}-\operatorname{div}\beta^{(1)})\nabla w^{(2)}\cdot\zeta dy \\ &+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}(\Delta w^{(2)}-\operatorname{div}\beta^{(2)})\nabla w^{(1)}\cdot\zeta dy \\ &+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_{i}}-\beta^{(1)}_{i}\right)\frac{\partial\beta_{i}^{(2)}}{\partial y_{r}}\zeta_{r}dy \\ &+\frac{\mu_{1}k}{t^{2}}\int_{\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)}\left(\frac{\partial w^{(1)}}{\partial y_{i}}-\beta^{(1)}_{i}\right)\frac{\partial\beta_{i}^{(2)}}{\partial y_{r}}\zeta_{r}dy. \end{split}$$

Using the fact that

$$-\frac{\mu_1}{12}\Delta\beta^{(i)} - \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12}\nabla \operatorname{div}\beta^{(i)} - \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} (\nabla w^{(i)} - \beta^{(i)}) = \frac{\tilde{\lambda}t^2}{12}\beta^{(i)},$$

and

$$-\frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} (\Delta w^{(i)} - \operatorname{div} \beta^{(i)}) = \tilde{\lambda} w^{(i)},$$

for i = 1, 2, we get formula (6.37).

6.4 Isovolumetric perturbations

As in the previous chapters, we consider the following extremum problem for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues

$$\min_{V[\phi]=\mathrm{const}} \Lambda^{(s)}_{F,t}[\phi] \quad \mathrm{or} \quad \max_{V[\phi]=\mathrm{const}} \Lambda^{(s)}_{F,t}[\phi],$$

where $V[\phi]$ denotes the N-dimensional Lebesgue measure of $\phi(\Omega)$. we have the following result, whose proof is analogous to that of Theorem 2.7.

Theorem 6.13. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N and t > 0. Let F be a non-empty finite subset of \mathbb{N} and $s \in \{1, \ldots, |F|\}$. Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \Theta_{\Omega}[F]$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is of class C^2 . Then $\tilde{\phi}$ is a critical point for $\Lambda_{F,s}$ with volume constraint if and only if there exists an orthonormal basis $(\beta^{(1)}, w^{(1)}), \ldots, (\beta^{(|F|)}, w^{(|F|)})$ in $\mathcal{V}(\tilde{\phi}(\Omega))$ of the eigenspace associated with the eigenvalue $\lambda_{F,t}[\tilde{\phi}]$ and there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left(\frac{\mu_1}{12} \left| \frac{\partial \beta^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \right|^2 + \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12} \left(\frac{\partial \beta^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \right)^2 + \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} \left(\frac{\partial w^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \right)^2 \right) = c, \quad (6.41)$$

almost everywhere in $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$.

As in the case of the Laplace operator discussed in [67] and polyharmonic operators considered in the previous chapters (see also [27, 28]), it turns out that if $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball then condition (6.41) is satisfied. In order to prove it, we need the following lemma. Recall that β is thought as a row vector.

Lemma 6.14. The operator R_t is rotation invariant (in the sense of Definition 5.6). In particular, let B be a ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at zero, t > 0, and let (β, w) be an eigenvector of R_t in B associated with an eigenvalue λ . Let A be an orthogonal linear transformation in \mathbb{R}^N and M the corresponding matrix. Then also $((\beta \circ A)M, w \circ A)$ is an eigenvector of $R_{B,t}$ associated with λ .

Proof. First of all, we note that the rotation invariance of the Laplace operator yields

$$\Delta((\beta \circ A)M) = ((\Delta\beta) \circ A)M, \text{ and } \Delta(w \circ A) = (\Delta w) \circ A.$$

Moreover, by standard calculus we have

$$\operatorname{div}((\beta \circ A)M) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(M^{t}\nabla(\beta \circ A)\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(M^{t}((\nabla\beta) \circ A)M\right) = (\operatorname{div}\beta) \circ A,$$

where Tr denotes the trace of a matrix, and

$$\nabla \operatorname{div}((\beta \circ A)M) = \nabla((\operatorname{div}\beta) \circ A) = ((\nabla \operatorname{div}\beta) \circ A)M.$$

By using the previous identities and the fact that (β, w) is a solution to (6.1), we get

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{\mu_1}{12}\Delta((\beta \circ A)M) - \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12}\nabla \operatorname{div}((\beta \circ A)M) - \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}(\nabla(w \circ A) - (\beta \circ A)M) \\ = -\frac{\mu_1}{12}((\Delta\beta) \circ A)M - \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{12}((\nabla \operatorname{div}\beta) \circ A)M - \frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2}((\nabla w) \circ A - (\beta \circ A))M \\ = \frac{\lambda t^2}{12}(\beta \circ A)M, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$-\frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} (\Delta(w \circ A) - (\operatorname{div}((\beta \circ A)M)) = -\frac{\mu_1 k}{t^2} (\Delta w - \operatorname{div}\beta) \circ A = \lambda w \circ A,$$

which show that $((\beta \circ A)M, w \circ A)$ is an eigenvector of R_t associated with λ .

We now prove the following

Theorem 6.15. Let B be a ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at zero, t > 0, and λ be an eigenvalue of R_t . Let F be the subset of \mathbb{N} of indexes j such that $\lambda_{j,t}[B] = \lambda$. Let $(\beta^{(1)}, w^{(1)}), \ldots, (\beta^{(|F|)}, w^{(|F|)})$ be an orthonormal basis in $\mathcal{V}(B)$ of the eigenspace associated with λ . Then the functions

$$\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |\beta^{(l)}|^2, \quad \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left| \frac{\partial \beta^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \right|^2, \quad \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left| \frac{\partial \beta^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \right|^2, \quad \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |w^{(l)}|^2, \quad \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left| \frac{\partial w^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \right|^2, \tag{6.42}$$

where $\nu(x) = x/|x|$ for all $x \in B \setminus \{0\}$, are radial. In particular, there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that condition (6.41) holds.

Proof. Recall that $O_N(\mathbb{R})$ denote the group of orthogonal linear transformations in \mathbb{R}^N , and let $A \in O_N(\mathbb{R})$ be a transformation with associated matrix M. By Lemma 6.14 it follows that $\{((\beta^{(l)} \circ A)M, w^{(l)} \circ A) : l = 1, \ldots, |F|\}$ is another orthonormal basis of the eigenspace associated with λ . Since both $\{(\beta^{(l)}, w^{(l)}) : l = 1, \ldots, |F|\}$ and $\{((\beta^{(l)} \circ A)M, w^{(l)} \circ A) : l = 1, \ldots, |F|\}$ are orthonormal bases, then there exists $S[A] \in O_{|F|}(\mathbb{R})$ with matrix $(S_{ij}[A])_{i,j=1,\ldots,|F|}$ such that

$$((\beta^{(j)} \circ A)M, w^{(j)} \circ A) = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} S_{jl}[A](\beta^{(l)}, w^{(l)})$$
(6.43)

6.4. Isovolumetric perturbations

By (6.43) we deduce that

r

$$(\beta \circ A)M = S[A]\beta \quad \text{and} \quad w \circ A = S[A]w, \tag{6.44}$$

where β denotes the $l \times N$ -matrix, the rows of which are given by the row vectors $\beta^{(j)}$, and w is the column vector the entries of which are given by $w^{(j)}$.

By the first equality in (6.44) we have $(\beta\beta^t) \circ A = S[A]\beta\beta^t S[A]^t$, hence $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |\beta^{(l)} \circ A|^2 = \operatorname{Tr} [(\beta\beta^t) \circ A] = \operatorname{Tr} [S[A]\beta\beta^t S[A]^t] = \operatorname{Tr} [\beta\beta^t] = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |\beta^{(l)}|^2.$ (6.45)

By the arbitrary choice of A we deduce by (6.45) that $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |\beta^{(l)}|^2$ is a radial function. Similarly, using the second equality in (6.44), one can prove that $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} |w^{(l)}|^2$ is a radial function as well.

We now consider the other functions in (6.42). By differentiating in the radial direction ν the first equality in (6.44), we have that for every $j = 1, \ldots, l$ and $s = 1, \ldots, N$,

$$\sum_{h,k=1}^{N} \frac{\partial \beta_r^{(j)}}{\partial x_h} \circ AM_{hk} M_{rs} \nu_k = \sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \sum_{k=1}^{N} S_{jl} [A] \frac{\partial \beta_s^{(l)}}{\partial x_k} \nu_k.$$
(6.46)

Taking into account that $M\nu = \nu \circ A$ we deduce by (6.46) that

$$\left(\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\nu}\circ A\right)M = S[A]\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\nu}.$$
(6.47)

By proceeding as in (6.45) we get that $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left| \frac{\partial \beta^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \right|^2$ is a radial function.

By multiplying both sides of (6.47) by ν we also get

$$\left(\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\nu}\cdot\nu\right)\circ A = S[A]\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\nu}\cdot\nu,$$

which implies that $\sum_{l=1}^{|F|} \left| \frac{\partial \beta^{(l)}}{\partial \nu} \cdot \nu \right|^2$ is a radial function. Similarly, one can prove that the last function in (6.42) is radial.

Combining all the results in this section we get the following

Theorem 6.16. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N of class C^1 , t > 0. Let $\tilde{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\Omega}$ be such that $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ is a ball. Let $\tilde{\lambda}$ be an eigenvalue of R_t in $\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)$ and let F be the set of indexes $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_{j,t}[\tilde{\phi}(\Omega)] = \tilde{\lambda}$. Then for all $s = 1, \ldots, |F|$ the elementary symmetric function $\Lambda_{F,s}$ has a critical point at $\tilde{\phi}$ with volume constraint.

Bibliography

- M. Abramowitz, I.A. Stegun, Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, National Bureau of Standards Applied Mathematics Series, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1964.
- [2] W. Arendt, D. Daners, Varying domains: stability of the Dirichlet and the Poisson problem, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 21 (2008), no. 1, 21-39.
- [3] J.M. Arrieta, Neumann eigenvalue problems on exterior perturbations of the domain, J. Differential Equations, 118 (1995), no. 1, 54-103.
- [4] J.M. Arrieta, P.D. Lamberti, Spectral stability results for higher-order operators under perturbations of the domain, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 351 (2013), no. 19-20, 725-730.
- [5] J.M. Arrieta, P.D. Lamberti, Higher order elliptic operators on variable domains. Stability results and boundary oscillations for intermediate problems, preprint (40 p.), 2015.
- [6] J.M. Arrieta, A.N. Carvalho, Spectral convergence and nonlinear dynamics of reaction-diffusion equations under perturbations of the domain, J. Differential Equations, 199 (2004), no. 1, 143-178.
- J.M. Arrieta, G. Barbatis, Stability estimates in H¹₀ for solutions of elliptic equations in varying domains, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 37 (2014), no. 2, 180-186.
- [8] S. Agmon, Lectures on elliptic boundary value problems (Prepared for publication by B. Frank Jones, Jr. with the assistance of George W. Batten, Jr.), Van Nostrand Mathematical Studies, No. 2, D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N.J.-Toronto-London, 1965.

- [9] S. Agmon, A. Douglis, L. Nirenberg, Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. II, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 17 (1964), 35-92.
- [10] E. Almansi, Sull'integrazione dell'equazione differenziale $\Delta^2 \Delta^2 = 0$, Atti di Torino, 31 (1886), 881-888.
- [11] E. Almansi, Sull'integrazione dell'equazione differenziale $\Delta^{2n} = 0$, Annali di matematica, serie III, t. II (1899), 1-59.
- [12] M.S. Ashbaugh, R.D. Benguria, On Rayleigh's conjecture for the clamped plate and its generalization to three dimensions, Duke Math. J., 78 (1995), no. 1, 1-7.
- [13] C. Bandle, Isoperimetric inequalities and applications, Monographs and Studies in Mathematics, 7, Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program), Boston, MA-London, 1980.
- [14] G. Barbatis, V.I. Burenkov, P.D. Lamberti, Stability estimates for resolvents, eigenvalues, and eigenfunctions of elliptic operators on variable domains, Around the research of Vladimir Maz'ya. II, 23-60, Int. Math. Ser. (N. Y.), 12, Springer, New York, 2010.
- [15] G. Barbatis, P.D. Lamberti, Spectral stability estimates for elliptic operators subject to domain transformations with non-uniformly bounded gradients, Mathematika, 58 (2012), no. 2, 324-348.
- [16] G. Barbatis, P.D. Lamberti, Shape sensitivity analysis of the Hardy constant, Nonlinear Anal., 103 (2014), 98-112.
- [17] K.J. Bathe, Finite Element Procedures in Engineering Analysis, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1982.
- [18] O.V. Besov, V.P. Il'in, S.M. Nikol'skii, Integral Representation of Functions and Embedding Theorems, vol. I (Translated from the Russian), Scripta Series in Mathematics, Halsted Press, New York-Toronto, Ont.-London, 1978.
- [19] M.F. Betta, F. Brock, A. Mercaldo, M.R. Posteraro, A weighted isoperimetric inequality and applications to symmetrization, J. Inequal. Appl., 4 (1999), no. 3, 215-240.
- [20] F. Brezzi, M. Fortin, Numerical approximation of Mindlin-Reissner plates, Math. Comp., 47 (1986), no. 175, 151-158.

- [21] F. Brezzi, M. Fortin, Mixed and hybrid finite element methods, Springer Series in Computational Mathematics, 15, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [22] F. Brock, An isoperimetric inequality for eigenvalues of the Stekloff problem, ZAMM Z. Angew. Math. Mech., 81 (2001), no. 1, 69-71.
- [23] D. Bucur, G. Buttazzo, Variational methods in shape optimization problems, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 65, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2005.
- [24] D. Bucur, A. Ferrero, F. Gazzola, On the first eigenvalue of a fourth order Steklov problem, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 35 (2009), no. 1, 103-131.
- [25] D. Bucur, F. Gazzola, The first biharmonic Steklov eigenvalue: positivity preserving and shape optimization, Milan J. Math., 79 (2011), no. 1, 247-258.
- [26] D. Buoso, Shape differentiability of the eigenvalues of elliptic systems, submitted.
- [27] D. Buoso, P.D. Lamberti, Eigenvalues of polyharmonic operators on variable domains, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var., 19 (2013), no. 4, 1225-1235.
- [28] D. Buoso, P.D. Lamberti, Shape deformation for vibrating hinged plates, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 37 (2014), no. 2, 237-244.
- [29] D. Buoso, P.D. Lamberti, Shape sensitivity analysis of the eigenvalues of the Reissner-Mindlin system, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 47 (2015), no. 1, 407-426.
- [30] D. Buoso, P.D. Lamberti, On a classical spectral optimization problem in linear elasticity, to appear on the proceedings of the conference New Trends in Shape Optimization, Erlangen 2013.
- [31] D. Buoso, L. Provenzano, A few shape optimization results for a biharmonic Steklov problem, submitted.
- [32] D. Buoso, L. Provenzano, On the eigenvalues of a Biharmonic Steklov problem, submitted.
- [33] V.I. Burenkov, Sobolev spaces on domains, Teubner Texts in Mathematics, 137, B.G. Teubner, Stuttgart, 1998.

- [34] V.I. Burenkov, E.B. Davies, Spectral stability of the Neumann Laplacian, J. Differential Equations, 186 (2002), no. 2, 485-508.
- [35] V.I. Burenkov, E. Feleqi, Spectral stability estimates for the eigenfunctions of second order elliptic operators, Math. Nachr., 285 (2012), No. 11-12, 1357-1369.
- [36] V.I. Burenkov, E. Feleqi, Extension of the notion of a gap to differential operators defined on different open sets, Math. Nachr., 286 (2013), No. 5-6, 518-535.
- [37] V.I. Burenkov, P.D. Lamberti, Spectral stability of general non-negative selfadjoint operators with applications to Neumann-type operators, J. Differential Equations, 233 (2007), no. 2, 345-379.
- [38] V.I. Burenkov, P.D. Lamberti, Spectral stability of higher order uniformly elliptic operators, Sobolev spaces in mathematics II, 69-102, Int. Math. Ser. (N.Y.), 9, Springer, New York, 2009.
- [39] V.I. Burenkov, P.D. Lamberti, Sharp spectral stability estimates via the Lebesgue measure of domains for higher order elliptic operators, Rev. Mat. Complut., 25 (2012), no. 2, 435-457.
- [40] V.I. Burenkov, P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, Spectral stability of nonnegative selfadjoint operators (Russian), Sovrem. Mat. Fundam. Napravl., 15 (2006), 76-111.
- [41] V.I. Burenkov, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, Spectral stability of the Robin Laplacian, Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova, 260 (2008), Teor. Funkts. i Nelinein. Uravn. v Chastn. Proizvodn., 75-96.
- [42] L.M. Chasman, An isoperimetric inequality for fundamental tones of free plates, Comm. Math. Phys., 303 (2011), no. 2, 421-449.
- [43] D. Daners, Domain perturbation for linear and semi-linear boundary value problems, Handbook of differential equations: stationary partial differential equations, Vol. VI, 1-81, Handb. Differ. Equ., Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2008.
- [44] E.B. Davies, Spectral theory and differential operators, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 42, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.

- [45] E.B. Davies, Sharp boundary estimates for elliptic operators, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 129 (2000), no. 1, 165-178.
- [46] M.C. Delfour, J.P. Zolésio, Shapes and geometries. Analysis, differential calculus, and optimization. Advances in Design and Control, 4. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2001.
- [47] R.G. Durán, L. Hervella-Nieto, E. Liberman, R. Rodríguez, J. Solomin, Approximation of the vibration modes of a plate by Reissner-Mindlin equations, Math. Comp., 68 (1999), no. 228, 1447-1463.
- [48] G. Faber, Beweis, dass unter allen homogenen Membranen von gleicher Fläche und gleicher Spannung die kreisförmige den tiefsten Grundton gibt, Sitz. Ber. Bayer. Akad. Wiss. (1923), 169-172.
- [49] L.E. Fraenkel, Formulae for high derivatives of composite functions, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 83 (1978), 159-165.
- [50] E. Gagliardo, Ulteriori proprietà di alcune classi di funzioni in più variabili, Ricerche Mat., 8 (1959), 24-51.
- [51] F. Gazzola, H-C. Grunau, G. Sweers, Polyharmonic boundary value problems. Positivity preserving and nonlinear higher order elliptic equations in bounded domains, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010.
- [52] D. Gómez, M. Lobo, E. Pérez, On the vibrations of a plate with a concentrated mass and very small thickness, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 26 (2003), no. 1, 27-65.
- [53] P. Grinfeld, Hadamard's formula inside and out, J. Optim. Theory Appl., 146 (2010), no. 3, 654-690.
- [54] J.K. Hale, Eigenvalues and perturbed domains. Ten mathematical essays on approximation in analysis and topology, Elsevier B.V., Amsterdam, 2005.
- [55] A. Henrot, Extremum problems for eigenvalues of elliptic operators, Frontiers in Mathematics, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.
- [56] D. Henry, Perturbation of the boundary in boundary-value problems of partial differential equations (With editorial assistance from Jack Hale and Antônio Luiz Pereira), London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, 318, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.

- [57] G.N. Hile, Z.Y. Xu, Inequalities for sums of reciprocals of eigenvalues, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 180 (1993), no. 2, 412-430.
- [58] B. Kawohl, G. Sweers, Remarks on eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of a special elliptic system, Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 38 (1987), 730-740.
- [59] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 132, Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., New York, 1966.
- [60] E. Krahn, Über eine von Rayleigh formulierte Minimaleigenschaft des Kreises, Math. Ann., 94 (1924), 97-100.
- [61] V.D. Kupradze, T.G. Gegelia, M.O. Basheleĭshvili, T.V. Burchuladze, Three-dimensional problems of the mathematical theory of elasticity and thermoelasticity, volume 25 of North-Holland Series in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, russian edition, 1979. Edited by V.D. Kupradze.
- [62] P.D. Lamberti, Steklov-type eigenvalues associated with best Sobolev trace constants: domain perturbation and overdetermined systems, Complex Var. Elliptic Equ., 59 (2014), no. 3, 309-323.
- [63] P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, An analyticity result for the dependence of multiple eigenvalues and eigenspaces of the Laplace operator upon perturbation of the domain, Glasg. Math. J., 44 (2002), no. 1, 29-43.
- [64] P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, A real analyticity result for symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of a domain dependent Dirichlet problem for the Laplace operator, J. Nonlinear Convex Anal., 5 (2004), no. 1, 19-42.
- [65] P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, A global Lipschitz continuity result for a domain dependent Dirichlet eigenvalue problem for the Laplace operator, Z. Anal. Anwendungen, 24 (2005), no. 2, 277-304.
- [66] P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, A global Lipschitz continuity result for a domain-dependent Neumann eigenvalue problem for the Laplace operator, J. Differential Equations, 216 (2005), no. 1, 109-133.
- [67] P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, Critical points of the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator and overdetermined problems, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 58 (2006), no. 1, 231-245.
- [68] P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, A real analyticity result for symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of a domain-dependent Neumann problem for the Laplace operator, Mediterr. J. Math., 4 (2007), no. 4, 435-449.
- [69] P.D. Lamberti, L. Provenzano, Viewing the Steklov eigenvalues of the Laplace operator as critical Neumann eigenvalues, Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Proceedings of the 9th ISAAC Congress, Kraków 2013 (to appear), Birkhäuser, Basel (2015).
- [70] N.S. Nadirashvili, Rayleigh's conjecture on the principal frequency of the clamped plate, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 129 (1995), no. 1, 1-10.
- [71] M. Nicolesco, Les fonctions polyharmoniques, Actualités scientifiques et industrielles, 331, Herman & C. éditeurs, Paris, 1936.
- [72] L. Nirenberg, On elliptic partial differential equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3), 13 (1959), 115-162.
- [73] L. Provenzano, Ph.D. Thesis, Università degli Studi di Padova, in preparation.
- [74] J.W.S. Rayleigh, The theory of sound, Macmillan and Co., London, 1877.
- [75] F. Rellich, Perturbation theory of eigenvalue problems, Gordon and Breach Science Publ., New York, 1969.
- [76] J. Sokołowski, J.-P. Zolésio, Introduction to shape optimization. Shape sensitivity analysis, Springer Series in Computational Mathematics, 16, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [77] W. Stekloff, Sur les problémes fondamentaux de la physique mathèmatique (suite et fin), Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3), 19 (1902), 455-490.
- [78] G. Szegö, On membranes and plates, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 36 (1950), 210-216.
- [79] H.F. Weinberger, An isoperimetric inequality for the N-dimensional free membrane problem, J. Rat. Mech. Anal., 5 (1956), 633-636.

Bibliography

128

Ringraziamenti

Desidero esprimere la mia più profonda gratitudine nei confronti del mio relatore, il prof. Pier Domenico Lamberti, che si è preso cura della mia formazione matematica con grande dedizione sin da quando, cinque anni fa, mi ha accettato come suo tesista magistrale. È sempre stato disponibile ogniqualvolta avessi delle domande da porgli, chiarendo prontamente ogni mio dubbio e dimostrandosi così un ottimo mentore. I suoi consigli mi hanno enormemente aiutato in questi anni, e di certo mi aiuteranno pure in futuro.

Desidero inoltre ringraziare il mio caro amico Luigi, che ho conosciuto durante la Laurea Triennale e con il quale ho avuto l'immensa gioia di fare Matematica insieme. Molti risultati presenti in questa tesi sono stati ottenuti assieme a lui, e spero vivamente che ce ne saranno molti altri negli anni a venire.

Un ringraziamento particolare va alla mia famiglia: Renzo, Francesca, Elena, Bruno, Maurizia, Alessandro, per aver sempre appoggiato le mie decisioni ed avermi aiutato a raggiungere gli obiettivi che mi ero preposto, e alla mia fidanzata Alessandra, che mi è sempre stata accanto, specialmente nei periodi difficili.

Un sentito grazie va anche ai miei colleghi e amici di dottorato Daria, Laura, Luisa, Marta, Valentina, Carlo, Davide, Federico, Francesco, Gabriele e Michele, e ai miei compagni della Laurea Gianluigi, Giovanni e Michele, coi quali ho passato dei momenti indimenticabili in questi anni.

Un grazie sincero va al prof. Mark S. Ashbaugh, che è stato il mio supervisore durante il mio periodo di visita in Missouri, e che mi ha aiutato molte volte con problemi sia matematici che burocratici, sempre nella maniera più gentile possibile.

Un ringraziamento speciale va inoltre al prof. Massimo Lanza de Cristoforis, al dott. Matteo Dalla Riva e al dott. Paolo Musolino, il cui aiuto mi è arrivato più e più volte e in modi diversi, e l'ho sempre apprezzato infinitamente.

Ultimo, ma non da ultimo, voglio ringraziare il mio caro amico Alberto,

che conosco ormai da quattordic'anni, e che è stato mio coinquilino sin dalla prima volta che sono arrivato a Padova, nove anni fa, dimostrandosi sempre un vero amico.

130